
 

1 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
A MEETING of the MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held remotely on 
Wednesday, 28 April 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
ALL MEMBERS of the COUNCIL are summoned to attend for the purposes of 
transacting the business specified in the Agenda which is set out below:   
 
[The next ordinary meeting is scheduled to be held in Tiverton on 
Wednesday 30th June] 
 
 
STEPHEN WALFORD 
Chief Executive 
 
20 April 2021 
 
Important - this meeting will be conducted and recorded by Zoom only.  
Please do not attend Phoenix House.  The attached Protocol for Remote 
Meetings explains how this will work.  
 
To join this meeting, please click the following link:  
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/94844423331?pwd=Nk5yeVc0UG9NVzZtMktlNnVWdXFGQT09 
 
Meeting ID: 948 4442 3331 
Passcode: 445402 
One tap mobile 
08000315717,,94844423331#,,,,*445402# United Kingdom Toll-free 
08002605801,,94844423331#,,,,*445402# United Kingdom Toll-free 
 
Dial by your location 
        0 800 031 5717 United Kingdom Toll-free 
        0 800 260 5801 United Kingdom Toll-free 
        0 800 358 2817 United Kingdom Toll-free Meeting ID: 948 4442 3331 
Passcode: 445402 
Find your local number: https://zoom.us/u/aR3woaTCe 
 
Join by Skype for Business 
https://zoom.us/skype/94844423331 

 
AGENDA 

 
1   Councillor Glanmor Hughes   

 
In memory of Councillor Glanmor Hughes, a minutes silence will take 
place. 
 

2   Apologies   
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://zoom.us/j/94844423331?pwd=Nk5yeVc0UG9NVzZtMktlNnVWdXFGQT09
https://zoom.us/u/aR3woaTCe
https://zoom.us/skype/94844423331


 

2 

3   Protocol for Remote Meetings  (Pages 7 - 14) 
 
To note the protocol for remote meetings. 
 

4   Public Question Time   
 
To receive any questions relating to items on the agenda from members 
of the public and replies thereto. 
 

5   Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct   
 
Councillors are reminded of the requirement to declare any interest, 
including the type of interest, and the reason for that interest, either at 
this stage of the meeting or as soon as they become aware of that 
interest. 
 

6   Minutes  (Pages 15 - 38) 
 
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the meeting held on 24 February 2021. 
 
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the extraordinary meeting held on 17 March 2021. 
 
The Council is reminded that only those Members present at the 
previous meeting should vote and, in doing so, should be influenced 
only by seeking to ensure that the minutes are an accurate record. 
 

7   Chairman's Announcements   
 
To receive any announcements which the Chairman of the Council may 
wish to make. 
 

8   Petitions   
 
To receive any petitions from members of the public. 
 

9   Notices of Motions   
 
 
(1) Motion 567 – (Councillors: J Wright and Miss E Wainwright, 

R Dolley and Mrs C P Daw – 18 December 2020) 
 
The following motion had been referred to the Environment Policy 
Development Group for consideration and report: 
 
This Council:  

 Welcomes and appreciates the work that has gone 
in to developing our climate action plan so far, especially in 
the context of the Covid pandemic, which stretched capacity and 
resources.   



 

3 

 Welcomes the recruitment of a Climate and Sustainability Officer, 
to develop our work.   

 Requests that once in place, the new Climate and Sustainability 
Specialist focuses on further development to our climate action 
plan, so that it shows the priority actions for the short, mid and 
longer term, covering the entire period to 2030 and beyond. Plans 
should outline the strategic actions we need to take to be on track 
to meet this target.   

 Requests that officers explore opportunities to develop the Net 
Zero Advisory Group, so that it has more authority and 
responsibility for our climate strategy, and so that the public can 
access it (e.g. via agendas published online, and being able to 
attend meetings).   

 Requests that budget be created and ring-fenced for developing 
our climate work -- through a mixture of funding bids; income 
generation; prioritisation; partnerships; and 'spend to save' 
schemes.  

The Environment Policy Development Group at its meeting on 9 March 
2021 considered the Motion and following discussion RECOMMENDED 
to Council that the Motion should be supported with the following 
amendment to the final bullet point to state: 
 

 Requests that future budgets be created and ring-fenced for 
developing our climate work - through a mixture of funding bids; 
income generation; prioritisation; partnerships; and 'spend to 
save' schemes. 

 
(2) MOTION 571 (COUNCILLOR A WILCE – 5 MARCH 2021) 
 
That the Meeting Protocol is updated to specifically state that: 
  
1)    The primary objective of the Protocol shall be, so far as is 
practicable 
 
 'to ensure that the rights of members (and members of the public) shall 
not be diminished simply because the meeting is being held online and 
not face-to-face'. 
 
and 
  
2)    The Host of any Meeting is the Chairman and the Officer's role as 
'host' is solely administrative. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 14.4, the Chairman of the Council 
has decided to allow this motion (if moved and seconded) to be dealt 
with at this meeting. 
 
 
 



 

4 

10   Reports  (Pages 39 - 148) 
 
To receive and consider the reports, minutes and recommendations of 
the recent meetings as follows: 
 
(1) Cabinet 
 
-          4 March 2021 
-  8 April 2021 
 
2) Scrutiny Committee 
 
-      1 March 2021 
-   15 March 2021 
-      19 April 2021 – to follow 
 
(3) Audit Committee 
 
-          23 March 2021 
   
(4) Environment Policy Development Group 
 
-     9 March 2021 
-     13 April 2021 
 
(5) Homes Policy Development Group 
 
- 16 March 2021 
 
(6)    Economy Policy Development Group 
 
-   11 March 2021 

 
(7) Community Policy Development Group 
 
- 23 March 2021 
 
(8) Planning Committee 
 
-     10 March 2021 
-     31 March 2021 
-     14 April 2021 
 
 

11   Questions in accordance with Procedure Rule 13   
 
To deal with any questions raised pursuant to Procedure Rule 13 not 
already dealt with during the relevant Committee reports. 
 

12   Special Urgency Decisions   
 
Decisions taken under Rule 16 (of the Constitution) Special Urgency – 



 

5 

since the previous meeting. 
 
There have been no such decisions in this period. 
 

13   Annual Reports of Audit Committee, Scrutiny Committee and the 
Policy Development Groups  (Pages 149 - 172) 
 
To receive the annual reports from the Chairmen of the Audit 
Committee, Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Development Groups. 
 

14   Questions to Cabinet Members   
 
Cabinet Members will answer questions from Members on their 
Portfolios. 
 

15   Members Business   
 
To receive any statements made and notice of future questions by 
Members. 
 
Note:  the time allowed for this item is limited to 15 minutes. 
 
 
 

 
Covid-19 and meetings 
 
The Council will be holding some meetings in the next few weeks, but these will 
not be in person at Phoenix House until the Covid-19 crisis eases.  Instead, the 
meetings will be held remotely via Zoom and you will be able to join these 
meetings via the internet.   Please see the instructions on each agenda and 
read the Protocol on Remote Meetings before you join. 
 
If you want to ask a question or speak, email your full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the 
meeting. This will ensure that your name is on the list to speak and will help us 
ensure that you are not missed – as you can imagine, it is easier to see and 
manage public speaking when everyone is physically present in the same 
room.  Notification in this way will ensure the meeting runs as smoothly as 
possible.   
 
 If you require any further information, or 
 
If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large 
print) please contact Sally Gabriel on: 
 
E-Mail: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

Mid Devon District Council - Remote Meetings Protocol   
 
1.  Introduction 
 
The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations permit remote attendance in Local Authority meetings.  
 
Remote attendance is permitted as long as certain conditions are satisfied. 
These include that the Member is able to hear and be heard by the other 
Members in attendance. Also, being able to hear and be heard by any members 
of the public entitled to attend the meeting (in line with the public participation 
scheme). A visual solution is preferred, but audio is sufficient. 
 
This also relates to members of the public attending the meeting also being 
heard. 
The regulations are clear that a meeting is not limited to those present in the 
same place, but includes electronic, digital or virtual locations (internet locations, 
web addresses or conference call telephone numbers). 
 
2.  Zoom 
 
Zoom is the system the Council will be using for the time-being to host remote / 
virtual meetings. It has functionality for audio, video, and screen sharing and you 
do not need to be a member of the Council or have a Zoom account to join a 
Zoom meeting.  
 
3.  Access to documents 
 
Member Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on 
the Council’s website in line with usual practice. Paper copies of agendas will 
only be made available to those who have previously requested this and also the 
Chair of a virtual meeting.  
 
If any other Member wishes to have a paper copy, they must notify the Member 
Services before the agenda is published, so they can arrange to post directly – it 
may take longer to organise printing, so as much notice as possible is 
appreciated. 
Printed copies will not be available for inspection at the Council’s offices and this 
requirement was removed by the Regulations. 
 
4.  Setting up the Meeting 
 
This will be done by Member Services. They will send a meeting request via 
Outlook which will appear in Members’ Outlook calendar.  Members will receive a 
URL link to click on to join the meeting.   
 
5.  Public Access 
 
Members of the public will be able to use a weblink and standard internet 
browser.  This will be displayed on the front of the agenda.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

 
 
6.  Joining the Meeting  
 
Councillors must join the meeting early (i.e. at least five minutes before the 
scheduled start time) in order to avoid disrupting or delaying the meeting.  
Councillors should remember that they may be visible and heard by others, 
including the public, during this time.   
 
7.  Starting the Meeting 
 
At the start of the meeting, the Member Services Officer will check all required 
attendees are present (viewing the participant list) and that there is a quorum. If 
there is no quorum, the meeting will be adjourned. This applies if, during the 
meeting, it becomes inquorate for whatever reason.  
 
The Chair will remind all Members, Officers and the Public that all microphones 
will be automatically muted, unless and until they are speaking. This prevents 
background noise, coughing etc. which is intrusive and disruptive during the 
meeting. The Hosting Officer will enforce this and will be able to turn off 
participant mics when they are not in use. Members would then need to turn their 
microphones back on when they wish to speak.  
 
8.  Public Participation  
 
Participation by members of the public will continue in line with the Council’s 
current arrangements as far as is practicable.  However, to ensure that the 
meeting runs smoothly and that no member of the public is missed, all those who 
wish to speak must register by 4pm on the day before the meeting.  They 
should email their full name to Committee@middevon.gov.uk. If they wish to 
circulate their question in advance, that would be helpful. 
 
At public question time, the Chair will invite the public by name to speak at the 
appropriate time. At that point, all public microphones will be enabled.  This 
means that, to avoid private conversations being overheard, no member of the 
public should speak until it is their turn and they should then refrain from 
speaking until the end of public question time, when all microphones will be 
muted again. In the normal way, the public should state their full name, the 
agenda item they wish to speak to before they proceed with their question.  
 
Unless they have registered, a member of the public will not be called to speak. 
 
If a member of the public wishes to ask a question but cannot attend the meeting 
for whatever reason, there is nothing to prevent them from emailing members of 
the Committee with their question, views or concern in advance.  However, if 
they do so, it would be helpful if a copy could be sent to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk as well. 
 
9. Declaration of Interests 
 

Page 8

mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk


V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

Councillors should declare their interests in the usual way.  A councillor with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest is required to the leave the room.  For remote 
meetings, this means that they will be moved to a break-out room for the duration 
of this item and will only be invited back into the meeting when discussion on the 
relevant item has finished.  
 
10.  The Meeting and Debate 
 
The Council will not be using the Chat function.   
 
The Chair will call each member of the Committee to speak - the Chair can 
choose to do this either by calling (i) each member in turn and continuing in this 
way until no member has anything more to add, or (ii) only those members who 
indicate a wish to speak using the ‘raise hand’ function within Zoom. This choice 
will be left entirely to the Chair’s discretion depending on how they wish to 
manage the meeting and how comfortable they are using the one or the other 
approach.   
 
Members are discouraged from physically raising their hand in the video to 
indicate a wish to speak – it can be distracting and easily missed/misinterpreted.  
No decision or outcome will be invalidated by a failure of the Chair to call a 
member to speak – the remote management of meetings is intensive and it is 
reasonable to expect that some requests will be inadvertently missed from time 
to time.    
 
When referring to reports or making specific comments, Councillors should refer 
to the report and page number, so that all Members of the Committee have a 
clear understanding of what is being discussed at all times. 
 
11.  Voting  
 
On a recommendation or motion being put to the vote, the Chair will go round the 
virtual room and ask each member entitled to vote to say whether they are for or 
against or whether they abstain.  The Member Services Officer will announce the 
numerical result of the vote.   
 
12.  Meeting Etiquette Reminder  
 

 Mute your microphone – you will still be able to hear what is being said. 

 Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 

 Speak clearly and please state your name each time you speak  

 If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 
 
13.  Part 2 Reports and Debate 
 
There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when 
confidential, or “exempt” issues – as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 – are under consideration. It is important to ensure that 
there are no members of the public at remote locations able to hear or see the 
proceedings during such meetings. 

Page 9



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

 
Any Councillor in remote attendance must ensure that there is no other person 
present – a failure to do so could be in breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
If there are members of the public and press listening to the open part of the 
meeting, then the Member Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, remove 
them to a break-out room for the duration of that item.  They can then be invited 
back in when the business returns to Part 1.  
 
Please turn off smart speakers such as Amazon Echo (Alexa), Google Home or 
smart music devices. These could inadvertently record phone or video 
conversations, which would not be appropriate during the consideration of 
confidential items.  
 
14.  Interpretation of standing orders 
 
Where the Chair is required to interpret the Council’s Constitution and procedural 
rules in light of the requirements of remote participation, they may take advice 
from the Member Services Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to making a ruling. 
However, the Chair’s decision shall be final.  
 
15.  Disorderly Conduct by Members   
 
If a Member behaves in the manner as outlined in the Constitution (persistently 
ignoring or disobeying the ruling of the Chair or behaving irregularly, improperly 
or offensively or deliberately obstructs the business of the meeting), any other 
Member may move 'That the member named be not further heard' which, if 
seconded, must be put to the vote without discussion.  
 
If the same behaviour persists and a Motion is approved 'that the member 
named do leave the meeting', then they will be removed as a participant by the 
Member Services Officer. 
 
16.  Disturbance from Members of the Public   
 
If any member of the public interrupts a meeting the Chair will warn them 
accordingly. If that person continues to interrupt or disrupt proceedings the Chair 
will ask the Member Services Officer to remove them as a participant from the 
meeting. 
 
17.  After the meeting 
 
Please ensure you leave the meeting promptly by clicking on the red phone 
button to hang up.  
 
18.  Technical issues – meeting management 
 
If the Chair, the Hosting Officer or the Member Services Officer identifies a 
problem with the systems from the Council’s side, the Chair should either declare 
a recess while the fault is addressed or, if the fault is minor (e.g. unable to bring 
up a presentation), it may be appropriate to move onto the next item of business 

Page 10



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

in order to progress through the agenda. If it is not possible to address the fault 
and the meeting becomes inquorate through this fault, the meeting will be 
adjourned until such time as it can be reconvened.  
 
 
If the meeting was due to determine an urgent matter or one which is time-limited 
and it has not been possible to continue because of technical difficulties, the 
Chief Executive, Leader and relevant Cabinet Member, in consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer, shall explore such other means of taking the decision as may 
be permitted by the Council’s constitution.  
 
For members of the public and press who experience problems during the 
course of a meeting e.g. through internet connectivity or otherwise, the meeting 
will not be suspended or adjourned.    
 
19. Technical issues – Individual Responsibility (Members and Officers) 
 
Many members and officers live in places where broadband speeds are poor, but 
technical issues can arise at any time for a number of reasons. The following 
guidelines, if followed, should help reduce disruption. Separate guidance will be 
issued on how to manage connectivity – this paragraph focusses on the 
procedural steps.   Joining early will help identify problems – see paragraph 6. 
 

 Join public Zoom meetings by telephone if there is a problem with the 
internet.  Before all meetings, note down or take a photograph of the front 
page of the agenda which has the necessary telephone numbers.  Annex 
1 to this protocol contains a brief step-by-step guide to what to expect 

 

 Consider an alternative location from which to join the meeting, but 
staying safe and keeping confidential information secure.  For officers, this 
may mean considering whether to come into the office, subject to this 
being safe and practicable (childcare etc.) 
 

 If hosting a meeting via Zoom (briefings etc.), consider creating an 
additional host when setting up the meeting.  The additional host can step 
in if the main host has problems – remember that without a host, the 
meeting cannot close and any information on the screens will remain on 
view 
 

 Have to hand the telephone number of another member or officer 
expected in the meeting – and contact them if necessary to explain the 
problem in connecting  
 

 Officers should have an ‘understudy’ or deputy briefed and on standby to 
attend and present as needed (and their telephone numbers to hand) 
 

 For informal meetings and as a last resort, members and officers may be 
able to call another member or officer in the meeting who can put the 
‘phone on loudspeaker for all to hear – not ideal, but it ensures some 
degree of participation and continuity 

Page 11



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

 

 Member Services will hold a list of contact details for all senior officers 
  

Page 12



V3 6
th
 August 2020 

 

Annex 1 
 

Phone only access to zoom meetings  
 
(Before you start make sure you know the Meeting ID and the Meeting 
Password) – Both of these are available on the agenda for the meeting 
 
Call the toll free number either on the meeting agenda or on the Outlook 
appointment (this will start with 0800 --- ----) 
 
(Ensure your phone is on ‘speaker’ if you can) 
 
A message will sound saying “Welcome to Zoom, enter your meeting ID followed 
by the hash button” 
 

 Enter Meeting ID followed by # 

 
Wait for next message which will say “If you are a participant, please press hash 
to continue” 
 

 Press # 

Wait for next message which will say “Enter Meeting Password followed by hash” 
 

 Enter 6 digit Meeting Password followed by # 

 
Wait for the following two messages: 
 
“You are currently being held in a waiting room, the Host will release you from 
‘hold’ in a minute” 
 
Wait…… 
 
“You have now entered the meeting” 
 
Important notes for participating in meetings 
 
Press *6 to toggle between ‘mute’ and ‘unmute’ (you should always ensure you 
are muted until you are called upon to speak) 
 
If you wish to speak you can ‘raise your hand’ by pressing *9. Wait for the 
Chairman to call you to speak. The Host will lower your hand after you have 
spoken. Make sure you mute yourself afterwards. 

  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Council – 24 February 2021 61 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the COUNCIL held on 24 February 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors  

R F Radford (Vice Chairman in the Chair), 
G Barnell, E J Berry, W Burke, J Cairney, 
R J Chesterton, S J Clist, Mrs C Collis, 
Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, 
Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, R J Dolley, 
J M Downes, C J Eginton, R Evans, 
Mrs S Griggs, B Holdman, T G Hughes, 
D J Knowles, F W Letch, B A Moore, 
Miss J Norton, D F Pugsley,  C R Slade, 
Mrs M E Squires, R L Stanley, L D Taylor, 
Ms E J Wainwright, B G J Warren, A White, 
A Wilce, Mrs N Woollatt and J Wright 
 

Apologies  
Councillors Mrs E M Andrews, L J Cruwys, S J Penny 

and A Wyer 
 

 
 

131 Apologies (00-09-36)  
 
Apologies were received from:  Councillors: Mrs E M Andrews, L J Cruwys, S J 
Penny and A Wyer. 
 

132 Protocol for Remote Meetings (00-09-36)  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

133 Public Question Time (00-09-55)  
 
Honorary Alderman David Nation raised questions with regard to Items 11 (Reports) 
and 15 (Governance Working Group update) on the agenda stating that: You have 
before you this evening, minutes of the Scrutiny Committee, where they asked the 
Chairman of the Governance Working Group for an update on their work. I hope that 
you have seen the written replies since provided by Cllr Moore for which I thank him 
to the questions that I put at that meeting. To say that I am unimpressed by the 
replies would be an understatement but there is clearly no point in repeating those 
questions. 

 
I am surprised that the Scrutiny Committee did not formally object that all 6 meetings 
of the Working Group had been held in secret with even some councillors being 
barred from them. I see that tonight you have another brief update from the Working 
Group Chair and I will go straight to the point with my question: 
 
Will the Chair of the Governance Working Group confirm whether the option 
preferred by the Working Group to date would enable the full council to overturn a 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

Council – 24 February 2021 62 

decision of the Cabinet if they did not agree with it? I know there are other concerns 
with people about your present system of governance but this is my primary concern.  
 
If the Working Group and Council cannot devise a way of addressing it I know there 
will be thousands of residents in Mid Devon who will not be satisfied with the 
outcome. 
 
Councillor Moore advised he would take the question at the relevant point in the 
agenda. 
 
Mr Gerald Conyngham referring to Motion 564 stated that he lived in Crediton and 
last year I asked a question about welcoming more Syrian refugees to Mid Devon 
and the council responded favourably and agreed to take more when the programme 
restarted, showing their commitment to inclusivity as far as refugees are concerned.  
 
Today I am here in relation to Motion 564 about equality, diversity and inclusivity 
across all sections of the community in Mid Devon (especially those who are less 
involved). I welcome this motion as do many of my fellow residents in Crediton.  By 
passing it, the Council will be making a public statement to show its commitment to 
engaging with these values. A lot of good work is already going on. This needs to be 
built on and developed since there are many areas where these values are not being 
fully implemented.   This is not just about issues of structure and governance but 
about underlying attitudes:- the way we respect and listen to each other,  and being  
prepared to learn from each other, even those of a different political persuasion.  
 
In the work I have been involved in as part of Crediton Neighbourhood Plan Steering 
Group, I have learned that people want a different form of politics in which,  whatever 
their background, their views are given due consideration and respect. This is 
especially important as we seek to involve people in the run up to 2030 when the 
Council is committed to being carbon neutral. 
 
Will the council pass this motion to show their commitment to these principles and to 
taking the appropriate action?   
 
The Chairman indicated that a written response would be provided. 
 

134 Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct (00-15-00)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 
Councillor R L Stanley declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the following 
items as a remunerated Director of 3 Rivers Developments Limited: 
 

 Item (9) – Cabinet Reports – 4 February 2021 – Minute 311 – Budget; Minute 
312 (Capital Programme); 18 February 2021 – Minute 330 (Treasury 
Management Strategy) and Minute 331 (Capital Strategy) 
 

He also stated that he would leave the meeting during those items and not take part 
in any debate or vote thereon. 
 
  
 

Page 16



 

Council – 24 February 2021 63 

135 Minutes (00-15-54)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2010 were agreed as a correct record. 
 

136 Chairman's Announcements (00-16-38)  
 
The Vice Chairman indicated that he would be chairing the meeting in the absence of 
the Chairman who was unable to be in attendance. 
 

137 Petitions (00-17-22)  
 
There were no petitions presented. 
 

138 Notices of Motions (00-17-35)  
 
(1) Motion 564 – (Councillors Miss E Wainwright and Miss J Norton) 

 
The following motion (1-3 and 5-7) had been referred to the Standards 
Committee for consideration and report 
 

Council resolves to:  
  

1. Practice equality, fairness and inclusion, and to play its part in creating an 
equal society for all. There is no place for sexism, racism, bigotry, 
discrimination or intolerance of any form in our society.  
  

2. Acknowledge that language is a powerful tool for change and inspiration, as 
well as ignorance, oppression and damaged relationships, and should be used 
thoughtfully and respectfully. Many people who do not have a voice in the 
public domain have to suffer the consequences of inaccurate or insulting 
language.  
  

3. Review and, if needed, update member training, to equip all members with the 
language and tools needed to actively promote diversity and inclusivity.  
   

5. Ask that the Chairs of the Equality Forum and Community PDG identify and 
discuss approaches to reaching hard-to-reach communities in Mid Devon.  
  

6. Show leadership by creating a diversity and inclusion strategy, and seek input 
from residents and local organisations that have expertise, to ensure the 
council is inclusive towards diverse and hard-to-reach communities in its 
recruitment, member representation and service provision. As part of this, 
review and update the MDDC equalities policy.   
  

7. Explore further opportunities to increase inclusivity, diversity and 
representation in Mid Devon District Council, including but not limited to 
amongst women, minority ethnic communities, young people, and carers.  

 

(1)   The Fawcett Society and Local Government Information Unit report, ‘Does Local 
Government Work for Women?’ found that structural and cultural barriers hold back 
women’s participation in local government. The practices and protocols of local 

Page 17



 

Council – 24 February 2021 64 

government create unnecessary barriers to participation particularly for women with 
caring responsibilities. https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-
work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission 

The Standards Committee at its meeting on 3 February 2021 considered the Motion 
and following discussion RECOMMENDED to Council 
 

a) Motion 564 (1-3 and 5-7) be supported; and 
 

b) In addition, that point (3) of the motion should include members and officers 
and the review should include all Council conventions and that in relation to 
point (5) the Equality Forum and the Community Policy Development Group 
should be consulted as a whole and not just the Chairs. 

 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Miss E Wainwright sought 
consent of the Council (which was agreed) to amend her motion to read: 
 
This Council affirms its role in helping to create an equal and inclusive society for all, 
and recognises that sexism, racism, bigotry, discrimination, intolerance and bad 
behaviours in any form play no part in this. This Council also acknowledges that 
language is a powerful tool for change, inclusion and inspiration, as well as a cause 
of ignorance and damaged relationships -- it should be used thoughtfully and 
respectfully, and language and behaviour should be challenged where it is not 
respectful or conducive to good outcomes for the Council and its residents. 
  
In order that the Council can play its part locally in building a more 
understanding and inclusive society, it resolves: 
  
1. To review all our relevant policies and conventions, and identify any additional 
Member and Officer training needs, so as to actively promote diversity, 
engagement and inclusivity. 
  
2. That the Equality Forum and Community Policy Development Group be tasked 
with exploring opportunities to increase inclusivity, engagement and representation at 
Mid Devon District Council, including by identifying hard to reach or 
underrepresented communities, and considering how best to engage with them.  
  
3. To review and update the MDDC equalities policy and create a diversity and 
inclusion strategy, seeking input from residents and local organisations that have 
expertise where necessary, so as to ensure the council is more socially inclusive in 
its recruitment, member representation and service provision. 
  
4.That the Scrutiny committee be tasked to consider and make any 
recommendations to the council regarding the findings of the Fawcett Society/LGiU 
report: ‘Does Local Government Work for Women?’ (see footnote 1). 
  
(1)   The Fawcett Society and Local Government Information Unit report, ‘Does Local 
Government Work for Women?’ found that structural and cultural barriers hold back 
women’s participation in local government. The practices and protocols of local 
government create unnecessary barriers to participation particularly for women with 
caring responsibilities. https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-
work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission 
  

Page 18

https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/does-local-government-work-for-women-final-report-of-the-local-government-commission


 

Council – 24 February 2021 65 

  
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 How the mover and seconder of the motion had reflected on previous 
discussions and taken consideration of the recommendation from the 
Standards Committee 

 How Local Government was an important engagement tool and that language 
was a powerful tool for change, inclusion and inspiration 

 The Scrutiny Committee had already added paragraph 4 of the Motion to its 
work programme 

 Support for the motion 

 Continued training for members and the need for local people to be involved in 
local politics 

 The number of women already on the Council and the wording around how 
language was used 

 Those who had received equality training 

 Whether the motion was specific enough 

 The need to affirm commitment to equality  
 
Following discussion and upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to 
have been CARRIED. 
 
(2) Motion 566 – (Councillors: G Barnell and S J Clist – 17 December 2020) 
 
The following motion had been referred to the Cabinet for consideration and report: 
 
This Council agrees to commission, as a matter of urgency, a plan based on 
evidence of local housing need for the delivery of affordable rented and social rented 
housing across Mid Devon. This plan should make best use of the Government's 
Affordable Housing programme 2021/26 and be presented to Council by June 2021. 
 
The Cabinet at its meeting on 4 February 2021 considered the Motion and following 
discussion RECOMMENDED to Council that Motion 566 not be supported as the 
timeline proposed within the motion was not achievable, there were already strands 
of work taking place with a planned programme already set out. 
 
Councillor G Barnell sought consent of the Council to amend his Motion in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 16.5 by altering the date of a plan to be 
presented to Council. 
 
Upon a vote being taking, the request to amend the Motion was not supported. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The lack of social rented housing in the district 

 Funding being made available for other ventures but not for important issues 
of social housing 

 Funding returned to central Government 

 The fact that there was a plan in place which needed to be evidenced by a 
Housing Needs Strategy 

Page 19



 

Council – 24 February 2021 66 

 The impact of the Right to Buy Scheme and that social rented housing could 
still be lost under that scheme 

 
Following discussion and upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to 
have FAILED. 
 

(3) MOTION 568  - (COUNCILLOR A WILCE – 8 FEBRUARY 2021) 
 
The Council had before it a MOTION submitted for the first time: 
 
That, to prevent further ambiguity by making the wording more concise, this Council 
resolves to amend Rule 14.4 (Automatic reference to Committee) by removing the 
reference to ‘Council’ and replace it with ‘Chairman’ and to insert after ’report’ 
‘unless an alternative proposition is put forward and is accepted’  
 
So as to read:  
 
14.4 Automatic Reference to Committee  
If the subject matter of any Motion, of which notice has been duly given, comes within 
the province of the Cabinet or any Committee or Committees it shall, upon being 
formally moved and seconded, shall stand referred, without the mover or seconder of 
the Motion speaking on the substance of the Motion and without any other 
discussion, to the Cabinet or such Committee or Committees, or to such other 
Committee or Committees as the Chairman may determine, for consideration and 
report, unless an alternative proposition is put forward and is accepted; and that 
the mover (or in his absence, the seconder) of the Motion should be invited to the 
Meeting of the Cabinet, Committee or Committees to amplify the Motion, but without 
any right to vote except as a Member of such Committee. Provided that the 
Chairman may, if he considers it convenient and conducive to the despatch of 
business allow the Motion to be dealt with at the meeting, at which it is brought 
forward.  
 
The MOTION was MOVED by Councillor A Wilce and seconded by Councillor B G J 
Warren 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 14.4, the Chairman of the Council had ruled that 
the matter be discussed at this meeting. 
 
The Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer) highlighted Procedure Rule 25.2 with regard 
to any changes to Council procedure rules. 
 
Councillor A Wilce MOVED, seconded by Councillor B G J Warren that Procedure 
Rule 25.2 be suspended to allow further discussion to take place on the matter 
proposed. 
 
Upon a vote being taken, the suspension of Procedure Rule 25.2 was CARRIED. 
 
Following discussion the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 

(4) MOTION 569  - (COUNCILLOR A WILCE – 8 FEBRUARY 2021) 
 
The Council had before it a MOTION submitted for the first time: 

Page 20



 

Council – 24 February 2021 67 

 
That this Council resolves to ask the Standards Committee to review Rule 14.4 
(Automatic Reference to Committee) and to recommend whether this Council should 
either:  
 
a) completely remove rule 14.4 or 
 
b) amend the rule to re-enable the Member putting a Motion forward, and the 

Member Seconding that Motion, to speak to that Motion (and for any further 
discussion to take place on that Motion that the Chairman may see fit), before 
that Motion shall stand referred to a Committee or  

 
c)  make no changes 
 
The MOTION was MOVED by Councillor A Wilce and seconded by Councillor B G J 
Warren: 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 14.4, the Chairman of the Council had ruled that 
the matter be discussed at this meeting. 
 
Following discussion the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 

(5) MOTION 570  - (COUNCILLOR A WILCE – 8 FEBRUARY 2021) 
 
The Council had before it a MOTION submitted for the first time: 
 

That, to improve local planning consultation processes and to regularise current 
Planning Committee practises, this Council resolves to amend Rule 27.5 as follows:  
 
After (Appendix J to the Constitution), is inserted: in addition, the Chair will also 
permit the following to speak for no more than 3 minutes, without prior notice being 
required: 
1 Adjacent Ward Members  
2 Any Member having previously submitted a comment to that application that 
permission to speak being limited solely to the raising of material planning 
considerations relating to directly their Ward, or else to any relevant planning policy 
or plan appertaining to this Council.  
 
So as to read:  
 
27.5 Any Councillor may attend any meeting of a committee of the Council and may 
speak on any agenda item for that meeting. However, in relation to the Planning 
Committee, the right to speak on a planning application, enforcement item, or other 
report relating to a particular ward of the Council shall be limited to the rights of a 
Ward Member to speak as set out in paragraphs 9.2 and 9.3 of the Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors Dealing in Planning Matters (Appendix J to the Constitution); 
in addition, the Chairman will also permit the following to speak for no more than 3 
minutes, without prior notice being required:  
 
1 Adjacent Ward members  
 

Page 21



 

Council – 24 February 2021 68 

2 Any Member having previously submitted a comment to that Application that 
permission to speak being limited solely to the raising of material planning 
considerations relating to directly their Ward, or else to any relevant planning policy 
or plan appertaining to this Council. 
 
The MOTION was MOVED by Councillor A Wilce and seconded by Councillor R M 
Deed: 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 14.4, the Chairman of the Council ruled that the 
MOTION STAND REFERRED to the Standards Committee for consideration. 
 
Note: Councillor J Wright left the meeting at this point. 
 

139 Cabinet -  Report of the meeting held on 7 January 2021 (1-51-03)  
 
The Leader presented the report of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 7 January 
2021 
 

1. Use of CCTV Policy and Guidance (Minute 284) 
 
The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor C R Slade: 
 
THAT the recommendations of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 284 be ADOPTED. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for the Decision – as this was a new policy, it must be agreed by Council and 
added to the Policy Framework. 
 

140 Cabinet - Report of the meeting held on 4 February 2021 (1-56-00)  
 
The Leader presented the report of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 4 February 
2021 
 

(1) Tax Base Calculation (Minute 308) 
 
The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendations of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 308 be ADOPTED 
(subject to a correction to the number of properties to read 28,594,38). 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for the Decision – Mid Devon District Council is a Statutory Billing Authority 
and must set its Council Tax each year 
 

(2) National Non-Domestic Rates (Minute 309) 
 
The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendations of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 309 be ADOPTED. 
 

Page 22



 

Council – 24 February 2021 69 

Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for the Decision – This is a statutory function and is a legal requirement.  The 
Council must set its budget annually on the tax base and the NNDR1 projected 
values. 
 

(3) Budget  (Minute 311) 
 

(a) The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendations of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 311 (1, 3, 5, 6 and 7) 
be ADOPTED. 
 
The Council had before it questions* referring to Minute 311 submitted by Councillor 
a Wilce in accordance with Procedure Rule 13.2, together with  a response the 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration. 
 
Councillor Wilce in accordance with Procedure Rule 13.7 asked a supplementary 
question: he had received a response from the Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Economic Regeneration but would like a response from the Cabinet Member for 
Finance.  The Cabinet Member for Finance stated that he would provide a written 
response. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 How the budget had been considered previously by the Policy Development 
Groups, the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Committee 

 Concern with regard to the budget gap in the future and the need for a 
strategic discussion to take place which involved the taxpayer 

 The use of the temporary transfer from the New Homes Bonus earmarked 
reserve 

 Concerns with regard to the cutting of grants  

 The use of reserves and the impact of the pandemic on financial matters 
 
The Chairman MOVED in accordance with Procedure Rule 19.7: 
 
“THAT the vote in respect of the MOTION shall be by Roll Call” 
 
A roll call of Members present at the meeting was then taken. 
 
Those voting FOR the MOTION: Councillors: G Barnell, E J Berry, W Burke, J 
Cairney, R J Chesterton, Mrs C A Collis, Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, 
Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, R J Dolley, J M Downes, C J Eginton, R Evans, Mrs S 
Griggs, T G Hughes, D J Knowles, F W Letch, B A Moore, D F Pugsley, R F Radford, 
C Slade, Mrs M E Squires, L D Taylor, Miss E Wainwright, B G J Warren, A Wilce 
and Mrs N Woollatt. 
 
Those voting AGAINST the MOTION: Councillors: S J Clist and A White. 
 
Those ABSTAINING from voting: Councillors: B Holdman and Miss J Norton. 
 
The MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 

Page 23



 

Council – 24 February 2021 70 

 
(b) The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 

 
THAT the recommendations of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 311 (2 and 4) be 
ADOPTED. 
 
The Chairman MOVED in accordance with Procedure Rule 19.7: 
 
“THAT the vote in respect of the MOTION shall be by Roll Call” 
 
A roll call of Members present at the meeting was then taken. 
 
Those voting FOR the MOTION: Councillors: E J Berry, W Burke, R J Chesterton, 
Mrs C A Collis, Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, 
R J Dolley, C J Eginton, R Evans, Mrs S Griggs, T G Hughes, D J Knowles, B A 
Moore, D F Pugsley, R F Radford, C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires, B G J Warren, A 
Wilce and Mrs N Woollatt. 
 
Those voting AGAINST the MOTION: Councillors:  G Barnell, J Cairney, S J Clist, L 
D Taylor and A White. 
 
Those ABSTAINING from voting: Councillors:  J M Downes, B Holdman, F W Letch, 
Miss J Norton and Miss E Wainwright 
 
The MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for Decision – There is a need for the Council to set a balanced budget. 
 
Notes:  
 
i) Councillor R L Stanley had declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as he was 

a remunerated Director of 3 Rivers Development Limited and left the meeting 
for the debate and the vote thereon. 

 
ii) Councillor T G Hughes left the meeting at the end of this item. 
 

(4) Capital Programme (Minute 312) 
 
The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT recommendation (1) of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 312 be ADOPTED. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The lending amounts within the Capital Programme to 3 Rivers Developments 
Limited 

 Whether the Capital Programme should have addressed issues such as Covid 
recovery, climate change and the regeneration of the town centres 

 Whether the New Homes Bonus should be spend on social rented housing 
 
The Chairman MOVED in accordance with Procedure Rule 19.7: 
 

Page 24



 

Council – 24 February 2021 71 

“THAT the vote in respect of this MOTION shall be by Roll Call” 
 
A roll call of Members present at the meeting was then taken. 
 
Those voting FOR the MOTION: Councillors: E J Berry, R J Chesterton, Mrs C A 
Collis, Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, C J 
Eginton, R Evans, Mrs S Griggs, D J Knowles, B A Moore, D F Pugsley, R F 
Radford, C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires and Mrs N Woollatt. 
 
Those voting AGAINST the MOTION: G Barnell, J Cairney, S J Clist, J M Downes, B 
Holdman, L D Taylor and A White. 
 
Those ABSTAINING from voting: Councillors:  W Burke, R J Dolley, F W Letch, Miss 
J Norton, Miss E Wainwright, B G J Warren and A Wilce. 
 
The MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
The Leader MOVED seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT recommendation (2) of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 312 be ADOPTED. 
 
The Chairman MOVED in accordance with Procedure Rule 19.7: 
 
“THAT the vote in respect of this MOTION shall be by Roll Call” 
 
A roll call of Members present at the meeting was then taken. 
 
Those voting FOR the MOTION: Councillors: E J Berry, R J Chesterton, Mrs C A 
Collis, Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, C J 
Eginton, R Evans, Mrs S Griggs, D J Knowles, B A Moore, D F Pugsley, R F 
Radford, C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires and Mrs N Woollatt. 
 
Those voting AGAINST the MOTION: G Barnell, J Cairney, S J Clist, J M Downes, L 
D Taylor and A White. 
 
Those ABSTAINING from voting: Councillors:  W Burke, R J Dolley B Holdman, F W 
Letch, Miss J Norton, Miss E Wainwright, B G J Warren and A Wilce. 
 
The MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for Decision – There is a need for the Council to set the Capital Programme. 
 
Note: Councillor R L Stanley had declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as he was 
a remunerated Director of 3 Rivers Development Limited and remained out of the 
meeting for the debate and the vote thereon. 
 

(5) Tax Strategy and Policy  (Minute 313) 
 

The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 313 be ADOPTED. 
 

Page 25



 

Council – 24 February 2021 72 

Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for Decision – this is a new policy and therefore needs approval of the 
Council to be added to the Policy Framework. 

 
(6) Policy Framework (Minute 314) 

 
The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor R B Evans: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 314 be ADOPTED. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for Decision – the Constitution states that the Policy Framework must be 
approved annually by Council. 
 

(7) Pay Policy (Minute 315) 
 

The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor Mrs N Woollatt: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 315 be ADOPTED. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 

(8) Establishment (Minute 316) 
 

The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor C R Slade: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 316 be ADOPTED. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 

141 Cabinet - Report of the Meeting held on 18 February 2021 (3-09-47)  
 
The Leader presented the report of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 18 February 
2021. 
 

(1) Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy (Minute 
330) 
 

The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 330 be ADOPTED. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The borrowing and lending figures outlined within the report 

 The risks associated with lending to 3 Rivers Developments Limited and 
whether a request be made to the Audit Committee for further examination of 
risk associated with the lending of funds. 

 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 

Page 26



 

Council – 24 February 2021 73 

 
Reason for Decision – there is a need for the Council to approve the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy for 2021/22 in line with 
CIPFA guidance 
 
Note: Councillor R L Stanley had declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as he was 
a remunerated Director of 3 Rivers Development Limited and left the meeting for the 
debate and the vote thereon. 
 

(2) Capital Strategy (Minute 331) 
 

The Leader MOVED, seconded by Councillor B A Moore: 
 
THAT the recommendation of the Cabinet as set out in Minute 331 be ADOPTED. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Reason for Decision – there is a need for the Council to approve the Capital 
Strategy. 
 
Notes: Councillor R L Stanley had declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as he 
was a remunerated Director of 3 Rivers Development Limited and remained out the 
meeting for the debate and the vote thereon. 
 

142 Council Tax Resolution 2021/2022 (3-22-40)  
 
The Chairman MOVED, 
 
“THAT the Council Tax for 2021/22 be increased by 2.39% being £213.84 (in 
accordance with the revised referendum limit ability of 2% or £5 per Band D 
property)” 
 
With regard to the draft Council Tax resolution in respect of the year 2021/22: 
 
The Chairman then MOVED in accordance with Procedure Rule 19.7: 
 
“THAT the vote in respect of this item shall be by Roll Call” 
 
A roll call of Members present at the meeting was then taken: 
 
Those voting FOR the MOTION: Councillors:  E J Berry, W Burke, R J Chesterton, 
Mrs C A Collis, Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, 
C J Eginton, R Evans, Mrs S Griggs, D J Knowles, B A Moore, D F Pugsley, R F 
Radford, C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires, R L Stanley, Miss E Wainwright, B G J 
Warren, A Wilce and Mrs N Woollatt. 
 
Those voting AGAINST the MOTION:  Councillors: G Barnell, S J Clist, L D Taylor 
and A White. 
 
Those ABSTAINING from voting: Councillors: J Cairney, R J Dolley, J M Downes, B 
Holdman, F W Letch, and Miss J Norton. 
 

Page 27



 

Council – 24 February 2021 74 

The MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED and it was accordingly:- 
 
RESOLVED that the recommendations within the report be approved. 
 
Reason for Decision - there is a need for the Council to set the Council Tax for 
2021/22 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to the minutes. 
 

143 Scrutiny Committee - Report of the Meeting held on 18 January (3-26-07)  
 
The Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee presented the report of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 18 January 2021. 
 

144 Scrutiny Committee - Report of the meeting held on 15 February 2021 (3-27-20)  
 
The Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee presented the report of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 18 February 2021. 
 

145 Audit Committee - Report of the meeting held on 26 January 2021 (3-28-50)  
 
In the absence of the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Audit Committee 
Councillor A White presented the report of the meeting of the Committee held on 26 
January 2021. 
 

146 Environment Policy Development Group - Report of the meeting held on 12 
January 2021 (3-29-37)  
 
The Chairman of the Environment Policy Development Group presented the report of 
the meeting of the Group held on 12 January 2021. 
 

147 Homes Policy Development Group - Report of the meeting held on 19 January 
2021 (3-30-25)  
 
The Chairman of the Homes Policy Development Group presented the report of the 
meeting held on 19 January 2021. 
 

148 Economy Policy Development Group - Report of the meeting held on 14 
January 2021 (3-31-44)  
 
The Chairman of the Economy Policy Development Group presented the report of 
the meeting of the Group held on 14 January 2021. 
 

149 Community Policy Development Group - Report of the meeting held on 26 
January 2021 (3-32-20)  
 
The Chairman of the Community Policy Development Group presented the report of 
the meeting of the Group held on 26 January 2021. 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

Council – 24 February 2021 75 

150 Planning Committee - Report of the meeting held on 13 January 2021 (3-33-14)  
 
The Chairman of the Planning Committee presented the report of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 13 January 2021. 
 

151 Planning Committee - Report of the meeting held on 10 February 2021 (3-33-58)  
 
The Chairman of the Planning Committee presented the report of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 10 February 2021. 
 

152 Standards Committee - Report of the meeting held on 3 February 2021 (3-35-03)  
 
The Chairman of the Standards Committee presented the report of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 3 February 2021. 
 

153 Questions in accordance with Procedure Rule 13 (3-35-50)  
 
There were no questions submitted under Procedure Rule 13.2. 
 

154 Leader's update to Council (3-36-06)  
 
The Council had before it and NOTED a * report of the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Data Security providing members with an update on 
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 202/21. 
 
The Leader outlined the contents of the report highlighting the following headlines: 
 

 Climate Change – he reported on the receipt of granting funding for the 
decarbonisation programme. 

 The number of new council homes had not been as many as hoped 

 The economy and the impact of the pandemic on the rate of income 

 Community – through Government grants, the substantial programme of grant 
payments to individuals and local businesses 

 Corporate – the review of the Local Plan, the 100% responses for FOI 
requests within due dates and the fact that the collection rates for Council Tax 
and Business rates were down due to the pandemic 

 
Consideration was given to the lack of information within the report on social rented 
housing. 
 
The Leader then drew attention to the sterling work of all officers during the 
pandemic, many of whom went unrecognised and who had delivered in unique 
circumstances and in unprecedented conditions.  He then highlighted the following: 
 

 Dean Emery and team for all the grant payments to business 

 Christine Bennett for her valued welfare support during the pandemic 

 John Bodley-Scott for his work with regard to the shielding hub 

 Jeremy Pritchard for his work during the pandemic with regard to track, trace 
and testing and the work taking place with Devon County Council and Public 
Health 

 Tim Powell for his work on corporate projects and for securing grant funding 
for the decarbonisation of corporate assets 

Page 29



 

Council – 24 February 2021 76 

 Helen Duke for her work with regard to the apprenticeship scheme and the 
recent award presented to the Council 

 Simon Newcombe for his recent qualification 

 The Member Services Team for their support for remote meetings and the 
additional work that this has meant. 

 
He added that the Council’s work over the last year had been dramatically different to 
the previous year but that the Council had continued to support the people of Mid 
Devon. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

155 Special Urgency Decisions (3-50-30)  
 
With regard to any decisions taken under Rule 16 (of the Constitution) Special 
Urgency taken since the last meeting. The Chairman informed the meeting that no 
such decisions had been taken in that period 
 

156 Governance Working Group Update (3-50-50)  
 
The Council had before it a *briefing paper from the Chairman of the Governance 
Working Group. 
 
Councillor B A Moore outlined the contents of the paper highlighting the work that 
had taken place to date and the work that was due to take place at the next meeting 
which included obtaining a consensus among members for a way forward  
 
He addressed the question raised in public question time stating that he was 
disappointed that Honorary Alderman Nation had not been impressed with his 
responses to questions raised at the Scrutiny Committee on 15 February.  The 
working group had considered with other council bodies how to override the 
decisions of the Cabinet but that would be unlawful.  Consideration was being given 
to improving the Cabinet system and that guidance was awaited on a solution.  The 
focus should be on attitude, behaviour and approach, rather than the fundamental 
approach of governance. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The ability for all members to attend the next meeting of the working group 

 Public perception of how the work of the working group had taken place 

 Whether sufficient external consultation had taken place 

 The membership of the working group 

 The concept of overview and scrutiny committees rather than policy 
development groups and whether that would address the concerns raised 

 Whether further engagement with members was required before consideration 
of any recommendation 

 
 
Note *Briefing paper previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

Council – 24 February 2021 77 

157 Questions to Cabinet Members (4-04-36)  
 
Councillor Wilce addressing the Leader stated that earlier in the evening the Leader 
had addressed the Single Equalities Scheme as if it was something extraordinary 
that had taken place, was he aware that the Single Equalities Scheme only set out 
what the legal obligations of the council were and that  more could be done. 
 
The Leader responded stating that 9 separate pieces of legislation had been 
reviewed and that he did take the point that within Motion 564 there were things that 
we need to sign up to.  As far as Mid Devon was concerned, he was very keen to 
know if and when members did not keep to the spirit of all of that legislation and that 
he would wish to know if any member was treated badly by members of the public 
and that they would bring that to the attention of the appropriate authorities. 
 
Councillor White addressing the Leader stated that in light of many Cabinet members 
having signed a petition against 3 weekly waste collection could he confirm whether 
3 weekly bin collections would take place? 
 
The Leader responded stating that discussion would take place and that decisions 
would be made. 
 
Councillor White addressing the Cabinet Member for Finance asked about the 
unpalatable decisions that would need to be made for future budget setting and 
would he be able to tell the Council what those were. 
 
The Cabinet Member stated that any discussions and decisions would have to be 
handled carefully and that he felt it inappropriate to discuss this at this point. 
 
Councillor Barnell addressing the Cabinet Member for Finance asked what were his 
plans for a strategic discussion on future budgets and how would he engage with the 
taxpayer. 
 
The Cabinet Member responded by stating that work had already started to take 
place and consideration was taking place with regard to different approaches to the 
budget and a proposal for a way forward would be presented to members. 
 

158 Members Business (4-13-27)  
 
Councillor Dolley raised the following issues: 
 

 A new retail outlet would be opening in Tiverton the following day 

 The Sustainable Hub for Tiverton and where it would be based. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 10.27 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Council – 17 March 2021 78 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the COUNCIL held on 17 March 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors L J Cruwys (Chairman) 

G Barnell, E J Berry, W Burke, J Cairney, 
R J Chesterton, S J Clist, Mrs C Collis, 
Mrs F J Colthorpe, D R Coren, N V Davey, 
Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, R J Dolley, 
J M Downes, C J Eginton, R Evans, 
Mrs S Griggs, B Holdman, D J Knowles, 
F W Letch, B A Moore, Miss J Norton, 
S J Penny, D F Pugsley, R F Radford, 
C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires, R L Stanley, 
L D Taylor, Ms E J Wainwright, 
B G J Warren, A White, A Wilce, 
Mrs N Woollatt and J Wright 
 

Apologies  
Councillors Mrs E M Andrews, T G Hughes and A Wyer 

 
 
 

159 Apologies (00-07-15)  
 
Apologies were received from: Councillors: Mrs E M Andrews, T G Hughes and A 
Wyer. 
 

160 Protocol for Remote Meetings (00-07-29)  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

161 Public Question Time (00-07-47)  
 
Rosie Wibberley referring to Item 7 (Governance Arrangements) on the agenda 
stated that: the current system of a Cabinet, with a leader who can appoint 
councillors he knows will agree with him, appears to be a reflection of central 
government. Whilst this system may be effective in reducing decision making times, 
this is primarily due to the lack of appropriate debate, and the subsequent scrutiny of 
these decisions seems to be a case of shutting the stable door after the horse has 
bolted, especially as the reports by this committee can then be ignored. With the 
current cabinet containing a majority of councillors from a political party that does not 
have a majority on full council, my question is “do the members of this council believe 
that the Cabinet offers a fair and accurate representation of their views and is 
therefore a democratic reflection of the electorate, or is ‘efficiency’ more important 
than democracy?” 
 
Honorary Alderman Nation again referring to Item 7 on the agenda stated that: My 
question is addressed to the Leader of the Council. For almost 2 years this Council 
has dragged its feet carrying out a review of its system of governance in almost 
complete secrecy. Only once have the public had an opportunity to comment – 6 

Page 33



 

Council – 17 March 2021 79 

people sent in written submissions and 5 attended a Zoom session with two 
members of the Working Group, and others, but with several other councillors having 
been told they could not participate.  
 
Due to my having made FOI requests to see the minutes of the 8 working group 
meetings which took place in secret, I have them but they have still not been put in 
the public domain. The draft minutes of the last working group meeting, 2 March, 
show how the working group was still so confused that they couldn’t make up their 
minds whether to recommend the status quo or scrubbing the PDGs in favour of 2 
Overview and Scrutiny committees. In both options the present Strong Leader and 
Cabinet system would continue.  
 
Is the Leader aware how unhappy the people of Mid Devon will feel about the failure, 
after 2 years, to address their concerns about the undemocratic and exclusive 
manner in which this Council is run and does he feel that sufficient has been done to 
involve the public in a debate about the system of governance and options to change 
this?  
 
Mr Craythorne again referring to Item 7 on the agenda asked 2 questions: 
 
Question 1  
 
Slide 3 from the LGA governance workshop shows attendees’ concerns about 
rudeness, tolerance (or lack thereof, I guess), negativity, inflexibility, 
disrespectfulness, and so on.  
 
Given that without a catalyst, changes in personal behaviour are extremely difficult to 
bring about, does the Council recognise that it needs to put in place new structures 
which spread power, responsibility and accountability, enable engagement and 
participation in decision making, and thus help neutralise the temptation to engage in 
this kind of unhelpful and damaging behaviour? 
 
Question 2 
 
Slide 2 of the feedback on the LGA governance workshop shows that ‘scrutiny’ and 
‘cabinet’ are the front runners in respect of those elements of governance which 
members want to keep. This is interpreted as a ‘line in the sand’ for the Governance 
WP to refer to. 
 
However, in the following slide (3), ‘strong leader’ and ‘cabinet’ are identified as the 
two elements which members most want to change. In contrast to being taken as a 
‘line in the sand’, this is interpreted as showing ‘no strong shared opinion that the 
cabinet/leader model should change,’ but rather that there are simply concerns about 
behaviours and their impact. 
Why have such different interpretations been drawn from these two slides; and 
whose interpretation is it? 
 
The Leader indicated that a considered response would be given to all of the 
comments in writing and copied to all members. 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

Council – 17 March 2021 80 

162 Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct (00-13-12)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to make declarations of interest when 
appropriate. 
 

163 Chairman's Announcements (00-13-34)  
 
The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
 

164 Notice of Motions (00-13-54)  
 
1) MOTION 572 (COUNCILLOR G BARNELL – 8 March 2021) 

 
The Chairman had decided to allow this motion on notice out of time. He indicated at 
this point in the meeting that in relation to the motion only, part of procedural rule 16 
be suspended to enable the motion to be discussed without the notice required under 
rule 14, referring specifically to the first few paragraphs of rule 16 and 16(a) in 
particular.   
 
Secondly, in relation to the motion and the report on the Governance Working Group, 
he MOVED that Procedure Rule 16.3 be suspended to allow members to speak more 
than once. 
 
Upon a vote being taken (with regard to the suspension of procedure rules) the 
MOTION was declared to have FAILED.  However, the Chairman ruled that he 
intended to allow discussion of Motion 572 notwithstanding. 
 
The Council had before it a MOTION submitted for the first time.  
 
The proposals arising from the work of the Governance WG have not been 
sufficiently developed to be properly considered by the membership at today’s 
meeting. We propose that the Council postpone a decision on the recommendations 
of the Governance WG in order that changes can be:- 
 

1. More fully developed by members and considered by each of the Council’s 

non regulatory committees.  

2. Considered by the Council as an important contribution to forthcoming State of 

the District debate on the best Governance arrangements for the Council. 

The MOTION was MOVED by Councillor G Barnell and seconded by Councillor A 

Wilce. 

Consideration was given to: 

 Views that the Governance Working Group had not followed the remit set by 

Council and considered all models of governance available and had just 

recommended the improvement of the policy development groups. 

 The need for a State of the District Debate to involve the public in the 

continuation of the work started by the working group. 

 There was a need to look at reform and that this should be progressed by the 

groups themselves which should include how the Scrutiny and Audit 

Committees were best supported. 

Page 35



 

Council – 17 March 2021 81 

 The working group should have considered a State of the District Debate 

within its work. 

 The fact that a petition could change governance arrangements. 

 The lack of involvement of all members in the work of the working group. 

 Whether the motion sought to suppress discussion of the report of the working 

group and that this would not stop a State of the District Debate taking place. 

 The lack of public involvement in the consultation process that did take place. 

 There did not seem to be overwhelming support for change. 

 Whether the working group had considered openness and transparency and 

the need for all members to take ownership of any decision for change. 

 The need for further and better engagement with the public in any event. 

 How the initial public consultation advertisement was worded and the need to 

think about democracy rather than governance. 

 How the State of the District Debate could be better used by focussing on 

important issues such as economic recovery post pandemic or climate 

change. 

 Changes to the governance system did not mean going back to a committee 

system but that there was a need to improve the current system. 

 The lack of options for governance provided by the working group within its 

recommendations and that no costings had been included. 

 The need to reform the current system and the need to widen the debate to 

include the public. 

Following discussion and upon a vote being taken the MOTION was declared to have 

FAILED.           

165 Governance Arrangements - Report of the Governance Working Group (1-10-
00)  
 
Following a review of governance arrangements between January 2020 and March 
2021, the Council had before it a *report on the work of the group and its 
recommendations. 
 
The Chairman of the Working Group addressed the Council stating that the working 
group had worked steadily with an open mind supported by LGA independent 
representatives to look at a range of options on a way forward.  He outlined the 
consultation exercises that had taken place, the remit for the group provided by 
Council and the recommendations that were before members of the Council. He 
made reference to some of the comments with regard to the membership of the 
working group, whether there had been enough consultation, the guidance provided 
by the LGA representatives, the number of options for governance that was available 
country-wide and the number of meetings of the working group that had taken place.  
He felt that the review was complete and that the Council had before it a number of 
recommendations for consideration. 
 
Councillor R L Stanley MOVED, seconded by Councillor C R Slade that the 
recommendations within the report be taken on block. 
 
Councillor Mrs N Woollatt MOVED  AMENDMENT, seconded by Councillor F W 
Letch requiring the recommendations to be taken separately. 
 

Page 36



 

Council – 17 March 2021 82 

Upon a vote being taken, the AMENDMENT was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 With regard to whether there was a clear mandate for change 

 Disappointment at the lack of options put forward by the working group 

 Whether the policy development groups should be replaced with overview and 
scrutiny committees as had happened in other authorities, these committees 
could develop policies and have task and finish groups and would include pre 
and post scrutiny and whether by keeping the policy development groups, the 
Council were missing an opportunity. 

 The current policy development groups allowed the opportunity for policy 
development, greater engagement by members was required in developing 
clear work programmes for creating policy. 

 The need for the policy development groups to plan the work that they wanted 
to progress. 

 Whether 2 overview and scrutiny committees would be all too encompassing. 

 The fact that the policy development groups had been bogged down with 
routine monitoring of performance and the need for policy formation to take 
place. 

 The need to use the talent of members across the 4 current policy 
development groups. 

 The need to encourage a broader range of involvement by inviting local 
stakeholders to attend meetings and to seek their professional advice. 

 The work of the Standards Committee with regard to the areas of the 
Constitution which required amendment. 

 
(1) Councillor C R Slade MOVED, seconded by Councillor R L Stanley that: in the 

absence of a clear mandate for change at this time, the Council keeps the 
current executive governance arrangements;  

 
Upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
(2) Councillor C R Slade MOVED, seconded by Councillor R L Stanley that: the 

Council endorses the continuation of the Policy Development Groups and, in 
doing so, requests members and officers to find effective and efficient ways to 
support the groups’ future work programmes. 

 
Upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
(3) Councillor C R Slade MOVED, seconded by Councillor R L Stanley that: the 

Council asks the Standards Committee to review any proposals for 
constitutional change which the Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer), the 
Chairman of the Scrutiny and Audit Committees and/or the Chairmen of the 
Policy Development Groups put forward in support of the working 
arrangements for those committees and groups. 

 
Upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
(4) Councillor C R Slade MOVED, seconded by Councillor R L Stanley that: the 

Council thanks the Local Government Association for their valued support to 
the Governance Working Group 

Page 37



 

Council – 17 March 2021 83 

 
Upon a vote being taken, the MOTION was declared to have been CARRIED. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.09 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 38



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 126 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the CABINET held on 4 March 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors R M Deed (Leader) 

R J Chesterton, R Evans, D J Knowles, 
B A Moore, C R Slade and Mrs N Woollatt 
 

  
  
Also Present  
Councillor(s) S J Clist, Mrs C P Daw, R J Dolley and B G J Warren 

 
Also Present  
Officer(s):  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Also in  
Attendance: 

Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy 
Chief Executive (S151)), Andrew Busby (Corporate 
Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change), Paul 
Deal (Corporate Manager for Finance), Dean Emery 
(Corporate Manager for Revenues, Benefits and 
Recovery), Lisa Lewis (Corporate Manager for Business 
Transformation and Customer Engagement), Simon 
Newcombe (Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing), Maria De Leiburne (Legal 
Services Team Leader), Fiona Wilkinson (Principal 
Revenues & Benefits Officer), Sarah Lees (Member 
Services Officer) and Sally Gabriel (Member Services 
Manager) 
 
 
Nick Sanderson (Acting Managing Director – 3 Rivers 
Developments Limited) and Bill Yardley (Non-Executive 
Director – 3 Rivers Developments Limited) 
 

 
334. APOLOGIES (00-02-58)  

 
There were no apologies. 
 

335. PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS (00-03-05)  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

336. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00-03-20)  
 
There were no questions from members of the public present. 
 

337. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-03-43)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to make declarations of interest when 
appropriate. 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 127 

338. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-04-00)  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record. 
 

339. CORPORATE RECOVERY POLICY (00-04-28)  
 
Following consideration of a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151), the 
Corporate Manager of Revenues, Benefits & Recovery and the Principal Revenues 
and Benefits Officer, the Audit Committee had recommended that the updated 
Corporate Recovery Policy be approved. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
fully updated policy reflected the new legislation which was due to come into effect in 
May 2021 and provided a more consistent approach for recovery of debt across the 
Council, it also provided a focus on assessing financial vulnerability and vulnerability 
in general. 
 
RESOLVED that the revised policy be approved. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr B A Moore and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reasons for the decision: 
 

 The policy will help to enforce and recover c£82m in local taxation and sundry 
debts. Failure to use a consistent approach could have a detrimental effect on 
budgets and delivery of services. 

 

 The policy sets the framework for a consistent and sensitive approach to 
collecting debt whilst at the same time ensuring that the Council continues to 
maximise income collection and arrears recovery performance. 

 

 This policy should ensure that each debtor is treated fairly and minimises then 
risk of legal challenge  

 

 There is a potential reputational risk should the policy not be adhered to.  
 

 Maximising income for the Council is essential particularly during current 
financially challenging years. It is important to have a policy that is clear and 
transparent to ensure any recovery action is timely and proportionate. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the minutes. 
 

340. ASSET MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGY PLAN 2021-2025 (00-11-10)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure 
and Climate Change seeking approval of the revised Asset Management and Capital 
Strategy Plan for 2021-2025. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services outlined the contents of the 
report stating that the latest version of the plan set out a continued direction for 
managing assets.  In the document, the assets were seen as the means by which 
public benefits were delivered either through their employment or to deliver services 

Page 40



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 128 

or as investments.  The plan highlighted joined up working that was taking place such 
as combining the grounds maintenance facility with the waste and recycling operation 
and set out the organisational framework for the strategic and day to day 
management of property through the placing of asset management in the Council 
structure and the establishment of specific asset management arrangements.  
Important issues such as carbon reduction were covered in the plan as were 
performance indicators to ensure that value for money was being delivered through 
the use of assets. 
 
Consideration was given to capital financing and the increase in internal borrowing as 
highlighted within the report; it was explained that this mirrored the Capital 
Programme and outlined the use of temporary cash flow through investment. 
 
RESOLVED that the Asset Management and Capital Strategy Plan for 2021-25 be 
approved. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr R B Evans and seconded by Cllr B A Moore) 
 
Reason for the decision – The delivery of the strategy will ensure best use of 
Council assets to continue to support the Council in delivering its service to the 
public. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the minutes. 
 

341. BEECH ROAD, TIVERTON - DESIGN AND BUILD TENDER (00-15-25)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure 
and Climate Change reviewing the results of the tender for Beech Road, Tiverton and  
seeking to award the JCT Design & Build 2016 Contract as amended. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services outlined the contents of the 
report stating that the recommendation was to provide 3 social rented houses on 
HRA land at Beech Road. He explained that further consultation should take place 
with the owners of neighbouring properties as the previous consultation had taken 
place some time ago.  He explained the tender process and highlighted that 
consideration had been given to quality as well as price in the scoring of the tenders 
received. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (S151) and the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Property Services be given delegated authority to award the contract for 
works required to provide three social rented houses at Beech Road in Tiverton, 
once consultation has been concluded to:  
 
(i)   Contractor 2 under a JCT Design and Build Contract 2016 (as amended).   

  (ii)   To fund the balance of the development at £222k as detailed in paragraph  
        5.8 of the report 
  
(Proposed by Cllr R B Evans and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 

Page 41



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 129 

Reason for the decision - there was a need to confirm the award of the tender so 
that the specified work could be progressed and for the funding for the project be 
approved. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

342. OPTIONS FOR THE PROCUREMENT OF ENERGY (00-19-20)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure 
and Climate Change providing an overview of the options available for the supply of 
gas and electricity to the Council. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
energy supply contract for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account for gas 
and electricity had a break date of 1 October 2021 and a six month termination notice 
would need to be exercised.  There was a need to procure energy for the next 3 
years.  LASER was a specialist trading arm within Kent County Council and was 
dedicated to delivering gas, electricity and other utility services for the public sector.  
He explained the value for money exercise that had taken place and the results of 
the ongoing carbon footprint assessment for the Council. 
 
He praised the work of the former Cabinet Member for Climate Change for her input 
into the report and highlighted that there was a need for the Council to continue to 
improve its carbon footprint. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1) Delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Finance, in consultation 
with the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change, to continue 
with the LASER energy framework covering the purchase of Gas and Electricity 
between 01/10/2021 and 30/09/2024; and  
 
2) Delegated authority be given to  the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and 
Climate Change to submit a letter of intent to participate in the Devon Energy 
Collective; and  
 
3) To procure a further 50% of our electricity consumption via the ‘Green Basket’ 
under the LASER Framework for renewable energy for an additional £8k in the 
financial year 21/22. 
   
(Proposed by Cllr B A Moore and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reason for decision - By not exercising the break date on 01/10/2021 that requires 
6 months’ notice, the Council will continue to be contractually obliged to use the 
LASER Framework until 30/09/2024. The decision is to continue to use the OJEU 
compliant framework and the Council is getting economies of scale by joining this 
collaborative procurement with other Devon authorities.  
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 130 

343. FINANCIAL MONITORING (00-23-45)  
 
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * paper of the Deputy Chief Executive 
(S151) presenting a financial update in respect of the income and expenditure so far 
in the year. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the paper stating that monitoring to the end of 
December indicated a forecasted improvement of £43k which now indicated a deficit 
of £46k, in terms of the size of the overall budget, this was very close to a balanced 
budget.  There was still some uncertainty with regard to how the Government would 
implement the Income Protection Scheme with regard to loss of income from 
Business Rates and Council Tax.  He reflected on the Chancellor’s budget which had 
taken place the day before and explained that this may have an indirect effect on the 
Council.  The various relief schemes with regard to the pandemic were still in place 
and there was still more work to take place for the Revenues and Benefits team. 
 
He also explained a new programme of Government funding opportunities that could 
be applied for via a bidding process. 
 
Consideration was given to the amount of officer time given to the creation of bids for 
funding. 
 
Note: *Paper previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

344. POSSIBLE CHANGE TO START TIME OF FUTURE MEETINGS OF THE CABINET 
(00-28-20)  
 
The Leader addressed the meeting requesting consideration of a change to time and 
possible day for Cabinet meetings to take place in the future.  He explained that 
meetings of late had been very long and that maybe it was more appropriate for 
meetings to take place in the mornings. 
 
Consideration was given to holding meetings from June at 10.00 on a Tuesday 
morning and it was generally agreed that this was a good idea. 
 
It was therefore AGREED that future meetings (from June 2021) take place at 
10.00am on a Tuesday and that the clerk supply the next meeting of the Cabinet with 
a revised schedule of meetings setting out a revised timetable for consideration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr D J Knowles and seconded by Cllr R J Chesterton) 
 

345. NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS (00-36-20)  
 
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED its *rolling plan for April 2021 containing future 
key decisions. 
 
The clerk outlined the movements that had taken place within the plan. 
 
Note: *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 

Page 43



 

Cabinet – 4 March 2021 131 

346. 3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED - BUSINESS CASE AND APPRAISAL FOR 
THE 9 DWELLINGS AT BAMPTON (00-37-00)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) and from 3 
Rivers Developments Limited providing Cabinet with a business case for a 
development scheme at Bampton which was included in the company’s recent 
Business Plan. 
 
The Leader explained that the business case had been considered by the Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 1 March 2021 and that a set of questions had been 
provided for consideration prior to determining the business case. 
 

The Leader MOVED that: under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the next item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 respectively of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, namely information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

Upon a vote being taken this was APPROVED. 

Following discussion the meeting returned to open session: 

It was RESOLVED that the 3 Rivers Developments Limited business case for the site 
adjacent to Elizabeth Penton Way, Bampton, be approved. 

(Proposed by Cllr B A Moore and seconded by Cllr R B Evans) 

Reason for Decision - It had been agreed at Cabinet in July 2020 that any 
development with an estimated build cost in excess of £1m must be brought to 
Cabinet for consideration. This consideration would include a detailed business case 
report from the company.  
 
Note: *Report previously circulated. 
 

347. 3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED UPDATE REPORT (00-48-16)  
 
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * report from the Deputy Chief Executive 
(S151) providing an update on current project performance and any key risks. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services stated that the information 
within the report provided an up to date reflection on the progress made by the 
company. 
 
Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.34 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 44



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 132 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the CABINET held on 8 April 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors R M Deed (Leader) 

R J Chesterton, Mrs C P Daw, R Evans, 
D J Knowles, B A Moore and C R Slade 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

Mrs N Woollatt 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) G Barnell, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, R J Dolley, F W Letch, 

B G J Warren and A Wilce 
 

Also Present  
Officer(s):  Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy 

Chief Executive (S151)), Jill May (Director of Business 
Improvement and Operations), Kathryn Tebbey (Head of 
Legal (Monitoring Officer)), Jenny Clifford (Head of 
Planning, Economy and Regeneration), Andrew Busby 
(Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate 
Change), Lisa Lewis (Corporate Manager for Business 
Transformation and Customer Engagement), Simon 
Newcombe (Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing), Claire Fry (Housing Services 
Operations Manager), Catherine Yandle (Operations 
Manager for Performance, Governance and Health & 
Safety), Stephen Bennett (Building Surveyor), Mike 
Lowman (Building Services Operations Manager), Tristan 
Peat (Forward Planning Team Leader), James Hamblin 
(HR Business Partner), Greg Venn (Conservation Officer), 
Carole Oliphant (Member Services Officer) and Sally 
Gabriel (Member Services Manager) 
 

 
348. APOLOGIES (00-03-20)  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Mrs N Woollatt. 
 

349. PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS (00-03-32)  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

350. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00-03-54)  
 
The Chairman read a set of questions (referring to item 17 on the agenda) from Mr 
Quinn: 
 
At Audit Committee, on 23 March 2021, I asked a question about a risk to the 
reputation of 3 Rivers. Although not a member of Audit Committee, Cllr Moore, the 

Page 45



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 133 

Cabinet Member for Finance, provided the written reply. There are parts of his reply 
which I think are relevant to this Update.  
 
One of the points I raised was that 3 Rivers had never declared a profit.  
In his reply, Cllr Moore agreed: “It is correct that 3RDL was set up to make profit to 
mitigate cuts in funding and that it has not made a profit”.  
 
But then he continued: “The original business plan anticipated that it would take time 
to make sufficient return from early developments to offset start-up costs - it is 
therefore no surprise that it has yet to make a profit”.  
 
I believe it is very much a surprise to many that, after 4 years in being, this Company 
has “yet to make a profit”. So I ask:  
 
Question 1: When does Cllr Moore estimate that 3 Rivers will make a profit and begin 
to pay dividends to the Council?  
 
Another point raised was that 3 Rivers had only made one, partial, loan repayment. 
This was based on the last published information - the figures provided to Cabinet on 
18 February 2021, in the Business Plan.  
 
In his reply, Cllr Moore stated: “It is incorrect to state that there has only been one 
partial loan repayment, with further repayments following recent property sales”.  
 
Cllr Moore has used unpublished repayments as a means to refute my statement. 
Indeed, the Cabinet is only just being informed of these sales (in the Financial 
Overview section of this Update).  
 
I believe there should be more clarity on loan repayments, so I ask:  
 
Question 2: Will Cllrs Moore and Evans please provide up-to-date loan repayment 
figures in all future Monthly Performance Updates to the Cabinet?  
 
The Chairman indicated that answers would be provided when the item was 
discussed. 
 

351. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-06-56)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to make declarations of interest when 
appropriate. 
 

352. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-07-11)  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record. 
 
The Cabinet were also requested to reconsider the minutes of the meeting held on 
4th February, where there was an error identified within Minute 308  - Tax Base 
(recommendation 1 – the figure should read 28,594,38) – the error was identified at 
Council on 24 February and the minutes had  been amended and required further 
approval -  these were agreed. 
 
 

Page 46



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 134 

353. BEREAVEMENT SERVICES FEES & CHARGES (00-08-34)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a  *report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure 
and Climate Change;  the Environment Policy Development Group at its meeting on 
9 March 2021 had made the following recommendation: that the proposed charges 
for 2021-22 set out on Table A be approved. 
 
The Cabinet Member for the Environment outlined the contents of the report stating 
that the focus remained on providing the best possible standards of service which not 
only included the maintenance of the two cemeteries but the ongoing aim of ensuring 
that the long term needs of burials were met.  He felt that a 2% increase in 
bereavement charges was reasonable as set out in table 1 of the report and 
highlighted the benchmarking exercise that had taken place as outlined in table 2. 
 
RESOLVED that the recommendation from the Policy Development Group be 
approved. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr C R Slade and seconded by Cllr B A Moore) 
 
Reason for the Decision – To ensure that the Council’s Bereavement Services 
Fees and Charges do not place financial constraints on the Council 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 
 

354. DEVON HOME CHOICE POLICY REVIEW (00-11-09)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of the  Operations Manager for Housing and the 
Corporate Manager for Public Health, Regulation and Housing, the Homes Policy 
Development Group at its meeting on 16 March 2021 had made the following 
recommendations: that the following proposed changes to the Devon Home Choice 
Scheme be approved (as listed within the report): 
 
Proposal 1 
Proposal 3 
Proposal 4 
Proposal 5 
Proposal 6 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services outlined the contents of the 
report stating that the Homes Policy Development Group (PDG) had discussed the 
changes to the Devon Homes Choice Policy and had made the above proposals, 
however following the Devon Homes Choice Management Meeting a further 
amendment had been proposed to Proposal 8. 
 
This category included applicants who in their principle home:  

 
- Currently lack 2 or more bedrooms given the size of their household, or 
- Are lacking 1 bedroom but have 2 children that lack a bedroom. For example a 
couple with 4 same sex children in a 2 bed home, or a single parent with 2 children 
under 10 in a 1 bed home, or 

Page 47



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 135 

- Have been assessed by the Environmental Health team of a Devon local authority 
as a Category 1 hazard due to overcrowding and lacking 2 bedrooms, in accordance 
with the Housing, health and safety rating system introduced by the Housing Act 
2004. 
 
He had discussed this with the Chairman of the Homes PDG and written to all 
members of the Group asking for comment. 
 
It was therefore: 
 
RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be approved 
subject to the inclusion of Proposal 8 (as amended) to state that: 
 
Proposal 8 relates to the award of priority for rehousing when hazards may be 
present in a home.   
 
Environmental Health teams from different authorities were consulted.  The 
recommendation from the group including these colleagues was that there should be 
no change to the policy of awarding Band D to Category 1 overcrowding hazards.  
However, the Management Board of Devon Home Choice subsequently proposed 
that the reference to Category 1 hazards in the Band B reason for severe 
overcrowding be amended so that it is not a blanket award of Band B.  Therefore, it is 
proposed that the policy wording should be changed to confirm that Band B will only 
be awarded for Category 1 Hazards where the household is lacking 2 bedrooms.   
 
(Proposed by Cllr R B Evans and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reason for the decision: Failure to run a housing register that is transparent could 
result in complaints from people who feel that they have been unfairly disadvantaged 
and this could result in reputational damage. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 

355. CORPORATE ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR POLICY (00-17-34)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing, the Community Policy Development Group at its meeting on 
23 March 2021 had made the following recommendation: that the updated Anti-
Social Behaviour Policy as attached in Annex 1 be approved. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community Well-Being outlined the contents of the report 
stating that the policy underwent a major review in 2017, therefore the review was to 
ensure that any fundamental changes to legislation or practice had been captured.  
The policy remained largely unchanged except to make roles and responsibilities in 
dealing with ASB clearer.  He then outlined the list of types of ASB that the Council 
could deal with. 
 
Consideration was given to the details within the forms. 
 
RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved. 

Page 48



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 136 

 
(Proposed by Cllr D J Knowles and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reason for the decision – To ensure a consistent approach across the organisation 
in line with current legislation and practice. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

356. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY (INCLUDING ACTION PLAN) (00-22-
43)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a * report of Communications & Engagement Manager, the 
Community Policy Development Group had at its meeting on 23 March 2021 made 
the following recommendations: that the revised Communication and Engagement 
Strategy and Media and Social Media Policy be approved subject to the inclusion of 
‘In addition to the existing channels of engagement in the table above the Council 
also has statutory functions to fulfil in terms of communication and consultation, this 
includes planning matters via the Statement of Community Involvement’ on page 10 
of the strategy. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community Well-Being outlined the contents of the report 
outlining the structure of the communications team and the work of the Customer 
Engagement Working Group that had fed into the revised strategy.  He explained the 
key highlights in the tables which showed the evaluation against the 2018 objectives, 
subscribers to the email subscription service had increased by 141% and he 
informed the meeting that followers of the Facebook social media page had grown 
82% since 2018; a quarterly e-newsletter had been launched and the team had 
supported many services with surveys to interact with the public including budget 
setting, customer interaction and new build home owners. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The vital need to keep up to date with digital methods of communication 

 The need for more emphasis within the strategy  that members were a key 
channel of communication with local constituents and that should be a key 
priority 

 The major role that members had with communicating with the parishes and 
how local councillors could feed into their local parish magazines and websites 
with useful information for local residents. 

 
RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr D J Knowles and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reason for the decision – To ensure that customers, staff, Members and 
stakeholders are informed and engaged with Council services and news through 
appropriate and varied channels 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 

 
 

Page 49



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 137 

 
357. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (00-32-00)  

 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer), the 
Community Policy Development Group at its meeting on 23 March 2021 had made 
the following recommendations: 
 
a)    The revised Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) policy be adopted; 
and 
 
b)    Delegated authority be given to the Head of Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) 
to review the designation of the Co-ordinating Officer within the RIPA policy and to 
make such changes to that designation as she considers appropriate 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community Well-Being outlined the contents of the report 
stating that the Council had not used its RIPA surveillance powers in the last 12 
months and that the last time those powers had been used was in 2014.  In 2018 the 
IPCO had conducted its 3 yearly review/inspection of the Council and had been 
pleased with the level of compliance shown.  Refresher training was commissioned in 
late 2018 for key Council officers involved in RIPA, particularly at 
approval/authorisation level.  He explained that the Senior Responsible officer was 
the Monitoring Officer and that this would not change, the SRO would review the 
designation of the co-ordinating officer as a solicitor as there may be a case that this 
post sit elsewhere within the establishment. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The lack of hardware available should the authority wish to carry out 
surveillance 

 Whether the District officers should be better equipped to carry out 
surveillance – the meeting was reminded that there were a number of areas 
that the authority engaged with through the courts where they were not 
allowed to use RIPA powers and that there were different levels at which RIPA 
applied. 

 
RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr D J Knowles and seconded by Cllr B A Moore) 
 
Reason for the decision – Statutory guidance requires the Council to review the 
RIPA and the RIPA policy annually. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

358. CULLOMPTON CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT PLAN (CONSULTATION 
DRAFT) (00-42-19)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration requesting approval of the Draft Cullompton Conservation Area 
Assessment and Management Plan (CAMP) to be published for public consultation. 
 

Page 50



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 138 

The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration outlined the contents 
of the report stating that the existing Conservation Area Assessment and 
Management Plan (CAMP) for Cullompton dated from 2009. A review was needed to 
the document to take account of changes in the conservation area in the last 11 
years; to be up to date and relevant for the High Street Heritage Action Zone; and to 
work in concert with the Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan that was currently 
being prepared, and the emerging Cullompton Neighbourhood Plan. The Council had 
a statutory duty to designate, amend, and formulate and publish proposals for the 
preservation and enhancement of conservation areas in the district. 
 
A review had been undertaken and a consultation draft Conservation Area 
Assessment and Management Plan had been prepared. This had followed a format 
that was recommended by Historic England. 
 
Part 1 was a character assessment, which sought to define the special interests of 
the conservation area and identify the issues that threaten the special qualities of the 
area. In Cullompton, the conservation area was divided into 6 character areas. From 
this assessment, amendments were proposed to the extent of the conservation area; 
the visually important open spaces; and, unlisted important buildings both in and 
adjoining the conservation area. 
 
Part 2 contained the management proposals. This has built on the negative features 
that were identified in Part 1. 28 management plan principles for improvement and 
change were included. These provided an agenda and framework for discussion and 
change to enhance the conservation area, and were both site specific and across the 
conservation area.  
 
Approval was being sought for the consultation draft Conservation Area Assessment 
and Management Plan to be published for a 6 week consultation, which would 
commence as soon as practicable, and would coincide with the consultation on the 
Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan and the District Wide Design of Shopfronts and 
Associated Advertisements Supplementary Planning Document. The consultation 
would be in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement and would include one statutory public meeting (taking into account 
prevailing Covid restrictions).  
 
The Conservation Area Assessment and Management Plan would be finalised to 
include any amendments that were necessary following the consultation and will then 
be reported to a future meeting of the Cabinet with a recommendation to the Council 
that it be formally adopted.  
 
The Planning Policy Advisory Group considered the consultation draft Conservation 
Area Assessment and Management Plan at its meeting on the 18th March 2021. The 
meeting identified changes and corrections needed to the document before it was 
published for consultation, and were included as follows 
 
Page 3:  
Insert new Appendix 1: Important Unlisted Buildings 
 
Change existing Appendix 1 and 2 to 2 and 3. 
Page 8: 
Section 2.2 - 3rd Paragraph 

Page 51



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 139 

Omit the words “The next stages will be that”.  
Capitalise T of The Planning Policy Advisory Group…. 
 
Page 75: 
Additions line 1: Sentence to start saying “Higher Mill and Mill House, Higher Mill 
Lane” 
Omit additions line 13. Renumber line 14 to 13 and renumber remaining additions 
and deletions. 
 
Page 79: 
11.5.2 second paragraph omit “and promote walking” 
 
Page 84: 
For management plan principle 15. Join text to be one paragraph 
 
Page 84 
Insert a line space between Management Plan Principles 16 and 17. 
 
Page 91 
Add new Appendix 1 
 
Appendix 1 
Important Unlisted Buildings 

 
An important unlisted building ’is a building, structure or feature which, whilst not 
listed by the Secretary of State for its national importance, is felt by the council to be 
of local importance due to its architectural, historical or environmental significance 

 
Buildings, or groups of buildings, are considered to be locally important in recognition 
of their value as irreplaceable historic assets which contribute to the quality of the 
local environment by enhancing the street scene and sustaining a sense of 
distinctiveness.  

 
The purpose of identifying buildings is to ensure that care is taken over decisions 
affecting the future of these buildings, and that their special status is taken fully into 
account. Whilst there are no additional controls, owners are encouraged to undertake 
external alterations in such a way as to respect the particular character and interest 
of the building, and should use appropriate materials and retain any features of 
architectural or historic interest. 

 
It is not necessary to apply for Listed Building Consent. The usual planning controls 
apply, but the special interest of these buildings will be a consideration when 
deciding planning applications. 

 
Some works may not require planning permission but should still be carefully 
considered. The removal of historic features or details can not only harm the special 
interest of the locally listed building but can also adversely affect its value. Research 
has shown that buildings which retain their historic features in good order hold their 
value better than those which have been unsympathetically altered. 

 
 
 

Page 52



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 140 

Page 91  
 
Change Appendix 1 to Appendix 2 
 
Page 93 
 
Change Appendix 2 to Appendix 3 
 
He had also been requested by a local Ward Member to amend the wording of 
recommendation 2 to consider engagement with local landowners, the Town Council, 
the Leat Board and the Environment Agency, along with other interested parties to 
consider the long term management of the town leat. 
 
Consideration was given to the period of consultation and that any details of the 
consultation should be forwarded to all Members for promotion within their media 
outlets due to their contacts including with local parish councils. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The draft Cullompton Conservation Area Assessment and Management Plan 
(Appendix 1 to this report), including proposed alterations to the extent of the 
Cullompton Conservation Area made through Section 69(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), be approved for public 
consultation.  

2. That delegated authority be given to the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Regeneration to finalise the material and arrangements for consultation, including 
making further updates to: 

i)    Include an additional Management Principle 29 ‘That the Council engage with the 
Land Owners, the Town Council, the Leat Board, the Environment Agency, and 
other interests parties to consider the long term management of the historic 
Cullompton Town Leat to ensure that it is managed as a functioning watercourse 
to maintain and enhance its historic interests in balance with its wildlife interests’. 

ii)    Reflect matters discussed by the Planning Policy Advisory Group. 

 
(Proposed by Cllr R J Chesterton and seconded by Cllr B A Moore) 
 
Reason for the decision - There is a statutory requirement for the Council as Local 
Planning Authority to review its conservation areas from time to time. A review of the 
Cullompton Conservation area assessment and management plan has been agreed 
as part of the in kind match funding for the High Street HAZ. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 

359. THE DESIGN OF SHOPFRONTS AND ASSOCIATED ADVERTISEMENTS 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (00-57-31)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Economy requesting approval of the draft Design of Shopfronts and Associated 

Page 53



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 141 

Advertisements Supplementary Planning Document to be published for public 
consultation. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration outlined the contents 
of the report stating that the Shopfronts and Associated Advertisements design guide 
was proposed to supplement the National Design Guide, the Mid Devon Design 
Guide, and the relevant policies of the adopted Mid Devon Local Plan. 
 
The design guide was intended to raise standards in development affecting shop 
fronts in Mid Devon. The design guide would be a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). It would not be part of the development plan and would not 
introduce new planning polices, but once adopted it would be capable of being a 
material consideration in the determination of relevant planning applications. 
 
The design guide had two parts: Part 1 was an illustrated guide to the successful 
refurbishment or alteration to an existing shopfront, or complete replacement 
shopfront, and Part 2 set out the permission/consents that may be required and the 
policy context in which those planning decisions would be made.  
 
The principles set out in the design guide were not intended to be treated as 
blueprints, but they offered advice to help guide development proposals towards 
achieving the successful design of shop fronts and associated advertisements.  
 
The design guide had been subject to a Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening 
and Strategic Environmental Assessment screening and both had identified that the 
design guide was unlikely to have significant effects on the environment.  
 
The design guide, the Habitats Regulation Assessment and the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment screening reports would be published for public 
consultation for a statutory minimum period of 6 weeks, as soon as reasonably 
practicable, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement.  

Once the consultation had ended and officers had considered the responses, the 
final version of the Shopfronts and Associated Advertisements design guide SPD, 
including any amendments necessary, would be reported back to the Cabinet for 
formal adoption, together with a statement of public participation.  
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 How the number of people involved with the consultation would be reported, 
rather than just the number who made representation 

 The fact that the SPD  was district wide although had been initiated from 
Cullompton in line with the bid  for the High Street Heritage Action Zone and 
whether any other towns in the district could make use of any further grant 
funded schemes 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The draft Design of Shopfronts and Associated Advertisements 
Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix 1), the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Screening Report (Appendix 2) and the Habitat Regulations 

Page 54



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 142 

Assessment Screening Report (Appendix 3) be approved for public 
consultation. 
 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Economic Regeneration to finalise the material and arrangements for 
consultation.  

 
(Proposed by Cllr R J Chesterton and seconded by Cllr D J Knowles) 
 
Reason for the decision: The Draft Design of Shopfronts and Associated 
Advertisements Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is a District wide 
document, but the commitment to produce this guidance has been agreed as part of 
the part of the in kind match funding by Mid Devon District Council towards the 
Cullompton High Street HAZ agreement with Historic England.  
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 

360. VINYL FLOORING CONTRACT 2021-2024 (1-08-32)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Building Services Operations Manager 
advising Members on the results for the tendering of the Vinyl Flooring Renewal 
Contract 2021-2024 and requesting confirmation of the award of the contract. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services outlined the contents of the 
report stating that the formal tendering process had taken place and that the 
evaluation had been based on a high level of quality rather than just cost. 
 
RESOLVED that the new three year vinyl flooring renewal contract be awarded to 
Contractor 2. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr R B Evans and seconded by Cllr C R Slade) 
 
Reason for the decision - there was a need to confirm the award of the tender so that 
the specified work could be progressed. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 

361. PERFORMANCE AND RISK (1-10-57)  
 
The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health and Safety providing Members with an update on the 
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets. 
 
The Policy Development Groups and the Audit Committee had considered the 
targets within the Corporate Plan and had made the following recommendations: 
 
Environment Policy Development Group (9 March 2021) 
The targets suggested for 2021/2022 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
framework (appendix 4) be approved subject to: 

Page 55



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 143 

 

 Garden Waste Customers – target to be set at 11,200 

 Corporate Renewable Energy Projects – target to be set at 4 
 
Economy Policy Development Group (11 March 2021) 
 
That the targets suggested for 2021/22 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
Framework be approved. 
 
Homes Policy Development Group (16 March 2021)  
 
That the targets suggested for 2021/22 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
Framework be approved. 
 
Community Policy Development Group (23 March 2021) 
 
The suggested targets for 2021/2022 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
framework be approved. 
 
Audit Committee (23 March 2021) 
 
That the targets suggested for 2021/2022 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
Framework be approved with the addition of the following: That information with 
regard to the number of Freedom of Information requests made, the number refused 
and the number reviewed be contained from now on within the regular Performance 
and Risk report. 
 
The Leader outlined the contents of the report walking through the published pages 
 
Consideration was given to the Corporate Risk Management Report and that of 
reputational damage – social media which had not been reviewed since May 2020.  
The meeting was informed that this would be reviewed on an annual basis. 
 
The targets for 2021/22 against the Corporate Plan were then considered along with 
the recommendation of the Environment Policy Development Group. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The report be NOTED; and 
 

b) The targets proposed for 2021/22 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
framework be approved subject to the inclusion of:  
 
Garden Waste Customers – target to be set at 11,200 
Corporate Renewable Energy Projects – target to be set at 4 

 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision – there is a need for the targets within the Corporate Plan 
Performance Framework to be approved. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 

Page 56



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 144 

 
362. REVISED SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS (1-20-44)  

 
The Cabinet had before it a *revised schedule of meetings, following the Cabinet’s 
decision to move its meetings to a Tuesday and take place in the morning. 
 
The Leader reminded those present that a decision had been taken at the previous 
meeting to change the date and time of cabinet meetings from June 2021. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 A Member’s view that the change of time would impact on residents ability 
(and elected members not on the Cabinet) to attend meetings 

 Local people would attend meetings should an item on the agenda be of 
interest 

 The fact that County Council meetings were all held during the day 
 
RECOMMENDED to Council that the revised schedule of meetings be NOTED. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Note *Revised Schedule previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

363. NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS (1-33-22)  
 
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED its *rolling plan for May 2021 containing future 
key decisions. 
 
Note: *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

364. 3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED - PERFORMANCE UPDATE (1-34-40)  
 
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * report from the Deputy Chief Executive 
(S151) providing an update on current project performance and any key risks. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance addressed questions raised in public question time 
by stating that: 
 
‘The Business Plan approved earlier this year forecast that the business would 
achieve a profit in early 2023.  Consequential dividends are obviously a matter for 
future discussion.  I would remind Mr Quinn that in my response I went on to stress 
that the Council also makes a significant net interest return from loans made to the 
company.  Therefore, from the Council’s perspective, it is not appropriate solely to 
focus on business profitability when considering financial returns from 3RDL. 
  
The business makes loan repayments at appropriate points as projects move to 
conclusion.  These are, inevitably, infrequent.  Therefore, it is not appropriate to 
provide such figures in all future monthly reports’. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services stated that the information 
within the report provided an up to date reflection on the progress made by the 
company. 

Page 57



 

Cabinet – 8 April 2021 145 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The fact that work had recommenced at St Georges Court, Tiverton 

 A request that the company communicate with Halberton Parish Council with 
regard to the availability of residents’ car parking. 

 Any further written questions from members would be welcomed 
 
Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.48 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 58



 
MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL – REVISED SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS – 2021/22                    
 

 
MEETING 

Normal 
day and 

Time 

 
1 

 
2 

 
3 

 
4 

 
5 

2022 

 
6 

 
Extra 

Planning Committee 
(first meeting of cycle) 

Wednesday 
 

19 May 14 July 8 Sept 3 Nov 5 January 2 March  

Planning Committee 
(second meeting of cycle) 

Wednesday 
 

16 June 11 August 6 October 1 Dec 2 February 30 March 20 April 

CABINET –  10am from 
June 
(first meeting of cycle) 

Tuesday 
from June 

 

Thursday - 
13 May 
6.00pm 

 

6 July 31 August 26 October 4 January 8 March  

CABINET –  10am 
(second meeting cycle) 

Tuesday 
from June  

 

8 June 3 August 28 Sept 30 Nov 1 February 5 April  

Environment PDG Tuesday 
 

18 May 13 July 7 Sept 2 Nov 11 January 8 March  

Homes PDG Tuesday 
 

25 May 20 July 14 Sept 9 Nov 18 January 15 March  

Economy PDG 
 

Thursday 20 May 15 July 9 Sept 4 Nov 13 January 17 March  

Community PDG Tuesday 
 

1 June 27 July 21 Sept 16 Nov 25 January 22 March  

Scrutiny  
(first meeting of cycle) 

Monday  
 

24 May 19 July 13 Sept 8 Nov 17 January 21 March  

Scrutiny 
(second meeting cycle) 

Monday  
 

21 June 16 August 11 October 13 Dec 14 Feb **Tuesday 
19 April 

 

Audit Committee Tuesday 
 

1 June 27 July 21 Sept 16 Nov 25 January 22 March  

Standards Committee Wednesday 2 June  13 October  9 February   

Licensing Committee Friday 11 June    10 Dec    

Regulatory Committee Friday 11 June   10 Dec    

Away Days Fri 
9.30am 

   10 Sept     

COUNCIL 
 

Wed 
6.00pm 

30 June 25 August 27 October 22 Dec 23 Feb 27 April 11 May 
2022 

        
Notes:  ** Scrutiny Committee moved on one day because of Easter Monday. 

       

Ratified by Council on ……………. 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Scrutiny Committee – 1 March 2021 78 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held on 1 March 2021 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors F W Letch (Chairman) 

G Barnell, E J Berry, W Burke, L J Cruwys, 
Mrs C P Daw, J M Downes, Mrs S Griggs, 
B G J Warren, A Wilce, Mrs F J Colthorpe 
and C J Eginton 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

R L Stanley and S J Penny 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) R M Deed, R Evans, C R Slade, Ms E J Wainwright, 

D J Knowles and Mrs N Woollatt 
 

Also Present  
Officer(s):  Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy 

Chief Executive (S151)), Kathryn Tebbey (Head of Legal 
(Monitoring Officer)), Andrew Busby (Corporate Manager 
for Property, Leisure and Climate Change), Jason Ball 
(Climate and Sustainability Specialist), Clare Robathan 
(Scrutiny Officer) and Carole Oliphant (Member Services 
Officer) 
 

 
175 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.04.13)  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr S J Penny and Cllr R L Stanley who were 
substituted by Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe and Cllr C J Eginton respectively 
 

176 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.04.43)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Remote Meetings Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

177 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.04.47)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to make declarations of interest when 
appropriate. 
 
 

178 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.04.55)  
 
Nick Quinn, a local resident stated: 
 
 
Concerning Agenda Items: 9 (3 Rivers – Bampton, Business Case &  

Page 61



 

Scrutiny Committee – 1 March 2021 79 

Appraisal)  
 
The Planning Committee considered the planning application for this development in 
Bampton on 10 February 2021. 
  
A viability report was included as part of that consideration. The report stated that, if 
the affordable housing contribution (required by Council Policies) was enforced, the 
development of the site was not viable.  
 
Planning permission was granted - but, as a result of the viability report, this Council 
is not requiring 3 Rivers to make the appropriate affordable housing contribution of 
£325,000.  
 
During the Planning Committee meeting, the accuracy of the figures given in the 
viability report was questioned – but no answers were provided.  
Since the public have always been barred from seeing any 3 Rivers papers, it is not 
possible for the public to check the figures used.  
 
It is important that the Council should be seen to be dealing with its own company, 
without favour and transparently - so the question of accuracy must be addressed. I 
believe Scrutiny Committee is best placed to do that.  
 
There are 11 business case papers being provided to Scrutiny Committee for this 
agenda item. These papers are also being withheld from public view, but I would like 
to know whether the figures given in these papers are the same as the ones used in 
the viability report presented to the Planning Committee.  
 
So my question on this item is:  
Will the Chairman please assure me that the figures in the business case papers 
given to this Scrutiny Committee - are the same as those contained in the viability 
report given to the Planning Committee? 
 
The Chairman stated that he would address the question if possible at the agenda 
item and reminded Members that he would not be able to comment on any part of a 
restricted report. 
 

179 MEMBER FORUM (0.07.35)  
 
Cllr G Barnell requested that the Monitoring Officer reconsider her advice given with 
regard to the changing of the recommendation on a Cabinet report. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised the Member to submit his written question to her and 
she would respond. 
 

180 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS (0.11.21)  
 
The minutes of the last meetings held on 22nd February were approved as a correct 
record. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15th February 2021 remained in draft and were 
not approved until specific questions submitted by Members were addressed 
 

Page 62



 

Scrutiny Committee – 1 March 2021 80 

181 CHAIRMANS ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.16.00)  
 
The Chairman advised that he had written to Mel Stride MP to request that he attend 
a meeting of the Scrutiny Committee. 
 

182 DECISIONS OF THE CABINET (0.16.22)  
 
The Committee NOTED that none of the decisions made by the Cabinet on 18th 
February had been called in. 
 

183 CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE (0.17.33)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *report of the Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change providing an update on areas within the portfolio. 
 
It was noted that since the report had been published the Climate Change portfolio 
had moved to the Cabinet Member for the Environment. 
 
The Cabinet Member for the Environment addressed the Committee and stated that 
he had only assumed responsibility for the Climate Change portfolio that morning. 
 
The Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change outlined the 
contents of the report and explained that the Councils carbon footprint had reduced 
from 20,402 tCO2e for the reporting period 1st April 2018 to the 31st March 2019 to 
19,400 tCO2e for the reporting period 1st April 2019 to the 31st March 2020. 
 
The officer outlined various streams of activity which included: 
 

 MDDC Climate webpage was in development 

 Net Zero Advisory Group had been established and had been well attended 

 Service Leads were being encouraged to ensure climate change was 
considered in all aspects of their service areas 

 The Climate Change Action Plan continued to be developed and was 
continually reviewed 

 The Council had secured £18k for assistance with developing a Heat 
Decarbonisation Plan to 2030 with an additional £20k for skilled project 
support on developing our Carbon Action Plan 

 There was now an extended solar array at Carlu Close 

 A solar together scheme had been launched with local residents 
 
The Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change then introduced 
the Climate and Sustainability Specialist who would review the Climate Change 
Action Plan and update the Climate webpage accordingly. The officer would also 
review and revise the procurement processes and roll out the tree planting initiative 
across the district. 
 
In response to a question asked the Monitoring Officer confirmed that the Net Zero 
Advisory Group would continue unless or until the Council made changes but it could 
be discussed at the Environment PDG. 
 

Page 63



 

Scrutiny Committee – 1 March 2021 81 

The Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change advised Members 
that he would provide further detail on the programme and timings of the change to 
an electric vehicle fleet. 
 
The Cabinet Member for the Environment confirmed that the trustees of People’s 
Park Recreation Ground would be consulted about any tree planting initiatives within 
the park. He stated that a timescale on the costed climate change plan would be 
provided as part of his Cabinet Member for the Environment update to the Scrutiny 
Committee on 15th March 2021. 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

184 3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENT LTD - BUSINESS CASE AND APPRAISAL HOUSING 
SCHEME, LAND ADJACENT TO ELIZABETH PENTON WAY, BAMPTON 
(0.46.44)  
 
The Committee had before it a *report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) 
presenting the 3 Rivers Development Ltd (3RDL) Business Case and Appraisal 
Housing Scheme for land adjacent to Elizabeth Penton Way, Bampton. 
 
In response to a question asked, the Director for 3 Rivers Developments Ltd stated, 
that a previous planning approval for the site was for 26 units which was not viable. 
 
There were various discussions and queries about what could or could not be 
discussed in open session. 
 
The Chairman then indicated the need to go into Part II to consider the Business 
Case in detail and it was therefore RESOLVED that: 
 
Under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded 
from the next item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 respectively of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
of the Act, namely information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Following lengthy discussion on the contents of the Business Case, the meeting 
returned to open session and it was therefore RESOLVED that: 
 
Members questions with regard to the Business Case and Appraisal would be 
submitted to the Chairman by end of business on 2nd March 2021. The Chairman 
would submit questions received to the Cabinet and 3 Rivers Development Ltd and 
responses would be circulated to members of the Committee. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr G Barnell and seconded by Cllr B G J Warren) 
 
Note: Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she was a former District 
Councillor for the Ward and knew the landowner. 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

Scrutiny Committee – 1 March 2021 82 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 4.03 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Scrutiny Committee – 15 March 2021 83 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held on 15 March 2021 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors  

G Barnell, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, 
J M Downes, R L Stanley, B G J Warren, 
E J Berry, Mrs S Griggs, S J Penny, A Wilce 
and B Holdman 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

F W Letch 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) R M Deed, R Evans and C R Slade 

 
Also Present  
Officer(s):  Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy 

Chief Executive (S151)), Kathryn Tebbey (Head of Legal 
(Monitoring Officer)), Matthew Page (Corporate Manager 
for People, Governance and Waste), Andrew Busby 
(Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate 
Change), Jason Ball (Climate and Sustainability 
Specialist), Clare Robathan (Scrutiny Officer) and Sally 
Gabriel (Member Services Manager) 
 

 
185 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (00-04-05)  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr F W Letch (who was substituted by Cllr B 
Holdman). 
 
In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice Chairman took the chair. 
 

186 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (00-04-23)  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

187 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-04-36)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to make declarations of interest when 
appropriate. 
 

188 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00-05-03)  
 
The Chairman stated that she had received an email from Mr Quinn raising a 
question with regard to a question he had put at the last meeting, the issue that he 
raised did not relate to anything on the agenda for this meeting and therefore she did 
not intend to read it, however she would request that a written response be provided. 
 

Page 67



 

Scrutiny Committee – 15 March 2021 84 

189 MEMBER FORUM (00-05-48)  
 
Cllr A Wilce referring to Public Question Time requested that any response to Mr 
Quinn be attached to the minutes of this meeting. 
 
The Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer) responded stating that she understood that an 
interim reply had been sent to Mr Quinn from the Chairman of the Scrutiny 
Committee following his questions on 1 March and, she would make sure that this 
was published on the website alongside the minutes of that meeting. 
 
Cllr G Barnell made reference to the 3 Rivers Developments Limited Bampton 
business case and his request to the Leader to investigate the set of figures provided 
by a member of the public.  He asked when he might expect the outcome of the 
investigation into the difference in figures between the planning viability and those in 
the business case and requested that the answer be provided to all members of the 
committee. 
 
Cllr G Barnell also referred to his request for advice (and a review of that advice) 
from the Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer) with regard to the Cabinet’s decision to 
approve the business plan for 3 Rivers Developments Limited on 4 February 2021.  
The Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer) confirmed that her advice would be circulated 
and published as soon as possible. 
 
Note:  Cllr R L Stanley declared a disclosable pecuniary interest at the start of this 
item and left the meeting during the discussion thereon as he was a remunerated 
Director of 3 Rivers Developments Limited.  
 

190 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-08-48)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 2021 were approved as a correct 
record. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2021 were approved as a correct 
record. 
 

191 DECISIONS OF THE CABINET (00-13-13)  
 
The Committee NOTED that none of the decisions made by the Cabinet on 4 March 
had been called in. 
 

192 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (00-13-27)  
 
The Vice Chairman (in the Chair) stated that the Chairman had attended the South 
West Overview and Scrutiny Network meeting recently where he had noted that at 
least one council had an Audit Scrutiny Committee. 
 

193 CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT (00-14-16)  
 
The Committee had before it and NOTED a report of the Cabinet Member for the 
Environment providing an update on areas within his portfolio. 
 

Page 68



 

Scrutiny Committee – 15 March 2021 85 

The Cabinet Member for the Environment was welcomed to the meeting and invited 
to address the committee. He then outlined the contents of the report stating that he 
reiterated the Leader’s speech to the Council thanking all the staff for their continued 
hard work, dedication and diligence to deliver a valued service during these testing 
times.  The work was appreciated and on target.  He then referred to the following: 
 

 Managing littering and fly tipping which had increased during the summer 
months of last year and that there would be a strategic review to reduce 
littering and fly tipping in the community through education and awareness, 
better cleaning and infrastructure and the improvement of enforcement. 

 Transport issues and that the authority was now into the second year of the 
partnership with Specialist Fleet Services Limited to continue to provide the 
supply and maintenance of around 210 vehicles; this reflected good economic 
and climate change practices. 

 Utilising the Community Payback Service and the need for members to notify 
the service of projects to take forward. 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 A strategic review of littering, when would this take place and in what format 
and who by? - work was taking place with the recycling officers to identify 
those who were not recycling and providing an education programme, this was 
work in progress. 

 With regard to the proposed 3 weekly collection trial, there were concerns that 
savings had been shown in the budget for this project and therefore was the 
project being predetermined before a trial had taken place – the Cabinet 
Member stated that the outcome of the trial would not be pre-empted, it was 
proposed that the trial would commence from 21 June (if Covid restrictions 
allowed) 

 With regard to the number of fly tipping offences and whether there were 
any outstanding prosecutions – a written response would be provided in the 
absence of the Operations Manager for Streetscene. 

 Specific fly tipping of tyres in Stoodleigh and littering on the A396 and A361 
and that discussions were taking place with the Highway Authority with regard 
to this – the Cabinet Member stated that littering issues on the highways 
should be reported via the DCC portal alternatively he would be happy to take 
this up. 

 The impact of 3 weekly collections in town centres because of the lack of 
storage facilities – the Cabinet Member stated that this was being considered. 

 The current recycling rate and whether a target of 60% was unrealistic – the 
60% was a strategic target for 2025 and was work in progress. 

 The recycling of small metal items – there had been problems with capacity 
(mainly because of the success of the WEE scheme) 

 The need to reduce dog fouling – this would be progressed when the PSPO 
had been finalised. 

 Problems with littering of cigarette ends and the need to commend the work of 
the street cleaners – the Cabinet Member stated that any littering in specific 
areas should be reported. 

 Funding had been sought for dual bins in the town centres. 

Page 69



 

Scrutiny Committee – 15 March 2021 86 

 Whether the free parking initiatives that had been put in place following the 
last lockdown and increased footfall and trade in the town – a report had been 
requested from the Town Centre Partnership 

 The areas identified for the 3 weekly recycling trial – this was being worked up 
but would be urban and rural areas and would be reported to members. 

 The reduction in the number of reminders sent as part of the garden waste 
scheme – this had been reduced to 2 rather than 3. 

 The community payback scheme and whether there was any restriction on 
parish councils seeking to provide work for the scheme – the Cabinet Member 
directed the member to the officer. 

 Whether the community payback scheme could be used for tree planting – 
landscaping had been identified as part of the scheme 

 Issues with requesting to take part in the garden waste scheme – the Cabinet 
Member requested details and would follow this up. 

 Engagement with local supermarkets with regard to recycling – the Cabinet 
Member was working with officers on this matter and would be writing to local 
supermarkets. 

 Supporting local people who could not make contact with the authority’s online 
services – assistance was available by telephone. 

 
The Cabinet Member informed the meeting that at the previous meeting he had 
stated that he would report on the timescales for a costed climate change plan, he 
was now able to do that: the work would be undertaken by the new climate and 
sustainability specialist officer and that the plan would be split into work streams and 
by budget year end.  The first report would be provided in May 2021 on the budget 
outturn, this would be followed by reports in July, September and December 2021 
where costs to targets would be provided. Asked whether this work would include 
housing assets, the officer stated that each section of the work stream would be 
looked at in time and as much information as possible would be reported. 
 
The Cabinet Member had also attended a meeting with regard to the analysis of the 
Devon Carbon Plan and a report would be circulated to members of the Environment 
Policy Development Group and would be shared with other members on request. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Cabinet Member for his attendance. 
 
Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to the minutes. 
 

194 FORWARD PLAN (00-54-29)  
 
The Committee had before it and NOTED the *Forward Plan. 
 
It was requested that the Committee consider the Litter Strategy and the formation of 
a Teckal Company. 
 
It was also agreed that consideration be given to the general external maintenance of 
shops in the town, it was felt that maybe the Community or Environment Policy 
Development Groups could consider this matter and provide a report to the Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Note:  *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes. 
 

Page 70



 

Scrutiny Committee – 15 March 2021 87 

195 SCRUTINY OFFICER UPDATE (1-07-24)  
 
The Scrutiny Officer provided the following update: 
 

 The first formal meeting of the Planning Enforcement Working Group had 
taken place the previous week, and after a very productive discussion with the 
Planning Enforcement Officers, Members were considering the next steps.  

 Motion 564 had tasked the Scrutiny Committee with considering and making 
recommendations to the Council regarding the findings of the Fawcett Report 
‘Does Local Government Work for Women’. The Chairman was proposing that 
the Committee establish a one off Working Group, like a ‘Spotlight Review’ 
where Members would spend half a day or so looking at the report, 
questioning officers and Members, before making recommendations to bring 
back to the Committee. This proposal would come to the next meeting.  
 

 In terms of actions from the previous meetings:  
 

 The Committee had submitted a list of questions on the 3R 
Business case for the Bampton site and had received answers to 
those questions. The Cabinet considered the questions put by the 
Scrutiny Committee and had welcomed the committee’s input. (from 
1 March special meeting) 

 She had been tasked with providing an update on broadband, which 
she hoped to send out shortly 

 As requested at the 15 February meeting, the Committee had 
received: a reply from the Monitoring Officer to Cllr Barnell’s 
questions regarding the Cabinet discussion of the 3R Business plan; 
response on questions on emergency repairs and rent collection; a 
response on questions with regard to properties returned to the 
Council and the charges associated with clearing those. 

 Honorary Alderman Nation had also received a written response to 
his question posed at Scrutiny Committee on 15th February 2021 
and it had been added to the minutes. 

 
 

196 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING  
 
There were no additional items other than those items identified within the work 
programme for the next meeting on 19 April 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 3.26 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 47 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the AUDIT COMMITTEE held on 23 March 2021 at 5.30 
pm 
 
Present   
Councillors Mrs C Collis, N V Davey, F W Letch, 

S J Penny, A White and A Wilce 
 

Apologies  
Councillors 
 

W Burke and A Wyer 
 

Also Present  
Councillors Mrs C P Daw, R M Deed, B A Moore and B G J Warren 

 
Also Present  
Officers  David Curnow (Deputy Head of Devon Audit Partnership), 

Paul Deal (Corporate Manager for Finance), Dean Emery 
(Corporate Manager for Revenues, Benefits and 
Recovery), Lisa Lewis (Corporate Manager for Business 
Transformation and Customer Engagement), Catherine 
Yandle (Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health & Safety), Paul Middlemass (Audit 
Manager), Fiona Wilkinson (Principal Revenues & Benefits 
Officer) and Sarah Lees (Member Services Officer) 
 

Also in    
Attendance  Julie Masci and Grace Hawkins from Grant Thornton 
 
 

85. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr W Burke and also Cllr A Wyer who was substituted 
by Cllr F Letch. 
 

86. PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

87. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 

Mr Nick Quinn (a local resident) asked the following question: 
 
My question concerns: Agenda Item 9 – Performance and Risk.  
 
Risk Report Appendix 6, contains a ‘risk’ which I believe should be removed. That 
risk is: SPV 3 Rivers Reputational Impact - That 3 Rivers reputation is damaged by 
the actions of the council, etc. 
  
I believe the wording of this risk is designed to muzzle any Councillor who wishes to 
express genuine concerns about the performance and actions of this Company - or 
the way this Council interacts with it.  

Page 73



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 48 

 
This Company was set up by the Council to “make profits which would feed in to the 
revenue streams of the Council and mitigate the cuts in Government funding”. 
Unfortunately the Company is not doing this. 
  
The Company has only paid the Council one (partial) loan repayment; a VAT refund; 
service recharges and interest on Council loans. No profits!  
 
This is a Council owned Company, being loaned public money. Of course there will 
be public interest and scrutiny, especially when:  
 

 The published Company Accounts have never shown any profits;  

 Potential losses caused impairments to be put in the Council’s Accounts;  

 Council money loaned to the Company was unsecured - until recently;  

 Independent reviews of the Company led to 39 secret recommendations;  

 Company figures given to two Council Committees were inconsistent. 
  
The reputation of the whole Council is at stake. Councillors must be allowed to ask 
questions, to ensure the Nolan Principles of Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, 
Openness, and Honesty are maintained. 
  
The reputation of any Company is built on consistently delivering a good quality 
product, on-time and on-price. 
  
A good reputation for this Company will only be achieved by the Directors actually 
delivering on their business plans - not by gagging Councillors.  
 
My question is:  
 
Will Audit Committee please remove, or ask for the removal of, this restrictive 
‘reputational’ risk from this risk list?  
 
The Chairman stated that this question would be addressed under the Performance 
and Risk item on the agenda. 
 

88. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT  
 
No interests were declared under this item. 
 

89. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2021 were confirmed as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

90. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (00:08:00)  
 
The Chairman welcomed Grace Hawkins to the meeting who would be the regular 
representative from Grant Thornton attending future meetings of the Audit 
Committee. She had replaced Andrew Davies as the Engagement Lead. 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 49 

91. GRANT PAYMENT CHECKING REPORT  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety. As part of the Covid response Mid 
Devon District Council had been responsible for paying significant sums in grant 
funding on behalf of Business Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). It was suggested 
that the Audit Committee would want to seek assurance about the process for 
ensuring grants were paid only to those who were eligible. 
 
The contents of the report were outlined with reference to the following: 
 

 Large sums of money were involved which was why assurance regarding the 
checking procedures was needed. 

 As time had gone on, the process for checking had become much slicker. The 
Revenues and Growth and Economic Development Team had been 
instrumental in this with a much smoother and faster process now in place. 
 

The Committee congratulated those involved for a remarkable achievement. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

92. ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY (00:13:00)  
 
The Committee had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety presenting the reviewed and updated 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. The Audit Committee needed to consider the 
strategy and appendices together to reach an understanding on where the Council 
was with regards to fraud prevention and discovery. 
 
The contents of the report were outlined with reference to: 
 

 Following the discussion at the last meeting, the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety had liaised with DAP and 
other necessary parties to produce a report providing greater clarity on the 
substance of the strategy. 

 More detail was provided with regard to assessing ‘risk’ and the matrix used to 
do this. 

 The process for referral of fraud concerns was highlighted as was the 
escalation process. The Corporate Manager for Revenues, Benefits and 
Recovery was identified as the lead officer within the Corporate Management 
Team who would take responsibility for this issue. 

 DAP were now content that a more proactive approach was being taken by 
the Council.  

 
RESOLVED that the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 50 

Reason for the decision: 
 
Without the policy and strategy the Council is at risk of not detecting fraud, corruption 
or financial irregularities, which could result in significant loss to the Council and 
damage its reputation. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

93. PERFORMANCE AND RISK REPORT (00:18:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Operations Manager 
for Performance, Governance and Health & Safety providing it with an update on 
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020-21 as well 
as providing an update on the key business risks. 
 
Discussion took place with regard to: 
 

 The need for more qualitative data in relation to Freedom of Information 
requests such as how many were received and how many were refused as 
opposed to simply whether the responses were timely. It was explained that 
this information was currently available on the website. However, it was felt 
that it would be relatively easy to condense this information into a regular 
report rather than checking the website. 

 The Council providing electric car charging points but it could not make people 
use them. 

 Staff turnover figures. 
 

The Cabinet Member for Finance responded to the question raised during in Public 
Question Time. He stated that Mr Quinn had made quite an extensive statement 
which included a number of assertions that were incorrect and therefore misleading.  
Rather than correct those ‘on the hoof’ he would like to respond in writing to his 
statement and question. 
 
He continued….that said, there is absolutely no intention to muzzle Councillors who 
have been encouraged to raise any questions about the business but respecting Part 
2 confidentiality about commercial sensitivities.  And they have, regularly. 
 
However, there is no doubt that there is a risk that were confidentiality not respected 
or inaccurate public statements made there is a direct reputational risk to 3 Rivers 
Development Ltd in that it potentially shakes confidence in the company, makes 
contracting potentially more challenging (expensive, delay etc.) and could even have 
a knock-on impact on confidence in the product.  Any of those could impact the 
company’s ability to return a profit to the Council in due course.  It therefore is also a 
direct risk to the Council. 
 
RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that the targets suggested for 2021/2022 against 
the Corporate Plan Performance Framework be approved with the addition of the 
following: 
 
That information with regard to the number of Freedom of Information requests 
made, the number refused and the number reviewed be contained from now on 
within the regular Performance and Risk report. 

Page 76



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 51 

 
(Proposed by Cllr A Wilce and seconded by Cllr S Penny) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
If performance is not monitored we may fail to meet our corporate and local service 
plan targets or to take appropriate corrective action where necessary.  If key 
business risks are not identified and monitored they cannot be mitigated effectively. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

94. PROGRESS UPDATE ON THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ACTION 
PLAN (00:45:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Operations Manager 
for Performance, Governance and Health & Safety providing it with an update on 
progress made against the Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 Action Plan. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

95. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY (00:46:00)  
 
The Committee had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety presenting it with the updated 
Whistleblowing Policy. 
 
It was explained that only minor changes had been required to bring the policy up to 
date such as some corrections to job titles. 
 
RESOLVED that the updated Whistleblowing Policy 2021 be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
Without this Policy MDDC is at increased risk of not detecting fraud, corruption or 
financial irregularities, which could result in loss to the Council or damage its 
reputation. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

96. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY (00:48:00)  
 
The Committee had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety presenting it with the updated Risk 
Management Policy for approval. 
 
It was explained that ‘Opportunity’ had been removed from the title of the policy but 
that sections 4.5 and 5.4  of the policy provided detail on how ‘Opportunities’ were to 
be considered at the same time as risks. A number of examples where this could 
happen were provided. 
 

Page 77



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 52 

RESOLVED that the updated Risk Management Policy be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 

i. Failure to take advantage of opportunities and mitigate business risks could 
impact on the Council’s ability to deliver its strategic objectives.   

 
ii. Assessment of  the effectiveness of the framework for identifying and 

managing risks and for performance and demonstrating clear accountability is 
a key element of the Council’s governance arrangements. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

97. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT (00:51:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Devon Audit 
Partnership presenting an update on the progress and performance of Internal Audit. 
 
The contents of the report were outlined and discussion took place with regard to: 
 

 The internal audits that had taken place since the last meeting as well as fraud 
prevention work. 

 Detail in relation to the Payroll review. 

 The need for better controls in the digitalisation and social media area. 

 Clarification needed in respect of the use of waivers in the Procurement area. 

 The remaining audits for 2020/2021 were listed including Climate Change and 
Cyber Security. 

 Completion of some audit recommendations had been deferred due to the 
pandemic. 

 Procurement training was now available through the Learning and 
Development system via SharePoint. 

 5 outstanding recommendations from 2018 in the Development Management 
S106 area and whether these still related to IT and staff resourcing issues? It 
was confirmed that this was due to the complexity of the systems. It was 
AGREED that contact be made with the head of IT to express the concerns of 
the Committee and ask what could be done to resolve the outstanding issues. 

 Concerns regarding the fragility of the Payroll system following a recent 
upgrade which had resulted in issues requiring daily intervention from IT 
Services. However, the ability to run the payroll from home had been tested 
and there were back up plans in place should an issue occur. These back ups 
were all contained within the business continuity plan. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

98. INTERNAL AUDIT ASSURANCE MAPPING 2020/21 (01:02:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Devon Audit 
Partnership setting out how during the year they had developed an assurance map 
for Mid Devon, to provide a high level graphical picture of the effectiveness of key 
controls on which the Council relied to ensure integrity and effectiveness in its 

Page 78



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 53 

operations. This report provided an update on this work which they were delivering 
as part of the core audit delivery model for the Council.   
 
The contents of the report were outlined and reference was made to: 
 

This was a respected tool used within the banking industry. 
Mapping work to date had led to some areas being identified as 
needing better controls or more clarification. 
The 3 lines of defence system was explained. 
The importance attached to the organisation needing to be self aware 
and to instigate action when needed to address areas of concern. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

99. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2021 - 2022 (01:07:00)  
 
The Committee had before it a report * from the Devon Audit Partnership setting out 
the Internal Audit Plan for Mid Devon for 2021-2022. 
 
Reference was made to the following within the report:  
 

 This was a flexible plan providing a wide range of assurance regarding the 
internal control framework. 

 It was anticipated that there would be some changes to the plan due to the 
ongoing effects of the pandemic. 

 DAP were pleased to be working with Council colleagues on fraud prevention 
work. 

 
RESOLVED that the Internal Audit Plan 2021 – 2022 be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
The Audit Committee is required to review and approve the Internal Audit Plan to 
provide assurance to support the governance framework. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 
 

100. INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER AND STRATEGY (01:12:00)  
 
The Committee had before it a report * from the Devon Audit Partnership presenting 
the revised Internal Audit Charter and Strategy for 2021 – 2022. 
 
RESOLVED that the Internal Audit Charter and Strategy for 2021 – 2022 be 
approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

Audit Committee – 23 March 2021 54 

Reason for the decision: 
 
To recognise the key role of Internal Audit in understanding the key risks of the 
Council, to examine and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of 
risk management and the entire control environment as operated throughout the 
organisation, and contribute to proper economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

101. EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND SECTOR UPDATE (01:15:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a report * from Grant Thornton providing 
an update on their responsibilities as the Council’s external auditors. 
 
The following was highlighted within the report: 
 

 Changes within the Audit team which it was explained was good practice. 

 Work in relation to the Certification of the Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim was 
ongoing. To date there had been no adverse findings. 

 A number of areas had been identified as needing to be looked at in greater 
detail, more information would be provided at the next meeting. 

 The Audit Plan was currently being worked up and would be presented to the 
next meeting. 

 Changes with regard to how Value for Money work was to be undertaken in 
future was explained. The National Audit Office had issued new requirements. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes.  
 

102. CHAIRMAN'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2020/2021 (01:24:00)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a draft report * from the Chairman of the 
Committee on its work during 2020/2021. A final copy of the report would be 
submitted to Council on 28 April 2021. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

103. IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING (01:25:00)  
 
In addition to the items listed in the work programme the following was requested to 
be added to the agenda for the next meeting: 
 

 Annual Governance Statement Action Plan update 

 External Audit Plan for 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 6.55 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 80



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 28 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the ENVIRONMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP 
held on 9 March 2021 at 5.30 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors B G J Warren (Chairman) 

E J Berry, W Burke, D R Coren, 
Miss J Norton, R F Radford, R L Stanley, 
L D Taylor and J Wright 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) Ms E J Wainwright, R M Deed, R J Dolley, R Evans and 

C R Slade 
 

Also Present  
Officer(s):  Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Jill May (Director of 

Business Improvement and Operations), Kathryn Tebbey 
(Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer)), Andrew Busby 
(Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate 
Change), Paul Deal (Corporate Manager for Finance), 
Catherine Yandle (Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health & Safety), Jason Ball (Climate and 
Sustainability Specialist), Clare Robathan (Scrutiny Officer) 
and Carole Oliphant (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
62 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.03.43)  

 
There were no apologies or substitute Members. 
 

63 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.03.56)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Remote Meetings Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

64 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.04.21)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 
 

65 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.04.30)  
 
A member of the public requested to ask a question with regard to Cabinet changes 
but this was rejected by the Chairman under procedure rule 11.2 (e): 
 

 Questions must be relevant to an item on the Agenda for that meeting 
 

66 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.08.11)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12th January 2021 were agreed as a true record. 

Page 81



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 29 

 
67 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.09.33)  

 
The Chairman had no announcements to make 
 

68 MARY QUICKE MBE (0.09.48)  
 
The Chairman introduced Mary Quicke MBE to the meeting. 
 
Mary Quicke MBE explained working practices on her farm and how these fitted in 
with Climate Change. She stated that farmers had sustainability built into their DNA 
and her farming heritage went back 14 generations. 
 
She explained that food used by animals was a by product of food production for 
humans, that animal waste was spread on the land and that the land was kept viable 
through crop rotation. 
 
She explained that the Covid pandemic had shown that when the world worked 
together it could overcome vast challenges and this sort of cooperation was going to 
be required to tackle Climate Change. She stated it was time for everyone to start to 
challenge the normal and to produce systems of food production which would not 
bankrupt the planet. 
 
She stated that people needed to understand the complex systems of sustainability 
and become conscientious consumers who were knowledgeable on how their food 
was produced and where it came from. 
 
The Group then had a detailed discussion which included: 
 

 Government grants in the 90’s were only for arable crops which had in turn 
lead to an over dependence on them 

 Farmers controlled 90% of the land area in the UK 

 Farming was aiming to become net zero by 2040 

 Farmers were using crop diversity and herbal lays to improve the soil 

 Alternative foods, like seaweed, were being trialled to reduce the methane 
output from cows 

 
Members then discussed the Farm Advisory Service which was coming out of the 
Interim Devon Carbon Plan and that DEFRA were going to be involved. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mary Quicke MBE for her attendance and for sharing her 
knowledge. 
 
 

69 MOTION 567 - (COUNCILLORS: J WRIGHT AND MISS E WAINWRIGHT, R 
DOLLEY AND MRS C P DAW - 18 DECEMBER 2020) (1.03.12)  
 
The Group had before it and discussed Motion 567 - (Councillors: J Wright and Miss 
E Wainwright, R Dolley and Mrs C P Daw - 18 December 2020) which had been 
referred to the Policy Development Group by Council: 
 
This Council:  

Page 82



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 30 

 

 Welcomes and appreciates the work that has gone in to developing our 
climate action plan so far, especially in the context of the Covid pandemic, 
which stretched capacity and resources.  

 Welcomes the recruitment of a Climate and Sustainability Officer, to develop 
our work.  

 Requests that once in place, the new Climate and Sustainability Specialist 
focuses on further development to our climate action plan, so that it shows the 
priority actions for the short, mid and longer term, covering the entire period to 
2030 and beyond. Plans should outline the strategic actions we need to take 
to be on track to meet this target.   

 Requests that officers explore opportunities to develop the Net Zero Advisory 
Group, so that it has more authority and responsibility for our climate strategy, 
and so that the public can access it (e.g. via agendas published online, and 
being able to attend meetings).  

 Requests that budget be created and ring-fenced for developing our climate 
work - through a mixture of funding bids; income generation; prioritisation; 
partnerships; and 'spend to save' schemes. 

 
The Group had before it a *briefing paper from the Monitoring Officer which outlined 
the options for the Net Zero Advisory Group (NZAG). 
 
Cllr J Wright introduced the motion and stated that it represented work which had 
already been done and what was still required. He stated that the Council needed 
some form of funding to be able to host Climate Change events. 
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that the NZAG was operating within the current 
governance arrangements. There were opportunities to have regular reports on its 
work brought to the PDG and it was a decision of the PDG how it wished to interact 
with the NZAG. 
 
The Group discussed the Motion and considered: 
 

 That MDDC had already put a significant amount of funding into carbon 
reduction and that needed to be highlighted to the electorate 

 The details of funding to date could be included on the MDDC Climate Change 
webpage which was due to be launched 

 The NZAG to widen its remit and include invited members of the public to it’s 
meetings 

 The NZAG to provide regular updates to the PDG on the work it had done and 
any identified policy development 

 That the wording of the Motion be amended to include a future budget be 
created as the current budget had already been agreed 

 
The Group therefore RECOMMENDED to Council that the Motion should be 
supported with the following amendment: 
 

 Requests that future budgets be created and ring-fenced for developing our 
climate work - through a mixture of funding bids; income generation; 
prioritisation; partnerships; and 'spend to save' schemes. 

 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 

Page 83



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 31 

 
Reason for the Decision – To support the Council’s Climate Change Declaration 
 
Note: *Briefing paper previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

70 CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT - CLIMATE CHANGE UPDATE 
(01.33.59)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a *report of the Cabinet Member for the 
Environment and Climate Change outlining areas within his portfolio. 
 
The Cabinet Member explained that the Climate Change portfolio had now been 
brought under his remit but it had not been merged with the Environment portfolio 
and was a separate portfolio in its own right. 
 
He thanked the previous Cabinet Member for her work with the portfolio and 
commended her for her work. 
 
He explained that a costed plan was being worked on and would be presented to the 
Scrutiny Committee on 15th March. 
 
The Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and Climate Change detailed the work 
ongoing and the recent grant funding awarded. He explained that the Climate and 
Sustainability Specialist had started on 1st March 2021. 
 
In response to a question asked the officer confirmed that MDDC would not be liable 
for any works carried out through the Solar Together scheme and that liability for 
works completed would rest with the supplier. 
 
Members requested that rapid car charging opportunities were relayed to the Town 
and Parishes. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

71 FINANCIAL MONITORING (1.47.07)  
 
The Corporate Manager for Finance provided the Group with a financial monitoring 
update. 
 
He explained that the financial position had improved and although it was an 
overspend of £46k it was a remarkable achievement due to the extraordinary year of 
the pandemic. 
 
He stated that the Council was awaiting £775k from the Governments Income 
Compensation Scheme and that a further claim was being submitted. 
 
The officer explained that he had issued an initial briefing to the Governments Budget 
statement and confirmed that the furlough scheme had been extended, the £20 
increase in Universal Credit was to continue and that there was an extension to the 
Business Rates Relief scheme. He explained that restart grants were being 
introduced for between £6 - £18k, dependant on the type of business. 
 

Page 84



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 32 

72 BEREAVEMENT SERVICES FEES AND CHARGES (1.57.08)  
 
The Group had before it a *report of the Corporate Manager for Property, Leisure and 
Climate Change presenting the Bereavement Services Fees and Charges for 2021-
2022.    
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report and explained that the charges were 
comparable to other local authorities in the area. 
 
The Group therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 
The proposed charges for 2021-22 set out on Table A be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the Decision – To ensure that the Council’s Bereavement Services 
Fees and Charges do not place financial constraints on the Council 
 
Note: *report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

73 PERFORMANCE AND RISK (1.59.49)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED a *report of the Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety providing updated information on the 
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020-21. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report stating that there was a 
recommendation to review the new targets for 2021-2022. 
 
She explained that the waste performance had been affected by the Covid pandemic 
as more people were at home and producing more waste and recycling. 
 
In response to a question asked she advised that further details of the home 
improvement loans would be provided to Members. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The reasons why the recycling targets had not been increased 

 Members views that the Garden Waste Customers target should be increased 

 That the Hydromills project would not be completed in the next financial year 
and therefore could not be a target 

 
Therefore it was RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 
The targets suggested for 2021/2022 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
framework (appendix 4) be approved subject to: 
 

 Garden Waste Customers – target to be set at 11,200 

 Corporate Renewable Energy Projects – target to be set at 4 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 

Page 85



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 9 March 2021 33 

Note: *report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

74 CHAIRMANS ANNUAL REPORT (2.20.22)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, the *Chairman’s Annual Report. 
 
Note: *report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

75 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS (2.21.12)  
 
Members requested that the Cabinet Member for the Environment give an update at 
every meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.54 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 86



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 13 April 2021 34 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the ENVIRONMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP 
held on 13 April 2021 at 5.30 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors B G J Warren (Chairman) 

W Burke, D R Coren, Miss J Norton, 
R F Radford, R L Stanley, L D Taylor and 
J Wright 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

E J Berry 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) Mrs C P Daw and R M Deed 

 
Also Present  
Officer(s):  Jill May (Director of Business Improvement and 

Operations), Matthew Page (Corporate Manager for 
People, Governance and Waste), Darren Beer (Operations 
Manager for Street Scene), Philip Langdon (Solicitor), 
Deborah Sharpley (Solicitor), Vicky Lowman (Environment 
and Enforcement Manager), Clare Robathan (Scrutiny 
Officer) and Carole Oliphant (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
76 COUNCILLOR GLANMOR HUGHES  

 
Prior to the meeting a minute silence was held in memory of Cllr Glanmor Hughes. 
 

77 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.03.19)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr E J Berry. 
 

78 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.03.31)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

79 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.03.48)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 

80 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.04.03)  
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 13 April 2021 35 

 
81 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.04.08)  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 9th March 2021 were agreed as a true 
record. 
 

82 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.04.38)  
 
The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
 

83 PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (0.05.18)  
 
The Group had before it a *report of the Environment and Enforcement Manager 
presenting the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) under section 59 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report and explained that officers had 
completed a further review of the PSPO and had contacted the parishes to clarify the 
maps and the areas to be included. Officers felt that this was a worthwhile exercise 
and thanked the parishes for their assistance. As part of this exercise additional 
areas of land had been identified and some changes had been made to the order 
which included: 
 

 A reduction in the number of spaces where dogs were required to be on leads 

 An increase in the number of dogs allowed to be walked by a single individual 
from 4 to 6 

 An increase in the number of enclosed play areas included within the order 
 

These changes reflected the feedback from the Group and Cabinet in previous 
meetings and also the first public consultation. 
 
If the PSPO Order was made uniform signage would be erected in all the relevant 
places. Quotes were being obtained in relation to this. 
 
The Environment and Enforcement Manager explained that the PSPO would now be 
subject to a 4 week consultation exercise with relevant stakeholders which would 
include press coverage, a link to the consultation on the Council website and signs 
being placed in the included areas. Paper copies of the consultation would also be 
provided to the public who requested it. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The number of dogs that professional dog walkers could walk being a 
maximum of 6 or up to the maximum on their insurance 

 The allocation of district officer discretionary hours to dog fouling 

 Parishes views that too little time was allocated to enforcement of dog fouling 
 
The Group therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 

1) Authority be given to consult with members of the public and other relevant 
stakeholders to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order under section 59 
of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

Page 88



 

Environment Policy Development Group – 13 April 2021 36 

2) The fixed penalty for breach of the PSPO be set at the maximum permitted of 
£100 

 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the Decision: To widen enforcement powers in order to deliver a 
cleaner and more sustainable environment across the Mid Devon District. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 5.54 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 33 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the HOMES POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP held on 
16 March 2021 at 2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors R J Dolley (Chairman) 

Mrs E M Andrews, J Cairney, S J Clist, 
D R Coren, L J Cruwys, C J Eginton, 
S J Penny and Mrs C P Daw 
 

Also Present  
Councillors R M Deed and R Evans 

 
Also Present  
Officers  Jill May (Director of Business Improvement and 

Operations), Simon Newcombe (Corporate Manager for 
Public Health, Regulation and Housing), Paul Deal 
(Corporate Manager for Finance), Claire Fry (Housing 
Services Operations Manager), Mike Lowman (Building 
Services Operations Manager), Catherine Yandle 
(Operations Manager for Performance, Governance and 
Health & Safety), J P McLachlan (Principal Accountant), 
Jason Ball (Climate and Sustainability Specialist) and 
Sarah Lees (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
57 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

58 PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was noted. 
 

59 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 

60 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT  
 
Cllr Mrs E Andrews declared a personal interest in that she is a Council tenant. 
 

61 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2021 were approved as a correct and 
accurate record of the meeting. 
 

62 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman stated that 12 months ago the PDG had met in Phoenix House, he 
had not anticipated that the Group would still be meeting virtually a year on. 

Page 91



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 34 

 
63 PERFORMANCE AND RISK (00:07:00)  

 
The Group had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health & Safety providing it with an update on performance against 
the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020/21 as well as providing an 
update on the key business risks. 
 
The contents of the report were outlined with particular reference to the following: 
 

 The Group were referred to the proposed targets for the next financial year 
against the Corporate Plan Performance Framework with a request that they 
be considered for recommendation to the Cabinet for approval.  

 Regarding Council housing, all measures were either at or just below target.  
 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 The disappointing number of empty homes: It was explained however that this 
was common across the country at the moment and there were many reasons 
as to why this was potentially the case. These reasons included a possible 
state of disrepair, homes not being habitable, complex probate issues or the 
owners waiting to redevelop. The number being monitored currently by Private 
Sector Housing stood at 388. The Empty Homes plan focusses on those 
empty for more than six months with particular attention on those empty for 
more than 2 years. 

 Whether the target of 20 new Council houses was achievable. It was stated 
that this was a realistic target but was dependent on many factors including 
the use of Right to Buy receipts which local authorities were awaiting a 
decision on from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG). Councils across the country were lobbying Government very hard 
for the right to be able to use these receipts to best effect for the housing 
provision within their own areas. 

 More information being needed regarding the proposed target in relation to the 
provision of gypsy and traveller pitches. It was anticipated that the Housing 
Strategy which would be brought before the Group later in the year, would 
include consideration of this provision.  

 
RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that the targets suggested for 2021/22 against the 
Corporate Plan Performance Framework be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
If performance is not monitored the Council may fail to meet its corporate and local 
service plan targets or to take appropriate corrective action where necessary.  If key 
business risks are not identified and monitored they cannot be mitigated effectively. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 35 

64 FINANCIAL MONITORING (00:36:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a month 10 financial monitoring report * which 
was presented by the Principal Accountant. 
 
Key highlights within the report were listed as follows: 
 

 The month 10 reporting indicated a deficit of £46k which was an improvement 
of £43k. 

 The Council was awaiting the outcome of the second Income Compensation 
Scheme. 

 Regarding the HRA – the month 10 reporting showed a forecast reduction in 
the deficit by £193k to £37k which was a significant improvement. 

 The Group were informed of the relevant salient points from the recent budget 
announced by the Chancellor, these included: 

o The extension of the Furlough scheme until September 2021 
o £20 increase in Universal Credit for another 6 months 
o Business Rate relief extended for another year 
o Funding confirmed for re-start grants 
o Test and Trace – the £500 given to individuals had been extended 
o Levelling up Fund for local authorities would be provided under the 

three themes of transport, regeneration and culture 
  
Note: * Monitoring report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

65 DEVON HOME CHOICE POLICY REVIEW (00:45:00)  
 
The Group had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for Housing and the 
Corporate Manager for Public Health, Regulation and Housing. The Management 
Board of the Devon Home Choice scheme had undertaken a consultation on 
proposed changes to associated policy and procedures and this report provides more 
information about this.  Individual local authority members of the scheme had been 
asked to approve the adoption of these changes.  
 
The contents of the report were outlined with particular reference to the following: 
 

 The Devon Home Choice Scheme, which Mid Devon District Council had 
signed up to, was the mechanism by which housing need was assessed and 
how homes were allocated. 

 There had been some minor changes over the years but more significant 
changes had been proposed recently which required consultation.  

 
At a recent Management Board meeting not all the proposed changes had been 
agreed. The Operations Manager for Housing Services referred to each of the 
proposals listed in the report and provided an update: 
 
Proposal 1 – related to bidding for larger 1 bed properties where applicants are 
lacking two bedrooms. This was agreed by the Board but the landlord would have 
discretion to decide whether or not the property met the needs of the family. Adverts 
would specify the household numbers. 
 

Page 93



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 36 

Proposal 2 – related to some of the new products on the market now such as ‘Rent to 
Buy’ or ‘Build to Rent’. A new question had been added to the application form to 
ensure that people were aware of the other options available to them.  
 
Proposal 3 – related to maximum occupancy of larger properties. Sometimes larger 
properties had different occupancy levels due to the size of bedrooms and could be 
reconfigured with the members of the household deciding how best to make use of 
the space available to them. 
 
Proposal 4 – related to occupancy of high-rise flats by younger children. This was 
agreed by the Management Board but was not really applicable to Mid Devon as 
there were no large blocks of flats taller than 4 stories in the district. 
 
Proposal 5 – related to those household members who could not succeed to a 
tenancy following the death of a tenant. It was agreed that some priority be given 
members of a household left in use to tenants who cannot succeed the tenancy. 
 
Proposal 6 – related to management of financial risk. It was agreed that wording in 
relation to rent arrears be revised. 
 
Proposal 7 – related to the assessment of cases where there was overcrowding. The 
suggested revision of the wording from 2 children to 2 people was not agreed by the 
Management Board. 
 
Proposal 8 – related to the award of priority for rehousing when hazards may be 
present in a home. The Board felt that greater clarification was needed before a 
decision could be made in relation to this.  
 
Discussion took place with regard to: 
 

 Clarity was sought regarding the rights of an older child should his or her 
parents pass away. It was confirmed that the new provisions suggested did 
not conflict with our own policy relating to tenancy changes.  Someone left in a 
property could apply for a homeless assessment and they would be given 
priority for rehousing.  However, in order to make best use of stock, if the 
property was too large, they may be offered more suitable alternative 
accommodation. 

 The importance of a garden to families with children. 

 Being part of the Devon Home Choice letting system provided a consistent 
approach across the whole county. 

 The Government had been undertaking some consultation regarding how 
houses should be allocated and more information regarding this would be 
presented to the next meeting. 

  
RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that the following proposed changes to the Devon 
Home Choice Scheme be approved (as listed within the report): 
 
Proposal 1 
Proposal 3 
Proposal 4 
Proposal 5 
Proposal 6 

Page 94



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 37 

 
(Proposed by Cllr L Cruwys and seconded by Cllr Mrs C Daw) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
Failure to run a housing register that is transparent could result in complaints from 
people who feel that they have been unfairly disadvantaged and this could result in 
reputational damage. 
 
Note:  (i) * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 

(ii)  It was not recommended that proposals 2, 7 or 8 be approved. 
 

66 HOUSING OMBUDSMAN SERVICE COMPLAINT HANDLING CODE - REVIEW OF 
COMPLIANCE (01:11:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Corporate Manager for 
Public Health, Regulation and Housing. The Housing Service was required to 
undertake an assessment against the Complaints Handling Code published by the 
Housing Ombudsman Service and to publish the outcome before 31 December 2020.  
This report contains information on this exercise and an update on the service 
improvements identified as a result of the findings.  

The contents of the report were outlined with reference to: 

 The results of the self assessment could be seen within the report. 

 There were many areas that the Housing Services performed well in and there 
were some that needed improvement. 

 The strict new code would require dedicated resources to handle any 
complaints. 

 A formalised process would be needed to review findings. 

 There was now an extra onus on the Housing Authority as a landlord as a 
result of the stricter code. 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

67 HOUSING DELIVERY UPDATE REPORT (01:19:00)  
 
The Group had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for Housing and the 
Corporate Manager for  Public Health, Regulation and Housing providing an update 
on enforcement and other activity undertaken by officers in the Housing Service. 
 
The following issues were referred to within the report: 
 

 The Neighbourhood teams had been able to undertake a range of work 
between lockdowns. 

 The Government had announced a further pause to evictions. 
 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 The level of debt in relation to rent was actually going down which was a credit 
to the officers working in this area. There had been much engagement with 
tenants, many conversations and a helpful approach had been employed by 
all involved. 

Page 95



 

Homes Policy Development Group – 16 March 2021 38 

 There had needed to be some enforcement activity regarding drug activity in 
Tiverton and the Police had been involved 

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services requested that his thanks 
and congratulations to the Housing team be formally noted. This was endorsed by 
the Group. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

68 CHAIRMAN'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2020/2021  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a draft report * from the Chairman of the 
Group on its work during 2020/2021. A final copy of the report would be submitted to 
Council on 28 April 2021. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 
 

69 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING  
 
No additional items were requested to be on the agenda for the next meeting other 
than those already listed in the work programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 3.48 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 96



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 27 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the ECONOMY POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP held 
on 11 March 2021 at 5.30 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors J M Downes (Chairman) 

Mrs C Collis, N V Davey, R J Dolley, 
Mrs S Griggs, B Holdman, D F Pugsley, 
R F Radford and J Wright 
 

Also Present  
Councillors R J Chesterton, R M Deed and R Evans 

 
Also Present  
Officers Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Jenny Clifford (Head of 

Planning, Economy and Regeneration), Adrian Welsh 
(Strategic Manager for Growth, Economy and Delivery), 
Catherine Yandle (Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health & Safety), Paul Deal (Corporate 
Manager for Finance), Dean Emery (Corporate Manager 
for Revenues, Benefits and Recovery), John Bodley-Scott 
(Economic Development Team Leader), Chris Shears 
(Economic Development Officer), Fiona Wilkinson 
(Principal Revenues & Benefits Officer), Chris Scobie 
(Cullompton High Street Heritage Zone Project Officer), 
Jason Ball (Climate and Sustainability Specialist) and 
Sarah Lees (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
56 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

57 PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS  
 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

58 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
There were no questions from the member of the public who was present. 
 

59 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT  
 
No interests were declared under this item. 
 

60 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2021 were confirmed as a true and 
accurate record. 
 
 

Page 97



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 28 

61 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
 

62 COVID 19 ECONOMIC RESPONSE (00:06:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a report * from the Head of Planning, 
Economy and Regeneration providing Members with an update regarding the 
Growth, Economy & Delivery team’s latest COVID19 emergency economic and 
community response activities. 
 
The contents of the report were outlined and an update provided regarding 
developments since the report had been published: 
 

 There had been a significant rise in the number of reported deaths at a 
national level since the last meeting. However, these numbers were now 
reducing. 

 The vaccination programme was going well with over 23 million people having 
had the first dose and over 1 million having received the second dose. 

 The Government’s roadmap out of restrictions was summarised. 

 Reference was made to work undertaken by Devon County Council in 
producing a graph which illustrated the economic impact of the pandemic 
upon Devon. It was anticipated that Mid and West Devon would take longer to 
emerge with potentially a time frame of between 3 and 4 years. 

 Devon County Council had produced another graph showing that the 
accommodation and food sectors had been the hardest hit. Just over 50% of 
businesses within this sector only had 3 months worth of cash flow. The high 
street retail sector and tourism had also been badly affected within the district. 

 The main concern going forwards was the potential rise in unemployment. 
However, it was good news that the furlough scheme had been extended. 
Currently approximately 10% of the Mid Devon workforce were furloughed. 

 Ongoing emergency response remained a key priority. A number of grant 
schemes were currently running which were complex and time consuming. 

 Mid Devon District Council currently ranked 14th out of 319 authorities charged 
with responsibility for getting discretionary funding out to businesses. This was 
testament to the hard work of the officers involved. 

 New grant schemes were expected to emerge within the next month or two 
but guidance would be needed from Government as how they were to be 
operated and who would be eligible. 

 The clinically extremely vulnerable would need to continue to ‘shield’ until at 
least 31st March although it was expected that this would date would be 
extended. 

 An increase in applications to the  Financial Hardship Fund was expected 
once the business grants and furlough schemes ended. 

 It was anticipated that the Government would issue guidance on the practical 
support that could be given to those living in social isolation. 

 Work continued in preparation for reopening high streets safely and mayoral 
meetings were being set up to follow the re-opening of non essential shops on 
12th April.  

 A lot of the aspects to recovery were still in a state of flux, with more 
information and guidance needed. 

Page 98



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 29 

 A building grants scheme in Cullompton was nearing its launch. This would 
allow building owners and repairing leaseholders in the conservation area to 
apply for grant funding to support shopfront improvement works. 

 The tendering process for the landscape project in the Bull Ring, Cullompton, 
would be complete by mid to late summer. 

 A draft Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan would be presented to the 
Planning Policy Advisory Group imminently. Both the Tiverton and Cullompton 
Masterplans were expected to be presented to the Cabinet in May 2021. 

 
Discussion took place with regard to: 
 

 The congratulations due to all those officers who had been involved with the 
dissemination of these funds to businesses. 

 100 businesses had fallen outside of the grant scheme, for example, they may 
have made an application too late. Assistance, advice and support to these 
would be dealt with on a chronological basis. These businesses would not just 
be left in the ‘cold’ but would be signposted to other agencies who could offer 
support if the council could not. Information had been made available on the 
council’s website and nationally councils were lobbying Government for 
additional funding. 

 There had been a significant growth in businesses switching to the use of 
online services such as ‘click and collect’.  

 Whilst a large number of businesses had struggled financially to continue, 
some had utilised grant funding to adapt their businesses in response to the 
pandemic. 

 The effect of the pandemic on the agricultural sector would be a specific issue 
the PDG could discuss at a future meeting. 

 More ‘rapid charging’ of electric vehicles was vital if people were to be 
encouraged to switch to purchasing this type of vehicle. It was recognised that 
take up was improving and the various locations within the district where 
vehicles could be recharged were listed. 

 Devon’s hospitality sector being severely affected by the pandemic, however, 
with the proposed lifting of restrictions, businesses had received an 
unprecedented number of bookings for the summer months. 

 Towns needed strong leadership if they were to successfully emerge from the 
economic effect of the pandemic and to ensure that high streets were places 
that people wanted to come back to. 

 Recent Covid figures for Mid Devon (and Tiverton in particular) had been very 
high in the statistics table for Devon with the district figures being above 
average. It was explained that there were complex reasons for this with the 
suggestion that figures could have been linked to outbreaks in education and 
work place settings. Statistical data needed to be treated with caution as many 
residents of Mid Devon travelled out of the district to their place of work. 
Figures were now coming down and Devon continued to show rates below the 
national average.  

 
The Chairman concluded the discussion by stating that he hoped the team would be 
able to move from a situation of ‘response’ to ‘recovery’ in the coming months and 
ended by extending his personal thanks to the team for all their efforts. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

Page 99



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 30 

63 PERFORMANCE AND RISK REPORT (01:16:00)  
 
The Group had before it a report * from the Operations Manager for Performance, 
Governance and Health & Safety providing Members with an update on performance 
against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020-21 as well as providing 
an update on the key business risks. 
 
The Group were referred to Appendix 4 which proposed a number of targets for the 
next financial year against the Corporate Plan Performance Framework. 
 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 The need for the Crediton Town Centre Masterplan to appear in the plan going 
forwards. 

 The need for performance figures in relation to the Tiverton Pannier Market to 
be included in future reports. 

 More information was needed as to why 2 acres had been identified as a 
target in relation to ‘Sites for Commercial Development.’ 

 The proposed targets were still subject to some refinement before being 
presented to Cabinet for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that the targets suggested for 2021/22 against the 
Corporate Plan Performance Framework be approved. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision: 
 
If performance is not monitored the council may fail to meet its corporate and local 
service plan targets or to take appropriate corrective action where necessary.  If key 
business risks are not identified and monitored they cannot be mitigated effectively. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

64 FINANCIAL MONITORING (01:30:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a month 10 financial monitoring report * which 
was presented by the Corporate Manager for Finance. 
 
Key highlights within the report were listed as follows: 
 

 The month ten reporting indicated a forecast improvement of £43k and now 
indicated a deficit of £46k. 

 The Council was awaiting £775k being the second submission under the 
Income Compensation Scheme. 

 There was a forecast reduction in the deficit of the Housing Revenue Account 
by £193k to £37k. 

 £1.6m was the forecasted figure for the end of the year in terms of the amount 
of income which will have been lost across all streams. 

 

Page 100



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 31 

The Group agreed that the figures presented to them were better than had been 
expected at the start of the pandemic and a lot of good work had been undertaken 
across the council to achieve this, however, complacency was to be avoided. 
 
Note: * Monitoring report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

65 TOWN CENTRE HEALTH CHECKS (01:35:00)  
 
The Group received a presentation from the Cullompton High Street Heritage Zone 
Project Officer regarding Town Centre Health Checks. 
 
This included information in relation to: 
 

 Developing a template for an Annual Town Centre Health Check document 
and the topics that needed to be included. 

 The importance of liaising with traders. 

 Town Centre Use Class Survey maps. 

 Monitoring vacancy rates and car park usage. 

 Analysing crime data. 

 Surveys of residents and shoppers 

 Standardising the approach across towns 
 
Discussion took place with regard to: 
 

 A lot of the residents in Cullompton travelling out of the town to Exeter and 
Taunton to work. 

 Whether there was a set of nationally recognised factors which made a town 
‘successful’. 

 The different survey methods used to canvas local residents opinions. 

 The need for a Town Centre Health Check in Tiverton and Crediton. 

 Public transport issues, were they adequate? 

 The need for strong leadership and partnership with stakeholders. 
 

66 WHITE PAPER: SKILLS FOR JOBS: LIFELONG LEARNING FOR OPPORTUNITY 
AND GROWTH (02:00:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a briefing paper * setting out the Department 
of Education’s vision for further (post 16) education over the next few years as the 
economy repositions itself following the pandemic and Brexit. 
 
Key issues within the report were highlighted and discussion took place regarding: 
 

 One of the main aims was to improve the quality of training.  

 The district council would be a key stakeholder by getting involved or 
influencing improvement plans. 

 The involvement of local businesses was key. 

 Every opportunity needed to be explored and used to best effect. 
 
Note: * Briefing paper previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 
 

Page 101



 

Economy Policy Development Group – 11 March 2021 32 

67 CHAIRMANS ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2020/2021 (02:06:00)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a draft report * from the Chairman of the 
Group on its work during 2020/2021. A final copy of the report would be submitted to 
Council on 28 April 2021. 
 
Note: * Report previously circulated; copy attached to the signed minutes. 
 

68 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING (02:07:00)  
 
Other than the items already listed in the work programme, the following was 
requested to be on the agenda for the next meeting: 
 

 Update on the agricultural sector 
 
It was noted that the EHOD Economic Development Strategy which had previously 
been identified as an item for future discussion would not now be coming but would 
be subsumed into the regular ‘Team Devon’ strategy updates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.42 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 102



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 25 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the COMMUNITY POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP 
held on 23 March 2021 at 2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors Mrs C P Daw (Chairman) 

Mrs E M Andrews, Mrs C Collis, W Burke, 
L J Cruwys, J M Downes, C J Eginton, 
B Holdman and Mrs M E Squires 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

E J Berry 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) D J Knowles, R M Deed, F W Letch and B G J Warren 

 
Also Present  
Officer(s):  Jill May (Director of Business Improvement and 

Operations), Kathryn Tebbey (Head of Legal (Monitoring 
Officer)), Paul Deal (Corporate Manager for Finance), Lisa 
Lewis (Corporate Manager for Business Transformation 
and Customer Engagement), Simon Newcombe 
(Corporate Manager for Public Health, Regulation and 
Housing), Catherine Yandle (Operations Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Health & Safety), Rob Fish 
(Principal Accountant), Jane Lewis (Communications and 
Engagement Manager), Clare Robathan (Scrutiny Officer) 
and Carole Oliphant (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
72 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.04.13)  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr E J Berry who was substituted by Cllr C Eginton 
 

73 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.04.29)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

74 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.04.40)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 

75 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.05.07)  
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 26th January 2021 were approved as a correct 
record  
 
 
 

Page 103



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 26 

 
76 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.06.12)  

 
There were no members of the public present. 
 

77 CHAIRMANS ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.06.22)  
 
The Chairman informed the Group that she had attended meetings with the Cabinet 
Member for the Working Environment and Support Services and Customer Services 
officers to progress the recommendations of the Scrutiny Customer Experience 
Working Group. She explained that the recommendations were relevant to the work 
of the Community PDG via the Community Engagement Strategy. 
 

78 COMMUNITY SAFETY ACTION PLAN (0.07.10)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a *report of the Corporate Manager for Public 
Health, Regulation and Housing providing an update on the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) priorities and planned activities for the coming year. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report highlighting the priorities for the year 
ahead and changes to grant funding. He explained that direct grants had been 
replaced with community grants and that he was exploring how the CSP could 
access grant funding with partners. 
 
He informed the Group that the CSP had sharpened and shaped its priorities and 
they were aligned with the County priorities and that the CSP would continue to focus 
on five key areas which were: 
 

 Sexual Violence and Domestic Violence and Abuse 

 Youth Risk and Vulnerability 

 Problem Alcohol and Drug Use 

 Exploitation 

 Violent Crime 
 
The CSP would have a focus on building resilience for children and young people 
across all themes. 
 
In response to a question asked, the Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing, stated that he would recommend to the CSP that the 
current schemes were strengthened to include violence against women. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The statutory partner for the CSP was the Cabinet Member for Community 
Wellbeing but there was no reason that the PDG could not have greater 
representation from the Group 

 How the CSP would be analysing and responding to the new responsibilities 
for Local Authorities as a result of the new Domestic Abuse and Serious 
Violent Crime legislation currently going through parliamentary approval 

 The effect of social media and cyber bullying on young people and what the 
CSP were going to do, including bite size workshop sessions in schools 

Page 104



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 27 

 The thoughts of the Chairman who recommended to the Group that a Working 
Group be established to investigate the effect the pandemic had had on the 
work of the CSP and how priorities may have changed 

 
The Group then AGREED to form a Working Group to consider the future priorities 
and planned activities of the CSP and to bring recommendations back to the PDG. 
The Members of the Working Group were agreed as: 
 

 Cllr B Holdman, Cllr Mrs M E Squires, Cllr Mrs C Collis, Cllr Mrs E M Andrews 
and Cllr W Burke 

 
The Cabinet Member for Community Wellbeing was invited to take part in the 
Working Group. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

79 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN UPDATE (0.31.19)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a *report of the Corporate Manager for Public 
Health, Regulation and Housing providing a progress report on Local Air Quality 
Management and the Air Quality Action Plan for the Crediton and Cullompton Air 
Quality Management Areas. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report and stated that there were two air 
quality management areas, Cullompton and Crediton. He informed the Group that the 
action plan had stalled during 2020 as Public Health officers had been redeployed to 
assist with services dealing with the pandemic. 
 
He explained that S106 funding had been secured to employ an external consultant 
to assist with the action planning process and producing a technical supplementary 
document. 
 
He explained that the statutory reporting to DEFRA had been completed and that 
officers were currently trying to draw out the data collected during the pandemic. It 
was not known at this stage what air quality levels would look like in the future and if 
working and commuting practices would change in the future. 
 
In response to a question asked, the Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing stated he would provide data regarding any changes to air 
quality in Crediton due to the installation of traffic lights in the High Street. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 That the Local Plan had to be in place before the Air Quality Action plan could 
be updated to include its requirements 

 A supplementary planning document would set out how the Council would 
measure the impact of development on air quality 
 

Page 105



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 28 

The Chairman then requested a Member representative to be involved in the 
preparation of the draft Air Quality Action Plan and Cllr J M Downes agreed to take 
on the role. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

80 CORPORATE ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR POLICY (0.49.16)  
 
The Group had before it a *report of the Corporate Manager for Public Health, 
Regulation and Housing providing the 3 year review of the Corporate Anti Social 
Behaviour (ASB) Policy. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report and stated that the policy had received 
a light touch update. The policy was to ensure that all ASB notifications were dealt 
with consistently across the Council and that staff were trained on all tools available 
to them including different legislation already in place to help tackle the issues. 
 
He explained that the Council had a dedicated corporate resource available who co-
ordinated and trained staff in a consistent way in line with current legislation and 
practice. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 Court injunctions were case specific and therefore no consistent course of 
action could be taken 
 

 
It was therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 
It approves the updated Anti Social Behaviour Policy as attached in Annex 1 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision – To ensure a consistent approach across the organisation 
in line with current legislation and practice 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

81 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (1.01.18)  
 
The Group had before it a *report of the Head of Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) 
providing the annual review of the Council’s Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Policy. 
 
The officer outlined the contents of the report and stated that this was the annual 
review of the Policy which had been in place for a number of years. The Information 
Commissioners Office (ICO) reviewed the policy every three years and was due to be 
reviewed by them in the autumn of 2021. 
 
The Head of Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) went on to thank Cllr A Wilce for his 
assistance in reviewing the policy. 
 

Page 106



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 29 

In response to a question asked, the officer explained that with regard to using social 
media posts for enforcement, that although people lived out their private lives in 
public via social media, that the information they shared was still private and could 
not necessarily be used. She further explained that the rules about officers using 
Council systems to view and use private social media posts to instigate enforcement 
action was not clear and further clarification was being sought from the ICO. 
 
 
It was therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 

a) The revised Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) policy be adopted; 
and 

b) Delegated authority be given to the Head of Legal Services (Monitoring 
Officer) to review the designation of the Co-ordinating Officer within the RIPA 
policy and to make such changes to that designation as she considers 
appropriate 
 

(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision – Statutory guidance requires the Council to use of RIPA 
and the RIPA policy annually. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 

82 FINANCIAL MONITORING (1.13.57)  
 
The Principal Accountant provided the Group with a Financial Monitoring update and 
stated the financial position had improved since the last report and that there had 
been larger movements at individual service level. He stated that the current position 
was a good achievement for the authority during the pandemic. 
 
The officer stated that the forecast improvement of £43k now indicated a year end 
deficit of £46k. 
 
He explained that the lack of leisure income had made up a large proportion of the 
variance due to lockdown but the planning variant had shown an improvement. He 
confirmed that the £775k claim for the Government’s Income Compensation scheme 
had been approved and was expected to be received by the end of the Month. A 
further claim was due to be submitted. 
 
In response to a question asked, the Principal Accountant stated that he would 
inform the group what the authority would be bidding on via the Governments 
Levelling Up fund which had been announced. 
 

83 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY (INCLUDING ACTION PLAN) (1.21.16)  
 
The Group had before it a *report of the Communication and Engagement Manager 
providing the revised Communication and Engagement Strategy and an update on 
the achievements made since the last strategy was approved in 2018. 
 

Page 107



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 30 

The officer outlined the contents of the report and stated that the PDG Working 
Group had reviewed the 2018 strategy and contributed to the revised strategy.  
 
Consideration was given to: 

 

 Members concerns with the public being able to use the Planning Portal 
effectively and that it was not easy to use and how the Communications 
Team could assist other service areas with accessibility 

 
It was therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 
The revised Communication and Engagement Strategy and Media and Social Media 
Policy be approved subject to the inclusion of ‘In addition to the existing channels of 
engagement in the table above the Council also has statutory functions to fulfil in 
terms of communication and consultation, this includes planning matters via the 
Statement of Community Involvement’ on page 10 of the strategy. 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision – To ensure that customers, staff, Members and 
stakeholders are informed and engaged with Council services and news through 
appropriate and varied channels 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

84 PERFORMANCE AND RISK (1.28.46)  
 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, a *report of the Group Manager for 
Performance, Governance and Data Security providing updated information on the 
performance against the Corporate Plan and local service targets for 2020-21. 
 
The Officer outlined the contents of the report and explained that the mental health 
training target would be carried forward to 2021/2022 and that training would be 
offered to all Members as well as staff. 
 
The Officer then outlined the targets suggested for 2021/2022 against the Corporate 
Plan Performance framework and asked for any amendments or suggestions. There 
were no amendments or recommendations. 
 
It was therefore RECOMMENDED to the Cabinet that: 
 
The suggested targets for 2021/2022 against the Corporate Plan Performance 
framework be approved 
 
(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Reason for the decision – To ensure that performance is monitored so that 
appropriate corrective action can be taken 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 
 

Page 108



 

Community Policy Development Group – 23 March 2021 31 

 
85 CHAIRMANS ANNUAL REPORT (1.35.07)  

 
The Group had before it, and NOTED, the *Chairman’s Annual Report. 
 
The Chairman thanked both Members and officers for their support during her 
Chairmanship and stated that she was looking forward to the PDG becoming more 
involved in the development of policies. She stated that an informal work 
programming session would be set up to look at policies due to come to the PDG for 
the next municipal year so that the Group could decide which they wanted to have 
more involvement with before they were brought to the PDG for approval. 
 
Note: *Report previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

86 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING (1.36.43)  
 
No additional items were identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 3.54 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 112 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 10 March 2021 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors 
 

Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman) 
G Barnell, E J Berry, L J Cruwys, 
Mrs C P Daw, R J Dolley, C J Eginton, 
S J Clist, F W Letch, R F Radford and 
B G J Warren 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

D J Knowles 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) 
 

R L Stanley 
 

Present  
Officers:  
 

Eileen Paterson (Development Management 
Manager), Maria De Leiburne (Legal 
Services Team Leader), Alison Fish (Area 
Team Leader), John Millar (Principal 
Planning Officer), Angharad Williams (Area 
Team Leader), Helen Govier (Principal 
Planning Officer), Sally Gabriel (Member 
Services Manager) and Carole Oliphant 
(Member Services Officer) 
 

 
 
 

131 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.04.26)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr D J Knowles who was substituted by Cllr R J 
Dolley. 
 

132 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.04.50)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Remote Meetings Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

133 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.05.18)  
 
Due to connectivity issues the Chairman allowed the public to ask questions at 
various points during the meeting. 
 
1. Lisa Clifford, a local resident, referring to Plans List 1 (19 Lower Millhayes, 

Hemyock) had asked that the Chairman to read out the following questions: 

Page 111



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 113 

a. The planning officer conditions of use if planning is given are that the 
property cannot be rented for income or used as a separate unit - what 
contravenes this and how can this be policed? 

b. I have referred to the Town and Country Schedule 2 - the policy which is 
sited in my objection - the building in question does contravene building 
regulations I question if these regulations are a request or requirement.  I 
am confused why planning are considering it in its current footprint 

c. Why are building regulations ignored to ensure the shed is not causing 
further issues with privacy and nuisance - for example safeguarding toilet 
ventilators are not facing neighbouring gardens. 
 

2. Pat Jenkins, a local resident, again referring to Plans List 1 stated: 
a. I submitted three photographs, the first and aerial photograph of no 19 

taken 2002 clearly answers questions about the original shed, top left of 
the garden. Items top left and top right include two greenhouses both about 
2.4 by 2.4 meters. By a third smaller greenhouse is a small wheelie bin 
used as a guide to show that the original shed is approximately 2.4 x 2.7 
meters, 6.5 square meters. Erected in 1997/1998 it was a homemade shed 
with plywood boards and an overhanging galvanised roof. In July 2017 the 
property changed hands. In 2016 this shed, now over 20 years old and in a 
sad state of repair was demolished and removed from site so it was 
impossible to remodel it in 2017.  

b. How would the committee members feel if their boundary fences were only 
1 metre high? Photo 2 shows the boundary fence the black line shows the 
pond electrics. No 19’s decking extends down the garden to just past this 
point and butts up against the fence. Having measured the height of the 
decking myself it is 52cms not 45cms high. The red line marks the decking 
level in relation to the boundary fence 120cms solid panel with 30cms 
trellis top. 70cms of fence provides no privacy whatsoever when the 
decking is in use. The fact the people can look over the 152cms fence and 
into our gardens is an evasion of our right to privacy.  

c. Why does the planning officer state that this outbuilding does not look out 
of place compared with other sheds in the gardens of other properties in 
the immediate area? My third photo shows the immediate area. The shed 
made from timber merges with the fences and becomes unobtrusive 
whereas the dark brown outbuilding is clearly out of keeping with the 
immediate area. Do planning officers carry any measuring devices to 
check plan measurements with measurement on the ground? If not why 
not? The plan inaccuracies would have been clearly evident if the 
measurements had been taken during the site visit 

d. Finally, in accordance with the MDDC local enforcement plan of 2018, a 
site visit took place. At no point was I, or the owners of No 18, informed 
that this was due to take place. Why has no follow up site visit been done 
in accordance to policies DM1 and DM11 to check the decking and shed 
from our properties and get a balanced view from all perspectives? If a visit 
had been carried out it would have been evident of how imposing the 
combined structure is.  

3. Martyn Baker, a local resident, speaking with regard to Plans List 5 (Duvale 
Priory, Bampton): 

a. Is the committee aware that the planning inspectorate at the 2014 appeal 
made specific conditions that the venue was not to be used by non-
residents? 

Page 112



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 114 

b. Can the committee confirm why there is a need for the former livestock 
shed to be used for the public for live music events when there are several 
purpose built halls nearby. 2 at Bampton, Stoodleigh, Morbath, Shillingford, 
, Oakford, Cove and Huntsham 

c. Can the committee confirm how it will police and enforce that the windows 
and doors are closed in the height of the summer and the numbers of 
public guests 

d. Is the committee aware that the site is located next to the lake and river? 
Water is a conductor of sound it travels 5 times faster through water than 
air. 

e. Can the committee confirm if the building has been inspected by an 
independent surveyor and is deemed fit for use as a music hall 

f. Is the committee aware that the property is situated in the Exe Valley which 
amplifies the noise 

g. Is the committee aware that there are 6 properties whose residents are yet 
to experience the previous noise and disruption 

 
The Chairman advised that the questions would be addressed at the appropriate 
application 
 

134 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.24.10)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 

135 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.24.23)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th February 2021 remained in draft and were 
not approved until specific questions submitted by Members were addressed 
 

136 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.29.50)  
 
The Chairman announced that Alison Fish, Area Team Leader, would be leaving the 
authority and joining the Planning Inspectorate. Members thanked her for her long 
service at Mid Devon District Council and wished her well in her new role. 
 

137 DEFERRALS FROM THE PLANS LIST (0.33.55)  
 
There were no deferrals from the Plans List. 
 

138 THE PLANS LIST (0.34.03)  
 
The Committee considered the applications in the *Plans List. 
 
Note: *List previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 
Applications dealt with without debate. 
 
In accordance with its agreed procedure the Committee identified those applications 
contained in the Plans List which could be dealt with without debate. 
 
RESOLVED that the following application be determined or otherwise dealt with in 
accordance with the various recommendations contained in the list namely: 

Page 113



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 115 

 
a) Application 20/01983/FULL - Rendering of ground floor flats at 21, 22, 23 

& 24 Siddalls Gardens, Tiverton, Devon be approved subject to the 
conditions as recommended by the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration. 
 

(Proposed by the Chairman) 
 
Note: Cllr R J Dolley declared a personal interest as he knew people living in the 
area 
 
Reason for the decision – As set out in the report 
 

b) Application 20/01537/HOUSE - Retention of timber outbuilding to be used 
ancillary to the main house, retention of decking and proposed 
installation of water supply and drainage pipes underground at 19 Lower 
Millhayes, Hemyock, Cullompton. 

 
The Area Team Leader stated the application had been deferred from a previous 
meeting for further investigations and that the material that the building was made of 
was not a material planning consideration. Addressing the public questions she 
stated: 
 

 As per condition 3, the building could only be used for ancillary purposes 

 The Town and Country schedule 2 states that if it is not permitted 
development then the building would need a separate planning application 

 Landowners have to comply with building regulations 

 The current fences were lower than the 2 metres permitted and an increase in 
height to 2 metres to protect privacy could be conditioned 

 Planning officers did not carry measuring equipment and relied on submitted 
measurements in plans 

 Planning Officers did visit the site  
 
The Area Team Leader then outlined the application by way of a presentation 
detailing the site location plan, underground piping, existing and proposed plans, 
photographs of the site, cabin as built, decking and views towards neighbouring 
properties. 
 
She explained the definition of an ancillary building to Members which was that the 
building would be used for domestic type use and in conjunction with the main 
dwelling. She confirmed that the building was predominantly to be used by the 
applicant’s mother and did not have all the facilities of a separate dwelling. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 A condition could be introduced to raise the boundary fencing to a height of 2 
metres to increase privacy 

 Concerns from Members that the plans in front of them were inaccurate  

 Concerns about what the building was to be used for 

 If the building had a kitchen 

 The difference in permitted development rights for properties within an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Page 114



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 116 

 How the use of the building would be monitored 

 The views of the objector who felt that the building failed to comply with any of 
the permitted development rights, the building was not timber and the planning 
report was a manipulation of policy 

 The views of the agent who stated that the outbuilding was not to be used as 
an independent dwelling or a holiday let and would be used as an ancillary 
building. There were no current plans to install a kitchen and the application 
met criteria for policies DM11 and DM27 

 The views of the Parish Council who felt that the shed dominated the top of 
the garden, the installation of a water supply was inappropriate and would 
encourage more frequent use. Neighbouring properties could be looked into 
by people using the decking 

 The views of the Ward Member who stated that the decking had a negative 
impact on neighbouring properties, there were a lot of anomalies with the 
dimensions of the building 

 Members views that the building was not compliant with policies DM1, DM11 
or DM27 

 The building was too far away from the house, on an elevated site and too 
dominant 

 
It was therefore: 
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
Members were minded to refuse the application and therefore wished to defer the 
application for an implications report to consider the proposed reasons for refusal 
that of: 
 
The proposed outbuilding and decking in terms of its size, appearance and location 
on an elevated site is not considered to make a positive contribution to the local 
character. In addition it is considered to adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers by virtue of unacceptable overlooking and its overbearing nature. 
Adequate justification for the proposal has not been provided and the submitted 
information is unclear. Consequently the proposal is contrary to policy DM1 and 
DM11 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
 
(Proposed by Cllr S J Clist and seconded by Cllr B G J Waren) 
 
Reason for the Decision –  No decision was made, but the item deferred for a 
implications report. 
 
Notes:  
 

i.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe, G Barnell, E J Berry, Mrs C P Daw, L J Cruwys, C J 
Eginton, S J Clist, F W Letch, R Dolley, R F Radford and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had received correspondence from 
objectors 

ii.) Cllr S J Clist made a declaration in accordance with the Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters as the objectors were 
known to him 

Page 115



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 117 

iii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe requested that her vote against the decision be 
recorded 

iv.) Major Jenkins spoke as the objector 
v.) Catherine Knee spoke as the agent 
vi.) Cllr Tim Barton spoke on behalf of Hemyock Parish Council 
vii.) Cllr S J Clist spoke as the Ward Member 
viii.) The following late information was reported: 

 
3 further letters of objection have been received reiterating previous 
comments made with the addition of: 

 

 outbuilding is made of concrete block and only clad in timber, not 
constructed of timber 

 Building is not more than 4 years old or immune from enforcement action 
as it wasn’t completed until July 2017 

 inaccuracies on plans in terms of location of exiting window on rear and 
height of building and decking 

 concern re use as separate dwelling 

 noise and disturbance from use of building 

 Overbearing and loss of privacy 
 

1 further letter has been supplied by a planning agent acting on behalf of the 
applicant and summarised as follows: 
 

 building to be used ancillary to dwelling and controlled by condition  

 outbuildings are commonly used for additional ancillary accommodation 
and with drainage such as that proposed 

 building is 22m away from rear elevation of neighbouring dwellings. 21m is 
commonly held to be a reasonable distance to prevent overlooking from 
back-to-back 2 storey dwellings. Outbuilding is only single storey 

 majority of decking can be provided under permitted development rights. 
Building is not permitted development but this does not make it 
unacceptable – it just means that formal grant of planning permission is 
required 

 additional planting could be provided if required 

 no impact on wider AONB as limited to domestic garden area 
 

 
c) Application 20/01560/HOUSE - Retention of raised decking area and 

associated fence at 9 Millway Gardens, Bradninch, Exeter. 
 

The Area Team Leader outlined the application by way of a presentation highlighting 
the site location plan, proposed plans, layout, current development and adjoining 
properties. 
 
The officer informed members that because of the height of the decking it would not 
be permitted development and that the proposal was to reduce the depth of the 
current decking. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

Page 116



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 118 

 The views of the applicant who found it disappointing that the application had 
come to committee, that he had voluntarily reduced the size of the 
development and that permitted development allowed a 3 meter extension 
 
 

It was therefore 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
Planning permission be refused as recommended by the Head of Planning, Economy 
and Regeneration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr F W Letch and seconded by Cllr G Barnell) 
 
Reason for the decision -  As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) John Myhill spoke as the applicant 
ii.) The following late information was reported: 

 
The first part of the report refers to no.11 Millway Close, this is incorrect and 
should refer to 9 Millway Gardens.  

 
d) Application 18/01814/MFUL - Change of use of agricultural land for the 

siting of 3 holiday lodges and alterations to existing access at Land at 
NGR 299526 113232, Crown Hill, Halberton. 

 
The Area Team Leader outlined the application by way of a presentation and 
highlighted the site location, block plan, elevations, site plan, access and 
photographs of the site including the canal embankment. 
 
She explained that swhen the application was originally submittee, it was for 6 
holiday lodges over the whole site but that the application  had been revsed and 
reduced to 3 holiday lodges on land furthest away from the canal. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The response from the Historic Environmental team regarding prehistoric 
funerary and how damage to archaeological and artefactual deposits could be 
mitigated 

 The process of making available an up to date register of the names of all 
occupiers to the Local Planning Authority and how this could be monitored 

 The likelihood of holiday makers being hit by stray golf balls 

 The views of Members that the condition 6 did not include a construction plan 
to stop mud on the road 

 Concerns of Members that the site could be occupied all year round 

 The Parish Council’s concerns with regard to non-agricultural development in 
green space, development within the curtilage of the canal, lack of accessible 
footpaths and danger from stray golf balls 

 Concerns of members over the use of the current field access for the access 
to the holiday lodges 

Page 117



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 119 

 Concerns of members that the proposal would lead to ribbon development and 
coalescence of villages  

 The views of the Ward Member who was concerned with access to footpaths, 
it was not compliant to Policy DM22 and that there would be more activity on 
the road 

 
It was therefore: 
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
Members were minded to refuse the application and therefore wished to defer the 
application for an implications report to consider the proposed reasons for refusal 
that of: 
 
1) Insufficient justification has been provided to demonstrate that a countryside 
location is appropriate and necessary for this development, contrary to policy 
DM22 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
2) The proposal would result in additional pedestrians seeking to use the main 
road to access the canal and other facilities to the detriment of public safety and 
contrary to policy S1 and DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
3) The location of the 3 holiday units adjacent to the main road and within the 
setting of the Grand Western Canal Conservation Area has an adverse impact on 
the character and appearance of the area, contrary to policy DM22(a) and DM25 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
 
(Proposed by Cllr B G J Warren and seconded by Cllr Mrs C P Daw) 
 
Reason for decision – no decision was made, but deferred for an implications 
report. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe requested that her vote against the decision be 
recorded 

ii.) Cllr R F Radford spoke as Ward Member 
iii.) A proposal in line with the officer recommendation was not supported 
iv.) The following late information was reported: 

 
2 further letters of objection have been received reiterating previous 
comments made: 

 

 golf club requests that if the application is approved it should be subject to 
a condition requiring upper paddock to be fenced off and only used for 
grazing or that a sum of money is paid by the applicant to enable to golf 
club to make alterations  to the 2nd tee, fairway and green (IN THIS 
REPSECT, MEMBERS ATTENTION IS DRAWN TO CONDITION 8) 

 Removal of 3 of the units doesn’t overcome objection relating to 
development in the open countryside. 
 

e) Application 20/01874/FULL - Erection of a dwelling at Firway End, 
George Hill, Crediton. 

 

Page 118



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 120 

The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation 
highlighting the site location plan, aerial photographs, existing and proposed site 
layout, proposed elevations and photographs of the site. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the agent who stated that the small bungalow proposed would fit 
in well with the site, the new entrance would provide safer access and the 
design was not out of character for the area 

 That Crediton Town Council had supported the application 

 The views of the Ward Member who stated the application fitted nicely with the 
area, the change of access was welcomed, it was an idea site which would 
suit people who did not want a large garden 

 Consideration of the members as to whether the 2 metre boundary fence had 
planning permission 

 
It was therefore 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
Planning permission be granted and delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Planning, Economy and Regeneration to provide a set of conditions with regard to: 
 

 Surface Water 

 Drainage 

 Boundary treatments 

 Permitted development rights 
 

Reason for the Decision - The application for the erection of a dwelling is 
considered to be supportable in policy terms. The use of the land for the provision of 
a new dwelling is considered to be supportable in accordance with policy S1. The 
design of the scheme is considered to be acceptable and in keeping with surrounding 
properties in the area. The development would provide an appropriate level of 
parking and achieve a safe access onto the public highway in accordance with DM3. 
On this basis it is considered that planning permission can be granted, subject to 
conditions, in accordance with the development plan. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr F W Letch made a declaration in accordance with the Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters as he was Crediton 
Town Mayor and he had sat on the Town Council Planning Committee which 
had discussed the application, but had not voted; 

ii.) Cllr R J Dolley declared a  personal interest as he knew the agent 
iii.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe and C J Eginton requested that their vote against the 

decision be recorded 
 
 

f) Application 20/01789/FULL - Change of use of hall solely for use by 
holiday makers to public use at Buildings at NGR 294446 120596, Duvale 
Priory, Bampton. 
 

Page 119



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 121 

 
The Principal Planning Officer addressed the public questions: 
 

 Condition 3 was exactly how it was worded by the inspector and that allowed 
the development to be used as a function hall for occupiers of the holiday 
accommodation up to 130 maximum at any one time. The proposal was to 
allow up to 30 members of the public not using the accommodation to use the 
building in the same was as the 130. 

 Other venues locally has been noted but there was a smaller function room on 
the site which had approved use to accommodate 30 members of the public 
for functions 

 Conditions could be enforced by the enforcement team, environmental 
protection unit and the licensing team can alter the licence if there were 
repeated problems on the site 

 The venue being close to water was not relevant to the application and sound 
limits were conditioned  

 It was not known if the building had been independently inspected but there 
were conditions previously imposed on the level of sound 

 The fact that the property was situated in the Exe Valley did not increase noise 
levels as the levels are conditioned 

 If the 6 new properties had not experienced any issues since 2013 it showed 
that the applicant was complying with the strict conditions and they were 
working 

 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation 
highlighting site plan, existing plans, elevations, photographs of the building, holiday 
accommodation, entrance drive and the existing access. 
 
The officer explained that there had been no objections from the Highways Authority 
or Environmental Health and that there was a condition that the smaller function 
room could not be used in conjunction with the larger venue. 
 
He explained that this was not an expansion of the site or facilities but it allowed 30 
members of the public to hold a function in the larger building rather than the smaller 
one and that permission was already in place for 130 to use the larger building if they 
were staying in the holiday accommodation. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 That the site was in the open countryside 

 The views of the objector who stated that there had been not issues with noise 
since the conditions had been imposed in 2013 but was concerned that 
allowing the public on site would cause significant noise and that this was 
unenforceable 

 The views of the Parish Council who stated concerns with regard to excessive 
noise, the building was not suitable for the purpose and that conditions could 
not be enforced 

 The views of the Ward Member who felt that the application would allow 
issues prior to conditions being imposed in 2013 to return and that there were 
numerous village halls within the area which could accommodate members of 
the public. That the applicants had, so far, complied with the Inspectors 
conditions. 

Page 120



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 122 

 Members concerns with power cuts 

 Members concerns that 30 members of the public would cause more harm 
using the hall than 130 holiday makers who were staying on the site 

 Members concerns with regard to excessive vehicle movements and noise 
from banging car doors when the public were leaving the site 

 Members concerns that compliance with policy DM22 of the Local Plan had 
not been justified 

 
It was therefore: 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
Members were minded to refuse the application and therefore wished to defer the 
application for an implications report to consider the proposed reasons for refusal 
that of: 
 
Impact of the proposed development on local amenity, particularly due to noise 
associated with increased vehicle movements by members of the public travelling to 
and from the site. 
 
The proposed use of the premises as a function room for public use by up to 30 
people, and not solely for use by holiday makers, is deemed to be unacceptable and 
likely to cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of local residents living within the 
Exe Valley and the enjoyment of their homes late at night. In particular, there is a 
potential for increased noise and disturbance as a result of increased levels of traffic, 
associated with members of the public travelling to and from the site, who are not 
guests at the existing on site holiday accommodation. The suggested controls are not 
considered to overcome or remove or adequately control the noise and disturbance 
to the area arising from the use of the premises as a function room for public use and 
as such would be contrary to policies DM1, DM4 and DM22 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013-2033. 
 
 
(Proposed by Cllr S J Clist and seconded by Cllr R Dolley) 
 
Reason for decision – No decision was made, the item was deferred for an 
implications report. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she knew Cllr Knowles 
from Stoodleigh Parish Council 

ii.) Cllrs S J Clist, Mrs C P Daw, E J Berry and R F Radford made declarations in 
accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors dealing with 
planning matters as they had received correspondence from objectors 

iii.) Cllr R J Dolley declared a personal interest as he knew Cllr Knowles from 
Stoodleigh Parish Council and had visited the site 

iv.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe requested that her vote against the decision be 
recorded 

v.) Chris Winter spoke as the objector 
vi.) Cllr Will Knowles spoke on behalf of Stoodleigh Parish Council 
vii.) Cllr R L Stanley spoke as Ward Member 

Page 121



 

Planning Committee – 10 March 2021 123 

 
 
 

139 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION (5.17.35)  
 
The Committee AGREED that the following major applications be brought before the 
Committee: 
 

 21/00222/MFUL  - Erection of a retail foodstore with associated parking, 
access, servicing and landscaping - Playing Field at NGR 284091 100385 
Commercial Road Lords, Meadow Industrial Estate, Crediton Devon 

 21/00128/MFUL Erection of 86 dwellings to include public open space, 
landscape planting, pedestrian, cycle and vehicular links; and associated 
infrastructure - Land at NGR 298634 113714 (Braid Park), Uplowman Road, 
Tiverton Devon 

 21/00072/MARM Reserved Matters for the erection of up to 105 dwellings, 
associated landscaping, public open space and allotments together with 
vehicle and pedestrian access from Siskin Chase and pedestrian access from 
Colebrooke Lane, following Outline approval 19/01839/MOUT - Land at NGR 
301216 106714 (West Of Siskin Chase) Colebrooke Lane, Cullompton Devon 

 
 

140 APPEAL DECISIONS (5.24.02)  
 
The Committee had before it and NOTED a list of appeal decisions * providing 
information on the outcome of recent planning appeals.                         
 
Note: *List previously circulated; copy attached to minutes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.59 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 122



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 124 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 31 March 2021 at 
10.30 am 
 
Present   
Councillors 
 

Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman) 
G Barnell, E J Berry, Mrs C P Daw, 
L J Cruwys, C J Eginton, S J Clist, 
F W Letch, D J Knowles, R F Radford and 
B G J Warren 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) 
 

R M Deed 
 

Present  
Officers:  
 

Eileen Paterson (Development Management 
Manager), Jake Choules (Planning 
Assistant), Sally Gabriel (Member Services 
Manager) and Carole Oliphant (Member 
Services Officer) 
 

 
141 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (04.08)  

 
There were no apologies or substitute Members. 
 

142 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (04.18)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 
 

143 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (04.32)  
 
Cllr R F Radford declared a personal interest as the some of the applicants  were 
related to him. In the circumstances he stated that it would be difficult to justify that 
his decision was not influenced by this, and as such was choosing to not participate 
in the debate or vote on the decision and would leave the meeting, which he then did. 
 

144 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS (06.19)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th February were agreed as a true record. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th March remained in draft and were not 
approved until specific questions submitted by Members were addressed. 
 

145 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (08.20)  
 
All the questions for the meeting referred to Item 7 (the construction of Ground 
Mounted Solar PV Panels at land at NGR 303437 103555 East of Langford Mill and 
Tye Farm, Langford). 

Page 123



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 125 

 
Mrs Jan Jones asked if the committee if they had carried out a site visit and secondly 
why has the description of the proposed development missed the most important 
aspect of the proposal, namely the sheer size of the development plus 4 miles of 
security fences and CCTVs going against the Council’s supplementary planning 
document which states that this area has a high sensitivity to solar development to 
over 37 acres. The panels will come from China, hardly carbon neutral and there will 
be a considerable amount of infrastructure contained in unsightly containers and a 
battery substation occupying over 1 acre of land. Is there an agenda to keep this 
industrial nature of this proposed solar installation from the members of the 
committee? Do the committee realise that part of the site is in flood zones 2 and 3 
which has a medium to high probability of flooding. Do they believe that all of this 
infrastructure and new drainage ditches and swales will not affect downstream 
flooding. Photos have been submitted to show the effect of the flooding on the 
Plymtree Road and the weak bridge over the River Weaver, why are these not 
mentioned in the officer’s report? Finally, can I ask, if this application is approved, 
can you honestly tell me if this huge solar installation is worth the destruction of 152 
acres (60 ha) of our beautiful Devonshire countryside, for the sake of a minute 0.01% 
of electricity in the UK. 
 
Mr Mike Jones asked are the members of the committee aware that there will be 
considerable cumulative impact with adjacent solar farms and that the landscape of 
this part of Devon will become an industrialised grey solar farm landscape. Are you 
also aware that there are proposals for another solar farm a Clyst Hydon which at its 
nearest point would only be 1.2 km from this one, no doubt they will end up 
connected at some time in the future? Page 21 of the officer report states that there 
were 136 letters of representation and that only 36 were objections, this is wrong. 
There were 126 objections letters, one of which was subsequently withdrawn, in fact 
there were 125 objection letters, there was also a petition submitted with around 70 
signatures which conveniently wasn’t mentioned. The objection that was withdrawn 
was done so following a payoff to the person involved which I reported to the 
Planning officer. Given that the 125 objection letters contained a lot of detailed 
evidence, why in a 36 page report has their content be diminished to half a page of 
bullet points which has ignored much of the valid evidence, why has all this evidence 
been conveniently ignored by the officer. 
 
Mrs Mandy Willis stated that she and her husband lived at 5 Langford Green 
Cottages and asked whether members of the committee were aware that the 
proposal is directly adjacent to the boundaries of residential properties including hers. 
This is severely detrimental to the value of these properties and to the enjoyment of 
our back gardens and what is currently beautiful rural views, notwithstanding the 
glare and noise affecting the same residents some of whom are night shift workers, 
we would question the strength in boundary hedges to 3 metres in height to even be 
sufficient. Why have some residents properties in Langford Green namely numbers 
6-8 been considered and therefore have no panels in the fields bordering their 
gardens and yet the next field along is deemed acceptable to have panels directly 
against our property boundaries. Considerable mention is also made in the agenda 
document with regard to the Grade II listed property at Langford Court by both 
Historic England and the Conservation officer. During the planning process for the 
renovations to our cottage, at Number 5, during 2017 the Conservation Officer 
rejected our plans stating that these properties were considered important unlisted 
assets as a group. We would ask that on this basis there are clearly grounds that and 

Page 124



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 126 

I quote the proposal would result in registrable harm to the significance and setting of 
these 8 cottages as well as Langford Court previously considered to be important 
unlisted assets as a group. We would strongly urge members of the committee to 
consider that this field should be removed from the proposal entirely should it be 
accepted. 
 
Mr Martin Willis asked if the members of the committee were aware of the flooding 
experienced by the residents of Langford Green at the end of their gardens directly 
adjacent to the field proposed to contain these panels. I ask you to refer to the photos 
and video evidence previously submitted for your view and consideration. For our 
concerns that further development in the adjacent field to our property will further 
exacerbate this issue, we strongly urge the members of the committee to consider 
that this field should be removed from the proposal entirely. 
 
Mr Smith asked is the committee are aware of the detrimental proposal on the 
landscape and neighbours residential amenity and other factors remain constant for 
the lifetime of the solar farm for at least 2 generations whilst the insignificant benefit 
of electricity generation to the grid is an inverse proportion to the demand. For 
example the highest output will only happen at midday in high summer at a time of 
lowest demand, conversely, there will be no output whatsoever at night and 
extremely low output on cold winter days when demand is at its greatest. To make it 
clear, are you aware of any perceived benefit that is far outweighed by the detriment 
of the project. Given that the proposed solar farm would be located in an area 
deemed to be unsuitable for large solar farms and on a flood plain, are the members 
of the committee aware that if this proposal is permitted, a precedent would have 
been set, that the rest of Mid Devon will be considered by developers to be suitable 
for a range solar farms and it will be open season for developers. 
 
Mr Matthews stated that we are told that the capacity of the solar farm will be limited 
to exactly 49.9 megawatts which raises suspicions from myself. We are told that the 
battery storage facility will consist of battery units housed in shipping containers plus 
storage containers and a inverter cabin. What I am unable to find in this information 
is the capacity of battery storage facility, can someone tell me what the total storage 
capacity of the batteries will be limited to in megawatt hours and if not why has this 
crucial detail been omitted from the documents. As we should all know by now, this is 
not a typical solar installation, it is one of the largest in Devon, if not in the UK, it 
covers over 150 acres of farmland and has 4 miles of boundaries and is 1 mile in 
length. This land as we know is sensitive to wildlife habitats and will be seen from 
miles around, not to mention the key point that it is already prone to flooding. Given 
that such an installation will be in place for the next 40 years, who or what body will 
be responsible to ensure that all these unique points around boundary management 
and wildlife protection, flood mitigation etc will adhered to and who exactly will be 
responsible to deliver on these unique commitments over the next 40 years and what 
would be the consequences be should any of these commitments not be adhered to, 
especially with regard to flooding control, wildlife habitat, preservation and boundary 
management. I would also like to know who would be responsible in 40 years’ time 
for the deconstruction and safe disposal of 110,000 panels, what assurances would 
be in place. 
 
David Withstanley, asked how is the Council going to guarantee that if you grant 
planning permission for the solar farm, all the equipment will be removed after 40 

Page 125



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 127 

years and the land will be cleaned up and restored to full agricultural use, what would 
happen if the owner goes bust? 
 
Mr Harwood raised concerns with regard to the size of the proposed site about 150 
acres and 17 fields, over a mile long. Are the committee not concerned about the 
super size of the proposed site and if approved will it just set a precedent or indeed a 
further precedent, gradually turning the whole area into one gigantic solar farm 
stretching for miles and is that not more of a strategic question, not just the adding of 
one after the other fairly close to each other. 
 
Claire Fry asked whether the committee were aware that solar panels contain many 
toxic substances such as cadmium. With over 110,000 panels many of them will 
inevitably degrade or become damaged over a period of 40 years, how will these 
toxic substances be prevented from escaping and contaminating the soil and water 
courses? 
 
Cora Winterson stated that I believe the plan was to graze sheep under the solar 
panels, the flora would inevitably change over the time due to the lack of sunlight and 
the change of use of the land, how feasible would this be in the long term? How 
would weed control be managed, as this is a very large area to be managed and the 
spraying of the weeds would enter the watercourse? Have the developers revised a 
detailed and realistic forecast of what the solar farm is likely to generate under the 
different conditions and if so what model has this been based on and if the solar farm 
was to be approved, what would its ongoing energy contribution and efficiency be, 
and would that be public knowledge? 
 
Sally Matthews stated that it is reported that the Environment Agency’s consideration 
is that a solar installation should be considered as essential infrastructure, however 
the Environment Agency has no expertise or authority in this area; whereas the 
relevant authority, the National Infrastructure Commission has not declared solar 
installations to be essential infrastructure. Why therefore has the report taken the 
position that the solar installation is essential infrastructure? 
 
Heather Wheeler stated that the applicant has made biodiversity enhancement a 
major selling point, why then is it not a formal condition of approval that the 
biodiversity management plan includes for example the following: fire ground 
preparation by means of deep digging, avoidance or minimal use of herbicides and 
most importantly the prior appointment of involvement throughout of an experienced 
habitat restoration ecologist as recommended by Devon Wildlife Trust? 
 
Mr Gill stated that East Devon District Council will shortly be considering planning for 
another 158 acre site within 1.2 km of the proposed site at Langford, I am not sure 
how joined up you are with East Devon but it seems now that the 2 wards are going 
to be surrounded by solar panels, so if you are not aware, I would like to make you 
aware of that. Do any members of the committee live in sight of the area and I would 
ask them what their position would be if it were to be in their back garden. What 
value land has this been assessed as, as it is being cultivated at the present time, 
there is nature, deer, munch jacks and roe, as well as rabbits etc, so there is going to 
be a direct rural impact to our countryside in what is going to be a 4 mile by 1 mile 
swath of solar panels, there is also another solar farm just at Westcott. What 
guarantees can you give, for when they reverse this process? If this is granted, you 
should not underestimate the impact on the local community of having what would 

Page 126



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 128 

eventually be 4 miles of fencing and look like HM prison, with a load of containers 
inside it. Why are we even considering putting this into greenbelt land and not into 
brown belt land. 
 
Mr Sykes stated that we have almost a perfect storm as residents in this area of the 
fablink at Broadclyst and the surge in capacity of the grid, the ever falling solar costs 
and that these were not aware of at the time when the main plans were put together 
for East and Mid Devon and in fact these are constantly evolving. My concern is that 
the greenfield sites are those that are the most profitable for the developers to install 
solar installations and with the increase in capacity and the decrease in solar costs, 
the profitability is only going to increase as is the temptation to build on land to make 
the most of opportunities that are available to them. We need to step back and take a 
look at this at a more macro level rather than an individual swath of 49.9 megawatt 
applications that will completely change the nature of Mid and East Devon and I think 
that this needs to be considered at a high level. There will be ongoing disruption to 
the community and the small roads and lanes that make their way through it with 
regard to the erection of these schemes one by one, after another. There will also be 
a loss of jobs, there will be construction jobs, but these will be people coming from 
outside the area who just travel around working on solar installations, there will be a 
loss of permanent farming jobs replaced by solar panels. The sites will sit here for 40 
years, there will be a loss of farming expertise, generations will be taken out from 
farming and when the panels are restored to their pre-agricultural use, who will farm 
this land? 
 
 

146 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (35.24)  
 
The Chairman reminded Members that the next meeting of the Planning Committee 
would be held on 14th April 2021. 
 

147 APPLICATION 19/01679/MFUL - CONSTRUCTION OF GROUND MOUNTED 
SOLAR PV PANELS TO GENERATE UP TO 49.9MW (SITE AREA 60.78 ha) AND 
BATTERY STORAGE FACILITY TOGETHER WITH ALL ASSOCIATED WORKS, 
EQUIPMENT AND NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE - LAND AT NGR 303437 
103555 - EAST OF LANGFORD MILL AND TYE FARM, LANGFORD.  
 
The Committee  had before it a report of the head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration regarding the above. 
 
The Development Management Manager outlined the contents of the report by way 
of a presentation which highlighted the site boundary, site layout, photographs of the 
approximate site extent, current viewpoints and photomontage views. 
 
The officer stated that the site would consist of 91k solar panels and described the 
orientation of the panels. She informed Members that there were 3 access points and 
that during construction of the site there would be 6 daily deliveries to the site which 
would unload at Tye Farm and the materials taken over the weight restricted bridge 
by smaller vehicles. 
 
She explained that an area in the middle of the site would not have any solar panels 
after discussions with the Environment Agency regarding the risk of flooding. The 
application stated that sheep would continue to graze on the site and that screening 

Page 127



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 129 

of up to 3 metres in height would be provided at the south west of the site to shield 
neighbouring properties. 
 
The officer then provided the following responses to questions from members of the 
public: 
 

 No site visit had taken place due to the pandemic restrictions 

 The flood zoning had been mentioned in the report 

 The Environmental Agency were statutory consultees 

 Advice had been sought with regard to the flood risk from the Environment 
Agency and the LFA 

 The farmland would not be destroyed and the land would still be used for 
farming in some form 

 Council policy was to summarise objections in reports but the full submissions 
were available to view on the website 

 Property values were not a material consideration 

 Glare from the panels would be dealt with by landscaping 

 There had been no discussion about other properties or sites 

 It was not within the remit of the Planning Authority to remove parts of the site 
from the application 

 Developments in technology had seen solar farm lifespans increase to 40 
years 

 The application included battery storage so that power could be released into 
the network at peak times 

 The total storage capacity of the battery units were not known to planning 
officers 

 The developer and operator were responsible for the biodiversity plan 

 The developer was responsible for the removal of the equipment after 40 
years 

 Conditions had been included to enforce the removal of the equipment after 
40 years 

 There was no precedent, each application had to be determined on its own 
merits 

 Solar panels were predominately glass and silica and if they failed would be 
replaced by the operator 

 The Grazing of sheep under the panels was feasible and a biodiversity plan 
had been submitted by the applicant with regard to the control of weeds on the 
site 

 The National Infrastructure Group had not been involved in the application 

 The biodiversity plan stated there would be an ecologist on site during 
construction  

 Minimal use of pesticides could be conditioned 

 Loss of agricultural land was mentioned in the report however the site was not 
prime agricultural land 

 At the end of 40 years all equipment must be removed and the land returned 
for agricultural use 

 There were not sufficient brownfield sites to accommodate the size of the 
development proposed 

 Officers had acknowledged that the proposed solar panels would change the 
view of the landscape and the Local Planning Authority would need to 
determine if this was acceptable 

Page 128



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 130 

 The owners would continue to farm the land 
 
The officer then provided responses to questions asked by Members: 
 

 Officers felt the conditions were feasible and could be enforced 

 Bradninch and Cullompton Town Council’s had objected to the application in 
their latest submissions 

 The impact of solar glare would be mitigated by landscaping 

 The applicant could lodge an application to extend the lifetime of the site 
beyond 40 years and this would need to be determined on it’s merits at the 
time 

 It was possible that as technology developed that there would be an increase 
in applications to extend the lifespan of solar developments 

 There was no evidence that solar panels caused any additional harm to 
human health than domestic appliances 

 There was a biodiversity management plan and the applicant was developing 
a skylark habitat 

 Screening had been completed and the Environmental Agency’s response 
had been provided  

 No Environmental Impact Assessment had been completed  

 The applicant had considered habitat regulations in biodiversity in the 
application 

 The agricultural land on the site was predominately a mixture of Grades 3b, 4 
and 5 which ranged from moderate to poor quality 

 Officers had considered the noise generated from the operation of the panels 
and not the effect of heavy rain falling on them 

 The Highways Authority advice that the access should be in sound bound 
material for the first 20 metres had been noted 

 The collection of business rates was not relevant to the application 

 The development would bring jobs into the District and would allow the 
Council to support carbon neutrality 

 The Conservation Officer and Historic England’s comments that the 
development would result in considerable harm were still valid and the report 
offered a balanced view but it was down to Members to decide what weight to 
attribute to them 

 
Consideration was then given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that this would be the largest solar farm 
in Devon and possibly the country. The proposed capacity of 49.4MW was a 
ploy by the developer to avoid scrutiny and a decision by the Secretary of 
State for installations over 50MW. Solar panels were not essential 
infrastructure and that the development offered no benefit to the people of 
district and there would be no emission reductions 

 The views of the agent who stated that they had a proven track record in 
capital investments and that the development would provide substantial 
benefits. They had secured an agreement to export all power to the national 
grid and the UK was legally obliged to be carbon neutral by 2050. The 
development would meet the demands of 30k homes across Mid Devon and 
provide a reduction of 20k tonnes of carbon annually. The development was 

Page 129



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 131 

using the lowest grade of agricultural land and they had addressed the 
concerns of the local community and businesses 

 Members views that they were not in a position to make a decision because 
there were many questions that had not been answered 

 The amount of conditions proposed and whether these could be enforced 

 The negative visual impact of the development 

 Sheep could graze under the panels but native deer could not 

 Members concerns with making a strategic decision without being able to 
further question the evidence provided 

 The unknown impact of deconstruction of the site in 40 years time and the 
impact on ancient trees 

 Concerns that there was no clear idea of the green credentials of solar panels 
and that new technologies were being developed which could make them 
redundant in a relatively short time 

 Further information was required on the biodiversity plan, impact on ancient 
trees and the tree management plan 

 The Management Plan did not give confidence to Members and the ability of 
the Council to enforce it 

 Members views that the application had already been going on for 16 months 
and could not be determined without a physical site visit by Committee 
 

 
RESOLVED that the application be deferred for a Full Committee site visit to be 
undertaken and returned to committee accordingly with further information to come 
forward within a report to include the environmental impact of the application, details 
of the biodiversity plan, land management, mitigation of flood risk and the shielding of 
the site.  Members were also requested to inform the Development Management 
Manager of any further information they would like included in the additional report by 
Friday 9th April 2021. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr C J Eginton and seconded by Cllr L J Cruwys) 
 
Reason for the decision – For Members to be comfortable that they had enough 
information to be able to make an informed decision on the application 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe, G Barnell, E J Berry, Mrs C P Daw, L J Cruwys, C J 
Eginon, S J Clist, F W Letch, D J Knowles and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had received correspondence from 
objectors 

ii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as one of the objectors 
was known to her 

iii.) Cllr B G J Warren declared a personal interest as one of the objectors was 
known to him 

iv.) Dr Bratby spoke as the objector 
v.) James Walker spoke as the agent 
vi.) The following late information was reported: 
 
The first comment from Cullompton Town Council is dated 25th October 2019 
 

Page 130



 

Planning Committee – 31 March 2021 132 

Proposed amendments to Conditions if approved: 
 
Condition 4 – First line to read 
 
Within 3 months of the solar array permanently ceasing to be used …….. 
 
Condition 10 to read 
 
No development shall take place until off site highway condition surveys have been 
undertaken and the details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in liaison with the Local Highway Authority. 
 
Condition 20 – First line to read 
 
Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Environmental Plan 
…….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 12.37 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 133 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 14 April 2021 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors 
 

Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman) 
G Barnell, Mrs C P Daw, L J Cruwys, 
C J Eginton, S J Clist, F W Letch, 
D J Knowles, R F Radford and 
B G J Warren 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

E J Berry 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) 
 

R M Deed and W Burke 
 

Present  
Officers:  
 

Eileen Paterson (Development Management 
Manager), Maria De Leiburne (Legal 
Services Team Leader), Angharad Williams 
(Area Team Leader), John Millar (Principal 
Planning Officer), Oliver Dorrell (Planning 
Officer), Christie McCombe (Area Planning 
Officer), Sally Gabriel (Member Services 
Manager) and Carole Oliphant (Member 
Services Officer) 
 

 
 
 

148 HRH, THE PRINCE PHILIP DUKE OF EDINBURGH AND COUNCILLOR 
GLANMOR HUGHES  
 
A  minute silence took place in memory of HRH, The Prince Philip Duke of Edinburgh 
and Councillor Glanmor Hughes at the start of the meeting. 
 

149 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.03.25)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr E J Berry. 
 

150 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.03.38)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 

151 REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.03.45)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *Remote Meetings Protocol. 
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the Minutes 
 

Page 133



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 134 

152 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.03.59)  
 
Mr Winter referring to Item 12 (Duvale Barton) on the agenda stated that - the input 
from Environmental Health seems very hypothetical to me and ignores the real 
problem we have with sound historically and the issues we have had with 
enforcement historically and really bears no weight whatsoever in my opinion. 
Obviously they only apply if passed.  
 
Yesterday, I did send into the committee a satellite picture of the barn in question, 
this rather begs the question why the planning conditions set to have doors and 
windows shut with the large agricultural vents in the roof to allow livestock to breath - 
this seems rather strange. This also begs the question as to what survey the 
planning department performed on the building.  I didn’t have to leave my office to 
discover this. 
 
Mrs Jacobs referring to Item 1 on the Plans List (Tumbling Fields) stated that she 
lived at 12 Tumbling Fields and asked whether the committee had been to visit the 
site where they are proposing to build these houses at the access to the back of my 
property up into Hamblin Close, where there are disabled people, OAPs and small 
children and lots of traffic already going in on this site and also on Tumbling Fields 
Lane where there is also a lot of traffic, particularly agricultural traffic coming down. I 
am very frightened about my personal safety and the safety of small children and a 
very disabled young man who lives on that site. 
 
Miss Chee Wong representing Angela Clyburn again referring to Item 1 on the Plans 
List stated that there is a report that there are a number of legally protected species 
on the site, so surely it is illegal for the applicant to deliberately go out of their way to 
disturb and disrupt breeding and frighten species away. Surely the requirements 
protecting these are already being broken, they should be protected under the 
statutory obligations in the species protection law. We need to be sure that if this 
building goes ahead that the wildlife will be adequately protected without further 
disruption to their habitat and their breeding. 
 
Mr Baker referring to Item 12 on the agenda stated: can the committee explain why 
both agricultural buildings/barns were not demolished when 6 units were granted 
permission on the condition that both barns were to be taken down and removed 
from the site. This I believe to be a failure by the enforcement team. Can the 
committee confirm if any members have visited the site to see if the barns are fit for 
purpose, if not please show the members the photos that you have had presented to 
you. Can the committee explain why the planning officer is concentrating on door 
slamming and movements when the issue has always been the loud music and the 
noise of people escalating from the function hall? 
 
Gill Hookins again referring to Item 12 stated that she was the immediate neighbour 
to Duvale Priory, how does the committee perceive the inherent risk of overturning 
the planning condition for residents use only stipulated by the Planning Inspector on 
appeal 7 years ago and does the committee think that the volume of noise from the 
music at a function for 30 be any different from the volume of noise for a function for 
130. I don’t think so. 
 
Cllr William Knowles again referring to item 12 stated: I am a little confused in the 
minutes about the emphasis on car door slamming, when actually it is the noise of 

Page 134



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 135 

the music. I was also going to ask about whether someone had been to inspect the 
site from the relevant authorities and if not, is it not possible that rather than make a 
decision today, if there is still a lot of indecision, would it not be possible to defer the 
decision until more information is brought to hand. 
 
Mrs Pratley referring to item 1 on the Plans List asked the following questions –  
 
Question 1 
The Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-33 adopted by full Council on 9 July 2019 
and the Tiverton Central Area Local Plan Review map shows the land the subject of 
this planning application is outside the settlement area. Furthermore, Local Plan 
Policy S10 states amongst its principles retention of “the green setting provided by 
the steep open hillsides, particularly to the west and south of the town”. This 
development is precisely the type of development which Policy S10 was written to 
protect. I believe the recommendation to approve fails to have due regard to the 
strategic context of this site on the setting and settlement limit to the south of the 
town. Will the committee please explain why breaching the settlement limit and 
failure to demonstrate adherence to Policy S10 are not material considerations in 
determining this application? 
Policy S10 is not relevant as outside settlement boundary. As such Policy S14 
applies where affordable housing is allowed and rural exceptions policy. The 
application is therefore subject to separate policy consideration as outlined in the 
report. 
 
Question 2 
The Mid Devon Local Plan makes provision for 17% more housing than required 
presumably based on the current settlement limit of the town. 74% of the required 
dwellings for Tiverton have either been completed or committed with still 12 years of 
the Local Plan to run. The Local Plan states “a significant proportion of the towns 
outstanding housing needs will be delivered as part of the Eastern Urban Extension”. 
Will the committee please explain why it believes that the delivery of the proposed 22 
dwellings on this recreational space cannot be delivered elsewhere within the 
existing settlement limit? 
 
Question 3 
The land subject to the application is described as allotments and by officers as 
‘former MDDC allotments”. The land is therefore subject to the provisions of Planning 
Policy DM26 (previously DM24). Will the committee please confirm that an 
assessment of need prior to disposal was undertaken, when the site disposal took 
place and who approved the disposal? Will the committee further confirm whether or 
not the allotments were afforded protection under the 1925 Allotment Act which 
requires permission from the Secretary of State before development can take place? 
 
Question 4 
Three years after the tragedy of Grenfell Tower it seems hard to comprehend that fire 
safety is not a material consideration when considering a planning application. The 
officer report and recommendation to approve makes no comment on the concerns 
raised by Housing Standards regarding the fire safety design of some plots. This is of 
concern if, for no other reason, because 4 dwellings will be wheel chair accessible. If 
minded to approve the application, will the committee consider it being a condition of 
approval that full plans will have building control approval? 

Page 135



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 136 

Not inside the control of planning. Building regulations are a separate requirement 
which will happen without the need for condition. 
 
Comley Payne again referring to Item 12 on the agenda stated: can the committee 
please explain why the case officer recommends approval for this application as in 
2013, Members voted 8-1 to refuse. The appeal inspectorate clearly ruled it to be 
used solely for residents only and no other use. Now in 2021, the majority of 
members again voted to refuse this application on issues raised. One being that the 
volume of music noise would be the same for 30 people as it would for 130 and I feel 
that this application is no more than an attempt to revert back to times prior to the 
2014 appeal decision, understandably, the committee is aware of the cost of appeal, 
but I am assured that this will have no bearing on the decision, is this correct? 
 
Cllr Steve Bush (Tiverton Town Council) referring to item 1 on the Plans List stated: 
that he was speaking on behalf of various constituents from Cranmore and beyond. I 
believe that the development of this site is not required and not desirable in any way. 
The Local Plan was adopted only last year allocating sufficient sites and even 
contingency sites to provide ample housing to meet the statutory requirements of the 
authority. This development would be outside the boundary of the settlement agreed 
on the plan and I can see no compelling reason to extend that boundary in order to 
grant permission. Furthermore, I believe that it contradicts many of the strategic 
policies laid out in that plan as it does not assist in conserving or enhancing the area 
adjacent to the town centre. In the plan, it states clearly the strategic aims for 
countryside, environment and heritage assets, to conserve and enhance for the 
retention of attractive countryside providing for biodiversity. This site sits alongside a 
particularly attractive and well used footpath which links the town centre to Deymans 
Hill and also Canal Hill. The hedgerows and trees within and surrounding the site 
have an abundance of biodiversity including 9 species of bat and dormice, both of 
which are protected by the Habitats Directive of 1992. This authority has also 
pledged to retain the views of green hill sites in Tiverton Town centre and this 
development will impinge upon the views from Phoenix Lane and Fore Street, further 
eating into the views of green countryside enjoyed by residents and visitors alike. 
The Local Plan also promises that the market town will be protected and enhance 
their environmental assets including their character, biodiversity, heritage, setting and 
air quality. The loss on this site of mature trees, the habitat of protected species, 
biodiversity and attractive countryside is not in keeping with this particular policy. 
When viewed in the round with all due material considerations taken into account, I 
firmly believe that there are no grounds for granting this development planning 
permission and I would urge the committee to reject the application. 
 
Miss Chee Wong again referring to Item 1 on the Plans List stated: I wanted to point 
out that there are many natural springs along that hill side, that already collects water 
in the area and if there is any more building there, this will cause further flooding 
problems in the area or be diverted to existing properties, which is a danger both 
environmentally and with walking, it is a hazard and will freeze during bad weather, 
as there are slopes there, it really isn’t ideal. The sight lines are bad coming out of 
that entrance from where they propose to have the entrance to the building site and it 
is just going to be an increased hazard all round. 
 
The Chairman stated that answers to questions would be given when the item as 
debated. 
 

Page 136



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 137 

153 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.23.29)  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 10th and 31st March were agreed as a true 
record subject to some typographical amendments (minute no 138) and the inclusion 
of correspondence received from applicants and developers for application 
19/01679/MFUL (minute no 147). 
 

154 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.26.47)  
 
The Chairman announced that this was the last Planning Committee for the 
Development Management Manager, Eileen Paterson, who was leaving the 
authority. She thanked her for her time and service to the Planning Committee. 
 

155 DEFERRALS FROM THE PLANS LIST (0.28.04)  
 
There were no deferrals from the plans list. 
 

156 THE PLANS LIST (0.28.16)  
 
The Committee considered the applications in the *Plans List.  
 
Note: *List previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

a) Application 20/01263/MFUL - Erection of 22 dwellings with parking, 
landscaping and construction of new access at Allotments, Tumbling 
Field Lane, Tiverton. 

 
The Area Team Leader outlined the application by way of a presentation detailing the 
site location plan, site layout, accommodation and tenure, elevations and 
photographs of the site and the access. 
 
In response to questions asked by the public she explained: 
 

 Members had not undertaken a site visit due to current Covid 19 restrictions 

 The Highways Authority had been consulted and had confirmed there had 
been no incidents since 2015 and that the visibility splay was adequate and 
recommended a number of conditions 

 Protected species are afforded protection under The Habitat and Species 
Regulations and therefore it is the applicant’s responsibility as much as the 
LPA to ensure protection. An Ecological Survey had been commissioned and 
harm had also been mitigated by way of conditions to specifically rehome 
reptiles prior to any development. The application was supported by an 
Ecological Survey which advised that if scrub land was to be removed on site 
then a European Protected Species Licence would be required. The 
competent authority was therefore required to undertake 3 tests of the 
development  

 Condition 18 protected ecology 

 Policy S10 was not considered relevant as the site was outside of the 
settlement boundary 

 Policy S14 was relevant and allowed development outside of the settlement if 
it provided predominately affordable housing 

Page 137



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 138 

 The site was considered as it was a rural exception site which allowed 
development of affordable housing in the open countryside 

 The previous allotments were privately owned and rented to Tiverton Town 
Council. As they were not owned by MDDC they were not classed as statutory 
allotments 

 Planners did not have control over internal finishes to ensure fire safety 

 Four units would be wheelchair accessible 

 Building regulations would be required but that was a post decision process 

 The report detailed why Planning Officers had considered the development to 
be appropriate 

 The footpath would remain in place and if diverted in the future would need 
permission from Devon County 

 The site was in flood zone 1 with the access only being within flood zone 3 
and conditions stipulated full drainage details be provided to alleviate risk of 
flooding 

 The Highways Authority stated the visibility was adequate for the site 
 
The Area Team Leader confirmed that the Planning Committee at its meeting of 9th 
September 2020 agreed to bring the application to Committee if officers were minded 
to approve the application. 
 
The officer explained that the application was for 22 units, 12 of which would be 
affordable housing. The applicant had submitted a viability assessment and the Local 
Planning Authority had commissioned an independent assessment which had agreed 
with the proposal. 
 
The S106 agreement would outline who could accommodate the units and applicants 
would need to apply through legal channels to prove local links to the area. 
 
The development was not in the conservation area and officers felt that the 
affordable housing benefit outweighed the loss of pastureland. 
 
She provided responses to Members questions as follows: 
 

 The LPA only had limited powers to ensure that the developers was complying 
with the Ecological Survey but it was conditioned in such a manner that as 
many reptiles as possible would be captured and rehomed before 
development commenced 

 Members were being asked to consider an application for 22 units, 12 of which 
were to be affordable. The applicant was an affordable housing provider who 
had secured funding for 12 of the units to be affordable. Nevertheless, the 
applicant was hopeful to provide all 22 units affordable 

 The access road would be adopted by the Highways Authority and would be 
maintained by them 

 40 car parking spaces would be provided 

 There was a condition to undertake further assessment if any contaminated 
land was apparent on the site and this was a means of protection for future 
occupants 

 If bat roosts had been found on the site it was a legal requirement that the 
bats be rehomed before development. The site did not have bat roosts but 

Page 138



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 139 

harm the potential for harm to bats was mitigated by the imposition of a 
condition to control outside lighting 

 The Housing Needs Survey was up to date and had indicated that there was a 
real need for affordable housing in the area 

 The affordable housing consisted of 7 social rented units and 5 shared 
ownership and would be available to only those with a local connection 

 Policy S10 did not apply as the site was outside of the settlement and its 
excellent connectivity to the town would encourage walking which was 
favourable 

 Policy S14 was specific for sites which were outside of the settlement and as 
the site was outside of the settlement boundary Policy S14 did apply 

 Safety was part of the planning process and therefore the Area Team Leader 
had undertaken a site visit to view the access for herself. The Highways 
Authority had not insisted on a footpath but if they had, this could have been 
considered 

 The landscaping management plan would be for the lifetime of the 
development and the condition could be amended to specify this if necessary 

 Planning Officers felt that the development complied with Policy DM5 and that 
the parking arrangements were adequate. Electric car charging points were 
provided 

 The flood evacuation plan was for pedestrians not vehicles 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that because the LPA did not have a 
Tree Officer it was not known if there were TPO’s on the site. Any houses 
would disturb the wildlife and more houses would mean more dogs on the 
footpath. The applicants reputation for dealing with tenants was not good 

 The views of the agent who stated that their client was an affordable housing 
company which was actively investing in Mid Devon. They were seeking to 
secure funding from Homes England to make all 22 units affordable. The 
proposal had been refined during discussions, the site was in flood zone 1 and 
was in a sustainable location 

 The views of the Town Council who strongly objected to the proposal as it was 
over development in a green area. The land was wet and not suitable for 
development 

 The views of a Ward Member who strongly objected to the proposal as it was 
an historic site on the Exe Valley Way and was outside of the settlement area. 
The LPA already had 5 sites allocated to affordable housing and felt that this 
site was not required. That there were deer, badgers and foxes on the site and 
emergency vehicles would have difficulty servicing the development. That 
there was a disabled resident living in accommodation next to the site who 
would have difficulty entering and exiting because of the development 

 The views of another Ward Member who stated that any development would 
lead to ribbon development down Deymans Hill and that he was surprised that 
no archaeological material had been found on the site. That the area was 
already cramped with parking and the entrance was in flood zone 3 

 The views of Members who felt that Policy DM6 did not apply and that Policy 
S10 was more appropriate as it was designed to protect the site 

 The views of Members who felt that Planning Officers were not interpreting 
Local Plan Policies as they were designed 

Page 139



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 140 

 The views of Members who felt that the Housing Needs Survey did not 
demonstrate that affordable housing was needed in this area 

 The views of Members who felt that Councillors were entitled to interpret Local 
Plan Policies as they saw fit 

 The views of Members that the development was contrary to Policy DM5 

 The views of Members who felt that there was not a need for affordable 
housing on this site  

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that:   
 
Members were minded to refuse the application and therefore wished to defer the 
application for an implications report to consider the proposed reasons for refusal 
that of: 
 
Policy DM6 was not applicable, Policy S10 was applicable and the Housing Needs 
Survey was inadequate. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr G Barnell and seconded by Cllr S J Clist) 
 
Reason for the decision: No decision was made as the application was deferred for 
an implications report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe, G Barnell, Mrs C P Daw, L J Cruwys, C J Eginton, S J 
Clist, F W Letch, D J Knowles, R F Radford and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had received correspondence from 
objectors 

ii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe requested that her vote against the decision be 
recorded 

iii.) Mr Frost spoke as the objector 
iv.) Miss Stoate spoke as the agent 
v.) Cllr W Burke spoke on behalf of Tiverton Town Council 
vi.) Cllrs Mrs C P Daw and L J Cruwys spoke as Ward Members 
vii.) The following late information was reported: 
 

A few questions have been put forward by members and include the following: 
 
Query regarding the application call in. 
It is understood that at the Committee meeting of the 9th September 2020, Cllr 
Daw considered the application should go to the planning committee for 
consideration given the public comments that had been received. This was 
agreed by Cllr Cruwys and Knowles. 
 
A site visit was discussed, but given the constraints of lockdown has not been 
able to take place. 
 
The weight concerned with draft Tiverton Neighbourhood Plan 
The plan is still within draft format, and as such, only limited weight can be 
applied to it. 
 

Page 140



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 141 

Report or advice from Emergency planners regarding flood risk and access 
The updated Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 17 Feb confirms that emergency 
vehicles will still be able to reach site is access road (in FZ3) is flooded during 
1:100 year event (plus climate change). In addition the evacuation routes plan 
SK009 also submitted 17 Feb shows alternative pedestrian and vehicular 
access routes for emergency vehicles. 
 
Limited detail of Waste Audit Statement 
The Officer would advise that there is a comprehensive planning conditions 
associated with the application that requires this further detail to be submitted. 
Currently within the report as Condition 7. An email from the 18th February to 
the Case Officer confirms that DCC are content for the information to be given 
by condition. 
 
Housing Standards and Layout 
The concerns raised by the Housing Officer relate to internal changes within 
the properties. Planning permission is not required for internal alterations and 
as such there is limited control on this aspect. 
Nevertheless, the majority of plots allow for safe fire access, and that of Plot 
15 has a means of fire escape via the first floor window. In any case, this 
would be a matter for building regulations. 
 
Completion of s106 Heads of Terms 
There is currently a recommendation to approve the application subject to the 
conditions and the signing of the s106 with the proposed HOT. As such, this 
has not yet been completed and will not be until there is a resolution to grant 
consent. 
 
Other matters 
The applicant has requested amendments to the pre-commencement 
conditions and has sought removal of proposed condition 4. This stated: 
“No materials shall be brought onto any part of the site or any development 
commenced, until the developer has erected tree protective fencing around all 
trees, hedges or shrubs to be retained on that part of the site, in accordance 
with a plan that shall previously have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The fencing shall be in accordance 
with Figure 2 of BS 5837 2012. The developer shall maintain such fences to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority until all development has been 
completed. The level of the land within the fenced areas shall not be altered 
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. No materials 
shall be stored within the fenced area, nor shall trenches for service runs or 
any other excavations take place within the fenced area except by written 
permission of the Local Planning Authority.” 
 
The officer has agreed to remove this condition subject to it being incorporated 
into Condition 18 which currently reads: 
The development shall not commence until full details of hard and soft 
landscape works, including an implementation and management plan, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Details of soft landscape works shall include [retention of any existing trees 
and hedges; finished levels/contours; planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 

Page 141



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 142 

establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate. The hard landscape works shall include 
means of enclosure; boundary and surface treatments; vehicle and 
pedestrian/cyclist circulation; proposed and existing service lines. All works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
implementation plan and thereafter maintained in accordance with the 
approved management plan. 
 
It is proposed that this condition is amended to include tree protection and 
would read as follows: 
The development shall not commence until full details of hard and soft 
landscape works, including an implementation and management plan, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Details of soft landscape works shall include retention of any existing trees 
and hedges; finished levels/contours; planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate. All retained trees and hedgerows will be 
protected by tree protective fencing, in accordance with a plan that shall 
previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The fencing shall be in accordance with Figure 2 of BS 
5837 2012. The developer shall maintain such fences to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority until all development has been completed. 
 
The hard landscape works shall include means of enclosure; boundary and 
surface treatments; vehicle and pedestrian/cyclist circulation; proposed and 
existing service lines. All works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and the implementation plan and thereafter maintained in 
accordance with the approved management plan. 
 
The applicant has also sought to remove condition 3 concerning the need for a 
reptile mitigations strategy. The Officer however has explained why this is 
necessary and the applicant has now agreed. 
 
Ecology matters 
The application is supported by an Ecological Survey which advises that if 
scrub land is to be removed on site then a European Protected Species 
Licence will be required. The Competent Authority is therefore required to 
undertake 3 tests of the development and this is appended to this update 
sheet. 
 
Objections 
A further 16 objections have been received since the report was written 
including a signed petition. 
Emails have also been forwarded on from Cllr Chris Daw concerning a further 
8 objections to the scheme. 
The objections received raise concerns regarding the following: 
Wheel chair access and roads. – the objector has asked for their objections to 
be read out. 
Wildlife protection 
Climate change and carbon emissions 

Page 142



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 143 

Concern over increased flooding 
Parking and traffic 
Concern over increased noise in the area. 
Overlooking 
Loss of farmland 
Loss of the public walkway 
Overdevelopment 
Setting of a president for more development 
Lack of affordable housing proposed 
Impact on visual amenity 
Loss of the allotments 
 
Some questions have been raised in respect to the development from one of 
the objectors: 
Question 1 
The Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-33 adopted by full Council on 9 July 
2019 and the Tiverton Central Area Local Plan Review map shows the land 
the subject of this planning application is outside the settlement area. 
Furthermore, Local Plan Policy S10 states amongst its principles retention of 
“the green setting provided by the steep open hillsides, particularly to the west 
and south of the town”. This development is precisely the type of development 
which Policy S10 was written to protect. I believe the recommendation to 
approve fails to have due regard to the strategic context of this site on the 
setting and settlement limit to the south of the town. Will the committee please 
explain why breaching the settlement limit and failure to demonstrate 
adherence to Policy S10 are not material considerations in determining this 
application? 
 
Policy S10 is not relevant as outside settlement boundary. As such Policy S14 
applies where affordable housing is allowed and rural exceptions policy. The 
application is therefore subject to separate policy consideration as outlined in 
the report. 
 
Question 2 
The Mid Devon Local Plan makes provision for 17% more housing than 
required presumably based on the current settlement limit of the town. 74% of 
the required dwellings for Tiverton have either been completed or committed 
with still 12 years of the Local Plan to run. The Local Plan states “a significant 
proportion of the towns outstanding housing needs will be delivered as part of 
the Eastern Urban Extension”. Will the committee please explain why it 
believes that the delivery of the proposed 22 dwellings on this recreational 
space cannot be delivered elsewhere within the existing settlement limit? 
As above. 
 
Question 3 
The land subject to the application is described as allotments and by officers 
as ‘former MDDC allotments”. The land is therefore subject to the provisions of 
Planning Policy DM26 (previously DM24). Will the committee please confirm 
that an assessment of need prior to disposal was undertaken, when the site 
disposal took place and who approved the disposal? Will the committee further 
confirm whether or not the allotments were afforded protection under the 1925 

Page 143



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 144 

Allotment Act which requires permission from the Secretary of State before 
development can take place? 
 
Email from Officer to Chris Daw 12th April: 
Dear Cllr Daw 
Thank you for your email. The site in question formally contained allotments. 
The allotments were privately owned and rented to the Tiverton Town Council. 
In March 2006 the Town Council was given 12 months’ notice to vacate the 
site. The site was vacated in March 2007. 
The site is not ever known to be under the ownership or control of Mid Devon 
District Council. 
On the basis of the above officers do not consider that the former use of the 
site as allotments to fall within the definition of ‘statutory allotments’ and 
therefore an assessment under the Policy DM24 of the MDDC Local Plan is 
not required for the purposes of this planning application 
Question 4 
Three years after the tragedy of Grenfell Tower it seems hard to comprehend 
that fire safety is not a material consideration when considering a planning 
application. The officer report and recommendation to approve makes no 
comment on the concerns raised by Housing Standards regarding the fire 
safety design of some plots. This is of concern if, for no other reason, because 
4 dwellings will be wheel chair accessible. If minded to approve the 
application, will the committee consider it being a condition of approval that full 
plans will have building control approval? 
Not inside the control of planning. Building regulations are a separate 
requirement which will happen without the need for condition. 
 
NHS 
It is considered on this occasion that the NHS contribution sought on the 
application does not meet the CIL 122 test given the nature of the 
development proposed. 
 
It is a rural exception site where affordable housing is largely proposed and 
there is already a Viability Appraisal submitted with the scheme which 
suggests it is already bordering on unviable even with the 12 affordable units 
proposed. Furthermore, any S106 agreement would require only those with a 
local connection to apply for the affordable housing, which means there will 
not be a significant addition on the NHS capacity in the area. 
 
Please also see the Ecological Assessment (attached) 
 
Letter has been received from PCL Planning Ltd on behalf of Rotolok 
(Holdings) Ltd.- planning officer’s response to points raised: 
 
The owner/occupier of Tumbling Field House was sent a standard notification 
letter on 8 August 2020.  The access to the property is also past the entrance 
to the site where the site notice was posted. 
 
In respect of point 4.  Historic England (HE) require consultation on 
development likely to affect the site of a scheduled monument (Cranmore 
Castle).  DCC Historic Environment Team were consulted and on 20 October 

Page 144



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 145 

advised that proposed development will not have impact on known heritage 
assets.  On this basis a consultation with HE was not deemed necessary.   
 
In respect of the points 1, 2, 3, 5 & 6 these are addressed in the report.   
 
In respect of the ownership query the Council do not hold those records; it 
would be for the developer to advise. 

 
157 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION (2.51.07)  

 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a list * of major applications with no 
decision.   
 
It was AGREED that:  
 

a) 21/00454/MARM Reserved Matters (appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) for 166 dwellings with the provision of public open space, vehicular 
and pedestrian access, landscaping, drainage and related infrastructure and 
engineering works following Outline approval 14/00881/MOUT be brought 
before the committee for determination and that a site visit take place if the 
officers recommendation was one of approval. 

b) 21/00374/MARM Reserved Matters in respect of (appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale) for infrastructure associated with initial phases of 
development, following Outline approval 14/00881/MOUT be brought before 
the committee for determination and that a site visit take place if the officers 
recommendation was one of approval. 

 
Note: *List previously circulated; copy attached to the Minutes 
 

158 APPEAL DECISIONS (02.58.03)  
 
The Committee had before it and NOTED a list of appeal decisions * providing 
information on the outcome of recent planning appeals.                 
 
Note: *List previously circulated; copy attached to minutes. 
 

159 APPLICATION 18/01814/MFUL  - CHANGE OF USE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND 
FOR THE SITING OF 3 HOLIDAY LODGES AND ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING 
ACCESS - LAND AT NGR 299526 113232, CROWN HILL, HALBERTON (3.01.59)  
 
At the Planning Committee meeting on 10th March 2021, Members advised that they 
were minded to refuse the above application and invited an implications report for 
further consideration. The Committee therefore had before it a *report of the Head of 
Planning, Economy and Regeneration setting out the implications of refusal. 
 
The Development Management Manager reminded Members of the application by 
way of a presentation outlining the site location, site plan, block plan, elevations, 
internal plans and photographs of the site and access. 
 
The officer explained to Members that Planning Officers had looked at the initial 
reasons for refusal agreed by the Committee and had felt that reasons 2 and 3 could 
not be supported on appeal. 

Page 145



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 146 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 Members views that the Local Plan Policies should be encouraging people to 
walk 

 The Highways Authority had looked at the safety aspect of the application and 
had reported that they were satisfied with the proposals 
 

It was therefore RESOLVED that: the application be refused on the following 
grounds: 
 

1. In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the submitted ‘business plan’ 
and ‘marketing strategy’ do not provide sufficient detail to adequately 
demonstrate that there is a market for the holiday lodges in this location nor 
demonstrate its financial viability. To this end, the Local Planning Authority are 
not satisfied that a countryside location is appropriate and necessary for this 
development, contrary to policies S14 and DM22 of the adopted Mid Devon 
Local Plan 2013-2033 

2. The proposal would result in additional pedestrians seeking to use the main 
road due to the lack of a pedestrian footpath in order to access the canal and 
other facilities. This would be to the detriment of public safety thereby contrary 
to policies S1 and DM1 of the adopted Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 

 
(Proposed by Cllr B G J Warren and seconded by Cllr Mrs C P Daw) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe requested that her vote against the decision be 
recorded 

ii.) The following late information was reported: 
 

Letter received from a member of the public advising: 
 
‘When this comes to the Committee for final decision, following the March 11th 
deferral, can you please correct the implication in the original officers' report 
that users of the lodges would be able to safely use the bus to get into 
Tiverton. 
 
There is no bus stop between Halberton Court Farm shop (half a mile to the 
East), and the top of Post Hill (half a mile to the West).  Buses passing at 40 
mph along this road with no verge would therefore add to the hazard of access 
to the site, not mitigate it.’ 
          

 
 
 

160 APPLICATION 20/01789/FULL - CHANGE OF USE OF HALL SOLELY FOR USE 
BY HOLIDAY MAKERS TO PUBLIC USE - BUILDINGS AT NGR 2944462 120596 
DUVALE PRIORY, BAMPTON (3.33.29)  
 

Page 146



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 147 

At the Planning Committee meeting on 10th March 2021, Members advised that they 
were minded to refuse the above application and invited an implications report for 
further consideration. The Committee therefore had before it a *report of the Head of 
Planning, Economy and Regeneration setting out the implications of refusal. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer reminded the Committee of the application by way of a 
presentation which highlighted the existing plans, elevations, photographs of the site, 
existing buildings and the driveway. 
 
He provided the following answers to questions asked by the public: 
 

 Environmental Health Officers had considered the previous history of the site 

 Conditions did cover ventilation in the original consent and the vents had been 
sealed 

 No sound surveys had been carried out but the level of noise had been 
conditioned 

 The venue had been operating for a number of years and no noise complaints 
had been received 

 Applications in 1989 and 1992 which required the removal of the buildings had 
been superseded by the appeal in 2013 which granted them permission 

 All aspects of noise were debated at the previous committee meeting and car 
noise was stated as the reason for refusal 

 There were two permitted uses already on site 

 Members could decide to defer for further information if required 

 Members needed to make clear and informed decisions for refusal and the 
implications of the costs of an appeal were a consideration 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 Members views that enforcement of noise issues was impossible in the 
evenings 

 Enforcement and flooding were separate issues from the application in front of 
Members 

 Members views that members of the public would make more noise than 
holidaymakers on site 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: the application be refused on the following 
grounds: 
 
 

1. The proposed use of the premises as a function room for public use by up to 
30 people, and not solely for use by holiday makers, is deemed to be 
unacceptable and likely to cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of local 
residents living within the Exe Valley and the enjoyment of their homes late at 
night. In particular, there is a potential for increased noise and disturbance as 
a result of increased levels of traffic, associated with members of the public 
travelling to and from the site, who are not guests at the existing on site 
holiday accommodation. The suggested controls are not considered to 
overcome or remove or adequately control the noise and disturbance to the 
area arising from the use of the premises as a function room for public use 
and as such would be contrary to policies DM1, DM4 and DM22 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 

Page 147



 

Planning Committee – 14 April 2021 148 

 
(Proposed by Cllr S J Clist and seconded by Cllr G Barnell) 
 
Reason for the decision:  as set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she knew Cllr Knowles 
from Stoodleigh Parish Council 

ii.) Cllrs S J Clist, Mrs C P Daw, E J Berry and R F Radford made declarations in 
accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors dealing with 
planning matters as they had received correspondence from objectors 

iii.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe and D J Knowles requested that their vote against the 
decision be recorded 

iv.) Cllrs L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw and R F Radford requested that their 
abstention from voting was recorded 

v.) The proposer and seconder and Cllr C Eginton confirmed that they would 
defend the decision at appeal if necessary 

vi.) The following late information was reported: 
 

1. Duvale Priory already has planning permission for 30 people to come on 
and off the site to attend functions/ yoga etc in our Small Function Room.  
 
2. The current planning application is exactly the same as we all already have 
but we wanted to  give people the option to have more space by using the 
main hall which is significantly larger, this to me seems extremely sensible 
given the current situation with the coronavirus and it’s likely hood for it to be 
around for many years.  
 
3. There would be NO change in any amount of traffic coming to and from the 
site that people are concerned about, we can already have 30 people coming 
in and out we are just requesting that they are able to use a different building. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 6.38 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 148



Chairman’s Annual Report – 2020/21 
Audit Committee 
 
When I saw that the agenda was so large this evening, I dutifully offered to leave off 
The Chairman’s Report, but Sarah was not having any of it. And on the subject of the 
Committee’s Clerk, I would like to personally thank Sarah Lees for the invaluable 
assistance she has provided me since I became Chairman. 
 
It would be fair to say that this has been an incredibly testing and difficult year due to 
the pandemic but everyone both Members and Officers have worked extremely hard 
to ensure things continued to run smoothly. 
   
2nd June 2020 
 
The first meeting of the Committee saw Cllr Bob Evans elected as Chair and Cllr 
Andy Wyer elected as Vice Chair.  
 
Business got underway with the noting of the first Performance and Risk report since 
Covid lockdown, giving a final outrun position for 2019/2020. The Internal Audit 
Annual Report for 2019/2020, Grant Thornton’s update due to Covid and the 
Chairman’s report were also noted. 
 
It was resolved that the revised Risk and Opportunity Management Policy be 
approved, as was the Internal Audit Plan for 2019/2020. 
 
 It was agreed to continue meetings on Tuesday evenings at 1730 hours. Under 
items for the next meeting, the committee requested that they receive the report 
going to cabinet on 11th June regarding 3RDL. 
 

23rd June 2020 
 
Special Meeting - 3 Rivers Development Ltd 
 
It was requested by the Cabinet that the committee review the reports and 
recommendations/actions presented to them on the 11th June and provide feedback. 
 
During Public Question Time, a member of the public asked a question about public 
exclusion and part II discussions. Another question was presented by Cllr Wilce. 
Answers were provided by the Deputy Chief Executive after the meeting and these 
were posted on the website for all to see. 
 
During the 3RDL Governance Review discussion, the Committee agreed to go into 
Part II. The Committee made a number of recommendations which would be put 
before the Cabinet. 
 

 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 13



11 August 2020 
 
During Public Question Time, a member of the public asked why the Committee 
went into Part II at the previous meeting, given that Grant Thornton discussed the 
recommendations in the open. He also asked if the Committee would be asking for 
actions to be taken in light of the £600,000 loss. The Chairman responded by 
explaining that the use of Part II was consistent across the Council and the 
Committee made the decision to hear the report in Part II due to the confidential 
information it contained. It was further explained that the financial loss and the 
consideration of it was confidential. 
 
The Chairman gave an update on the Devon Audit Partnership. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Climate Change attended the meeting and gave a short talk 
on how the Councils could make changes. 
 
A report from the Corporate Manager for Revenues and Benefits, regarding Covid 19 
grants was noted, as was, Performance and Risk, Grant Thornton Audit Findings 
2019/2020, and a letter of representation to Grant Thornton. 
 
It was resolved to approve the Annual Governance Statement for 2019/2020 and 
Corporate Governance Framework. Likewise the Annual Report and Accounts for 
2019/2020. 
 
Items for the next meeting included, Consideration of a Housing Infrastructure Fund 
as recommended by the Scrutiny Committee and to consider the risks in relation to 
‘phishing emails’ with the outlook email system. 
 

22nd September 2020 
 
After changes at Cabinet, Cllr Bob Evans stood down as Chairman to take on 
another role and you then elected me to take his place for which I thank you. I would 
also like to thank Bob for his work with this Committee in the past and his continued 
assistance to me, answering my many questions on taking over. 
 
During Chairman’s Announcements, the Chairman read out a response from the 
Chief Executive regarding a question raised at the previous meeting. This was with 
regard to 3 Rivers Development Ltd. 
 
A report from the Head of Planning with regard to the Housing Infrastructure Fund 
was duly noted, as were reports from Performance and Risk, the Progress Update 
on the Annual Governance Statement Action Plan, Internal Audit Assurance Options, 
Internal Audit Progress Report and the External Audit Progress Report and Sector 
Update.  
 

17th November 2020 
 

Page 150



During Public Question Time, the Chairman accepted two questions from Cllr Barnell 
with regard to 3 Rivers Development Ltd. 
 
How would the Committee exercise its responsibilities in future in respect of the 
ongoing risks associated with 3 Rivers Development Ltd? 
 
What will the roles of both the internal and external auditors in ensuring that any 
risks associated with the councils investments in and loans to 3RDL are effectively 
analysed and reported to the Committee? 
 
The chairman responded, explaining a report would be going to the December 
Cabinet meeting and full answers would be provided to members in due course. 
 
It was agreed that the Vice Chair would deputise for the Chairman at Devon Audit 
Partnership meetings if given enough advance warning. 
 
The Committee recommended to Cabinet that the draft Key Performance Indictors 
be approved under the Performance and Risk section. 
 
Progress Update on the Annual Governance Statement Action Plan, a briefing paper 
on the Redmond Review, the Internal Audit Progress Report and the External Audit 
Progress Report and Sector update were all noted by the Committee. 
 
 
26th January 2021 
   
During Public Question Time, a member of the public asked, 
Did the joint working group meeting of Scrutiny and Audit take place and if so, will 
the Chairman please report to the public, the outcomes from the discussions at that 
meeting? 
 
The Chairman responded at the time with ‘Yes’ then provided a fuller response 
during Chairman’s Announcements, whereby he stated that 15 members attended. 
Presentations were made and the opportunity for questions to be asked and the 
roles of Scrutiny and Audit were clarified.  
 
Cllr Alex White volunteered as the second representative from the Committee but 
only whilst his workload allowed during lockdown. 
 
The Committee recommended that the Corporate Recovery Policy be approved. It 
also approved the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy but asked for Strategy to come 
back to the next meeting for further consideration. 
 
The Committee heard a report on Grants and Local restrictions provided by the 
Corporate Manager of Revenues, Benefits and Recovery. 
 
Reports from Performance and Risk, Annual Governance Statement Action Plan 
update, Internal Audit Progress Report,  Annual Audit Letter from Grant Thornton 
and the External Audit Progress Report and Sector update were all noted. 
 

Page 151



Although I made mention earlier, I would like to thank the Members of the Audit 
Committee, the Officers who carry out their roles in the administration of this 
Committee or by providing regular reports to it and also the external agencies who 
also support us. 
  
  
  
  
  
Cllr Stuart Penny  
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
 
 

 

 

Page 152



Scrutiny outcomes for 2020/21 

 
Review of Customer Experience in MDDC (July 2020) 
Work has significantly progressed on the Committee’s recommendations: a business case 
is being drawn up for a new Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system; 
workshops are planned for Members; phone waiting times have improved; and a customer 
satisfaction survey has completed. Notably, the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny is 
planning to include this work in their 2021 ‘Scrutiny Frontiers’ publication.  
 
Menopause in the workplace: a review of support available in MDDC (Feb 2021) 
The recommendations made will impact on workplace culture, workplace policy and the 
workplace environment. A key outcome is to raise awareness and to normalise the issue, 
and we are grateful to the staff that spoke so openly to us. Already Local Authorities have 
expressed interest in our report and we have received some national media attention. 
 
Planning Enforcement (ongoing) 
Work is progressing on the review of planning enforcement. We received a large response 
to our All-Member call for information on cases, work continues in the coming months. 
 
Other outcomes include: 

 A session with Neil Parish, MP for Tiverton and Honiton. Mr Parish gave an 
overview of broadband problems; answered questions on agricultural issues and 
Members lobbied on issues relating to the transport from Anaerobic Digesters.  
 

 Members have discussed aspects of Three Rivers, including: the St George’s site; 
two call-ins on Cabinet decisions; and the 3RDL Business Plan. An informal joint 
briefing with the Audit Committee was held to consider roles for each Committee. 
 

 A review of the process and timelines for a Public Spaces Protection Order 
(PSPO), making recommendations to improve future processes; and ensure 
sufficient officer resource committed to actively enforcing it. 
 

 Consideration of the planning implications of 5G technology.  
 

 After a Scrutiny Committee recommendation, the Audit Committee reviewed the 
risks surrounding the Housing infrastructure fund. 
 

 The Committee will continue to ensure an impactful work programme, and 
alongside standing items will consider looking into: Anaerobic Digesters and 
biofuels; and Motion 564 on diversity and inclusion.  

Highlights 
Despite Covid 19, it has been a busy year, with many fruitful discussions and Committee 
recommendations that have made a real impact to the Council and the District, including:   

 14 public (virtual) meetings – with only one meeting cancelled due to Covid19 

 3 Working Groups: Customer Experience; Menopause; and Planning Enforcement 

 2 Working Group reports published, with all 12 recommendations accepted  

 2 Call-ins 

 15 public questions 

 Informal joint briefing with the Audit Committee on Three Rivers  

 Special meeting with Neil Parish, MP for Tiverton and Honiton. 

Page 153



Scrutiny Chairman's Annual Report 2020-21 
 

The first scrutiny meeting of the council's year, a virtual meeting, took place on 18th May. 
The first task was to elect a Vice Chairman and Cllr Andrew Moore was elected 
unanimously. The main agenda item was the annual report of the Cabinet Member for 
Working Environment and Support Services. Members asked questions about line 
manager intervention, sickness absence and support, and dealing with enquiries from 
residents with special needs. The Legal Services Team Leader also answered questions 
about s106 agreements, enforcement notices and anti-social behaviour injunctions.  
 
Our second meeting included a report from the Cabinet Member for Environment 
regarding corporate property and commercial assets. Members were pleased we would 
receive a list of all the responsible groups for hedges and cutting of verges. It was also 
pleasing to note that we had entered into a joint partnership with Exeter City Council which 
means we will be purchasing new vehicles at a much more advantageous price! 
Unfortunately electric vehicles are not practicable and also above our budget. It was 
encouraging to see that in these difficult times recycling is going well and the street scene 
group are tackling many of the problems in towns. We were all grateful for the staff's efforts 
in these areas!  
 
The Performance and Risk report from the Group Manager for Performance, Governance 
and Data Security covered all the Policy Development Groups, and Members questions 
focused on the future budget that would have to be reset in the autumn and the prospect 
of the Tiverton Town Centre Masterplan. Members were relieved to hear that section 106 
agreements would include more involvement of Ward Members and the relevant Parish 
and or Town Council. 
 
There is no doubt that if you want the public to take an interest in a Scrutiny meeting put 
5G on the agenda. So it was that on 22nd June there were many “virtual” attendees of our 
meeting and we had received 12 pages of questions. The agenda item was about the 
planning implications of installing 5G. The public questions, however, focused on the 
“health” issues of 5G which was not in the Committee’s remit to answer (although we 
noted their concerns). The Head of Planning Economy and Regeneration made it clear 
that MDDC has no control over the roll out of 5G, just the planning rules. It was pointed out 
that we are very much governed by the NPPF. 
 
The Leader presented us with the leader's report which highlighted the achievements and 
challenges of the past year. We also had the first report from the Cabinet portfolio holder 
for climate change. She highlighted the areas where MDDC has direct control and spoke 
of the cooperation with other, neighbouring authorities.  
 
After a brief discussion it was agreed to put the item on 3 Rivers Development Limited 
(3RDL) Governance Review into part two. The Committee discussed the findings and 
recommendations asked of it and made several other recommendations to go before 
Cabinet. 
 
In the July meeting, finance was the topic to open the meeting with the Cabinet Member's 
report to the Committee. All agreed that the finance officers had performed magnificently in 
difficult and uncertain times. The committee requested that the Cabinet Member for 
Finance return with detail as to how we are going to maintain a healthy financial position. 
 
Cllr Christina Daw presented the report of the Working Group on Customer Experience. 

Page 154



The report was praised by Members who agreed the six recommendations to Cabinet to 
improve MDDC's service to the public. 
 
The Committee noted the Community Safety Partnership report but highlighted its wish to 
receive update reports on the Devon Sexual Abuse and Rape Crisis Support services. It is 
under great pressure and has up to a nine month waiting list. 
 
The report on the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) was discussed. The 
recommendations to Cabinet were duly noted with a small addition but members were 
keen to highlight to Cabinet their concerns over democracy, the hierarchy of plans, 
infrastructure and its Exeter bias. 
 
The final item for discussion was to consider a funding report resulting from the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund. Members again had concerns about financial risk to the Council. For 
this reason it was recommended that the report be viewed by the Audit Committee. 
 
The first report of the August meeting, the Establishment Update, was given by the 
Corporate Manager for People, Governance and Waste. Sickness and illness rates seem 
to be improving and we noted a small increase in full-time equivalent employees. This was 
partly because of a downturn in the use of agency workers. It was pointed out that we had 
lost a few of our more senior officers who had been headhunted. We were informed that 
staff had responded very well to the new working arrangements caused by Covid-19.  
  
The Group Manager for Performance, Governance and Data Security gave us the 
performance and risk report, which she highlighted had been affected by the coronavirus 
measures that have had to be taken. For this reason some risk scores had increased but 
in general terms there were no areas to cause alarm. 
 
The final report on Section 106 governance was given by the Head of Planning and 
Regeneration who stressed that the Government is in the process of reassessing the 
whole planning process which could well affect section 106 contributions. Importantly, we 
agreed that Ward Members will be consulted on S106 agreements as well as Parish and 
Town Councils. We were also promised training for Parish and Town Councillors on S106 
which is due to commence after Easter. 
 
Following the recent changes in Cabinet, and that two members of the independent group 
had become ungrouped, the membership of the Scrutiny Committee for 14 September had 
a different look. One of the departing Committee members was the Vice-Chairman Cllr 
Andrew Moore. Cllr Christina Daw was elected as Scrutiny Committee Vice-Chairman. 
 
At Members Forum questions were raised about the projected losses incurred by 3RDL at 
the St George's site, and a wish to have access to the papers of the informal Cabinet 
meetings. The Monitoring Officer stated that she would provide Members with a written 
response which was also put in the public domain. 
 
Under Chairman's announcements I gave an update on the progress of the 
recommendations on customer experience. I was pleased to announce that work on a 
business case would commence soon, training with staff was going ahead slowly, the 
issues with a planning officer being available on the phone were being addressed and 
waiting times for customer services had reduced. 
  
The Group Manager for Development talked us through a report on planning enforcement 

Page 155



and then answered questions from Members who were concerned about resources and 
the speed of conclusion of enforcement items. As the Enforcement Policy is due for review 
the Committee agreed to set up a working group to look at causes for the number of 
complaints, delays and at workloads of enforcement officers and to recommend how to 
improve the service. 
 
The Committee also discussed the costs of public consultations. It was noted that most of 
these were statutory and costs varied greatly. Ironically the most costly consultation was 
non-statutory and concerned the Cullompton relief road. 
 
At the October meeting we had an update from the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property Services. He pointed out that like every area of activity of the Council housing 
had been greatly affected by coronavirus. Nevertheless it was pleasing to see a 
reasonable number of empty homes had been brought back into circulation and repairs of 
council houses was back on schedule. He was also able to report that the Council had a 
number of void properties that could be used in an emergency for temporarily housing 
people in a crisis. The next challenge could well be homelessness because of the change 
in a landlord's ability to expel tenants. The Cabinet Member was confident that MDDC 
would be able to rise to this challenge. 
 
This was followed by an update on the Street Scene Education and Enforcement Service. 
Members were pleased to see that in general terms fly tipping has improved but litter and 
dog fouling are still major problems. The Committee were concerned that the personnel 
resources were insufficient in these areas in particular dog fouling; no fixed penalties for 
dog fouling had been served this year although most members said that it was a major 
problem in their towns. The Cabinet Member for the Environment agreed that resources 
were a problem and so he supported Scrutiny Committee's suggestion that more money 
should be put aside in the forthcoming budget, in particular for education. 
 
The Committee discussed the St Georges site in Tiverton, which is being developed by 
3RDL. The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services and the Cabinet Member 
for Finance answered questions around timings, potential losses and the possibility of 
further loans to the company.  
 
At the November meeting, the Cabinet Member for Community Well Being informed us 
that our public health and regulatory service had been very active because of the Covid 
infectious disease work. Again, because of Covid, local authority inspections of food 
premises had been somewhat relaxed. One area of concern was ICT but we were 
informed that soon the team would be back to full capacity. Our leisure centres have had 
an up-and-down year because of lockdown. The Committee stressed liaison with parish 
and town councils with emergency planning. We were also keen to help public who had 
problems accessing online functions. 
 
The next major agenda item was the 3RDL report that had gone to Cabinet on 29 October. 
Consideration was given to a number of topics such as whether Cabinet had exceeded its 
authority and funding involved in the project. It was decided that we would set up an 
informal briefing between Audit and Scrutiny to consider our roles. 
 
The final agenda item concerned the viability of council owned commercial property. The 
Committee gave consideration to the income received for the properties owned by the 
council but as these are commercially sensitive they were dealt with in part two. 
The last meeting of 2020 was itself dominated by three important agenda items. Four 

Page 156



Members of Council had called in a decision made at the Cabinet meeting of 10 December 
which considered land at Post Hill in Tiverton. The call-in asked that the decisions about 
an allocation should be looked at again by Cabinet because it had not taken into account 
sufficiently the council's local plan concerning social housing. There was also a request 
that Cabinet look again at its decision on setting up a Teckal company. Two members of 
Cabinet were present to answer questions. After debate the two parts of the call-in were 
put to the Committee. The first recommendation concerning the allocation of the land was 
defeated, however the second item which asked Cabinet to look again at their decision on 
setting up a Teckal was passed with my casting vote. 
 
The next large item was an update from the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 
Regeneration. Members were interested in the town centre plans for Tiverton, Cullompton 
and Crediton, and were informed that the master plans for Tiverton and Cullompton were 
well on the way to completion and they were looking for consultants to bring forward the 
plan for Crediton. There were questions about planning performance and also section 106 
money. The Cabinet Member informed the Committee that records would be published on 
31 December 2020, and I was able to add that, following discussions with the relevant 
officer, the preceding years going back to 2015 would be published hopefully by the end of 
March. 
 
The Corporate Manager for Digital Transformation and Customer Engagement gave the 
Committee a verbal update on the Customer Experience Working Group's 
recommendations. They had already looked at two companies that supply telephone 
answering services as recommendation one was to investigate a new Customer 
Relationship Management system (CRM) and build a business case. She reported that 
training was also going ahead. She promised a further written update in June. 
 
The first gathering of 2021 was an informal briefing for Scrutiny and Audit Committees to 
get a clear idea of their roles in connection with 3RDL. The briefing was given by the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Property Services, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
the Director of Finance, Assets and Resources. The Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property Services “walked us through” the progress of the 32 recommendations made to 
the company and the Cabinet Member for Finance concentrated on the financial 
processes with checks and balances. It was resolved a clearer role for Audit would be 
beneficial. 
 
In the meeting of 18 January the first major item for discussion was the report by the 
Cabinet Member for Working Environment and Support Services. Questions were raised 
about the impact of Covid on staff morale, and absence. It was noted that there was a 
greater dependence on distance communication including digital payments. One area of 
concern was 40% increase in e-mails received which numbered 1.4 million. It was pointed 
out that this is not a particularly effective way of communicating as it often requires officers 
to go back over the e-mail to find out precisely what is in question. The Corporate Manager 
for Digital Transformation and Customer Engagement said that they would be looking at a 
more robust system with the new CRM system. 
 
The Director of Finance, Assets and Resources gave a brief overview of the budget 
position and the efforts being made to produce a balanced budget. There is still £400,000 
to be found, no small challenge.  
 
The Committee also received the annual report of compliments, comments and 
complaints. It was pleasing to see that even with the challenges of Covid compliments had 

Page 157



increased and complaints had diminished. 
 
The Committee discussed the 3RDL business plan. As the plan was not finished and 
would not be ready until the Cabinet meeting of 4 February it was agreed by the Chief 
Executive and the Leader that, following the Cabinet meeting the business plan would 
come to scrutiny for further discussion. 
 
The meeting of 15 February looked at the 3RDL business plan. Although this clearly ran 
the risk of straying into part two members were very careful with their questioning and all 
of the discussion remained in part one. Members questioned the likely finishing time for 
the St George's site and were concerned about marketing the site and other properties 
being built by the company. Members were also informed that all lending to 3RDL had 
come from short term lending from the Council’s reserves and was not directly from 
Council tax income.  
 
The Chair of the Governance Working Group gave a brief update to the Committee on the 
work of the group. The Group had met several times but other Members had not attended 
because of a failure to realise that in 2013 a motion had been carried to allow all Members 
to attend working groups. Members were still somewhat concerned that alternatives to the 
beefing up of scrutiny and creating another scrutiny group were not considered. Nor was 
the role of Cabinet. 
 
There was again some concern about the maps that had been sent out for the Public 
Spaces Protection Orders. These had been sent to town and parish clerks to be discussed 
at their council meetings. It was imperative that the protection order be put in place as 
quickly as possible to give the enforcement officers the right to “enforce”. 
 
Cllr Christina Daw introduced the Menopause Working Group report. It was pleasing to 
hear that officers and the unions were delighted with the recommendations. The 
Committee was also delighted when the Chief Executive was able to announce that he 
had read through the recommendations and could see no difficulty in their being 
implemented. 
 
On 22 February the Scrutiny Committee meeting was attended by Neil Parish MP who 
answered a range of questions from concerns about broadband, helping farmers after 
Brexit and considering the impact of Covid on the local economy. 
 
St David's Day saw us meet once again for an extraordinary meeting with just two major 
topics on the agenda. The first was a report on climate change. The Corporate Manager 
for Property, Leisure and Climate Change went through the report with some follow-up 
from the new portfolio holder, Cllr Colin Slade.  
 
The second important item was to consider the 3RDL business case for the nine houses at 
Bampton. As it was clear that most of this would be discussed in part two it was finally 
resolved that members would send me their questions for Cabinet and the 3RDL board, 
which would be answered and considered at Cabinet. 
 
In a year dominated by coronavirus, I would like to thank Officers for their hard work in 
particularly challenging times. In particular I would like to thank our Clerk, Carole Oliphant, 
and the Scrutiny Officer, Clare Robathan for their continued support. 
 
  

Page 158



Climate Change 
Throughout the year the PDG received regular updates on climate change and net zero activity 
within the Council. The PDG reviewed and approved the MDDC Climate Change Handbook and 
the Climate Change Strategy – looking at the various work streams and how they would be
tracked via the action plan. 

With the elevation of Cllr Elizabeth Wainwright to Cabinet Member for Climate Change, the PDG agreed in March that our Net 
Zero Working Group format should be amended. The PDG recommended that a Net Zero Advisory Group be formed that reports 
through the Environment PDG, and that comprises eight Members. The Advisory Group has met regularly and has held 
discussions on: active travel and how to progress walking and cycling in the District; car share schemes; the Culm Garden Village 
and the NZAG role within it; and the dedicated MDDC climate website.

Discussions throughout the year within the PDG have considered a range of issues in relation to climate change, including: 
installation of domestic solar panels on council houses; electric car charging points; tree planting schemes; and promotion of 
sustainable farming. 

In January the Group also considered the Interim Devon Carbon Plan. The Group put forward issues for consideration in the 
Council’s response to the plan, including: consideration of issues around Anaerobic Digesters; that costs need to be explained 
and affordability taken into consideration; and that there needs to be a bigger involvement with the farming community. 

Outcome: We continue to monitor progress on the Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, and receive regular updates on the 
activity of the Net Zero Advisory Group. A local farmer and cheese producer will address the Group from her perspective.  

Environment Policy Development Group Annual Report – 2020/21

P
age 159



Education and Enforcement policy – (March)
The Group considered various policies, and the need for new policies, to give powers 
to the Street Scene Education and Enforcement team. The Group raised questions as 
to the protection and safety of Enforcement Officers including consideration of Anti 
Stab Vests and Body Cameras. Notably, the Group recommended: that fixed penalty 
notices for fly tipping be increased from £200 to £400 and the powers to use CCTV 
footage be adopted to assist with fly tipping; that new powers set out in the Littering 
from Vehicles Regulations (Policy) 2018 be adopted; that changes to the Council 
Compulsory Recycling Policy be adopted; that the amended Abandoned Vehicle (Act) 
legislation be adopted which will enable Officers to investigate vehicles within the 
‘open air’; and that the Stray Dog Policy be updated.

Outcome: the recommendations of the PDG were agreed by the 
Cabinet. 

Connecting the Culm (September)
The Group discussed the Connecting the 
Culm Project, heard about the main 
themes of the project and how the co-
creation approach is empowering 
communities to take ownership, identify 
local issues and develop solutions. The 
project is looking at how resilient the 
area is to changes in the climate and the 
Group discussed how to involve schools, 
work with partner agencies, soil 
structures and flooding issues on low 
ground. 

Local flood risk management strategy (September)
The Group discussed the consultation on the updated Local Flood Risk Management Strategy for Devon. The Group looked at 
how the risk of flooding to property and infrastructure would be managed and reduced; how plans for a flood alleviation scheme 
could be developed and how communities could increase their resilience against flooding and the impact of climate change.  

The Group identified a number of issues to feed into the Council response, including: the need for the strategy to explain why 
Cullompton and the Culm Valley area had not been identified areas of flood risk; possible inappropriate developments on 
floodplains in the District; and water overflow onto farmers land and then the landowner being responsible if flooding occurred 
on local highways. 

P
age 160



Public Spaces Protection Order – Dogs

Over the course of the year the Group considered widening enforcement powers in order to deliver 
a cleaner and more sustainable environment across the District and to replace current dog control 
powers which were due to expire in October 2020. 

Early in the process (March) the Group agreed that the fixed penalty for breach of the order be set at the maximum level 
permitted of £100, and that authority be given to consult with members of the public to introduce a Public Spaces Protection 
Order (PSPO.

In October we held a special meeting of the PDG to discuss the PSPO, to hear the feedback received from the public consultation 
and to consider the revised PSPO to be made in response to the consultation.

After advice from the Legal Services Team on options available, the Group discussed the impact of not having a PSPO for a period
of time and that the PSPO must have considered all the responses to the consultation. The Group agreed that the Chairman and 
the Cabinet Member for the Environment would work with officers to bring forward a revised PSPO. The Group recommended 
that the PSPO be redrafted to take account of the consultation responses received before further public consultation on 
additional areas proposed, and a revised PSPO considered by the Environment PDG.

Outcome: in April the Cabinet agreed to set the fixed penalty at the maximum level permitted of £100 and to consult on a PSPO. 
After the Special Environment PDG meeting the Cabinet agreed the recommendation not to approve the PSPO, given the 
concerns regarding the maps and other misgivings of Members. The work on the PSPO is ongoing, the Environment PDG will 
review the Second Revised Draft PSPO in the coming months before a further consultation period in May/June, after which the 
responses will be prepared and sent to the Environment PDG and to the Cabinet for final approval of the PSPO.

P
age 161



Refuse Waste Options – (November)
The Group considered options for future 
Waste and Recycling collection arrangements 
and the need to increase recycling in the 
District. The Group discussed the benefits and 
pitfalls of moving to a three weekly residual 
waste collection, and recommended a trial to 
a limited number of households 
for a minimum of three months. 

Outcome: the Cabinet approved the PDG 
recommendation to initiate a trial for a three 
weekly residual waste collection in order to 
increase recycling in the District. Discussion is 
taking place about when the trial will begin.

Chairman’s words – Cllr Barry Warren
I am coming towards the end of my second year as Chair of this influential Group 
and it continues to be a pleasure. With Cabinet changes the member makeup of 
the committee has changed slightly and we have had to say farewell to some and 
a warm welcome to other members. We have continued to maintain a good team 
with our diverse political makeup and a broad spectrum of experience and 
interests. All our meetings have been virtual and we miss the close interaction of 

all being in the same room. Our more remote members probably do not 
miss the two hour round trip to Tiverton.  

The technology has been a challenge for some and our abysmal broadband in 
some areas has caused the odd frustrations. Despite this we have still done our bit 
and managed to enjoy some appropriate humour at time. The appearance of the 
occasional cat, dog or young child on screen during a meeting has all added to the 
rich tapestry and humanity of life.

We have been supported by a good team of officers who 
have had to change their own working practices by working 
from home in many cases and coping with home schooling 
and childcare. I have had emails from some at some very 
funny hours but they have kept the wheels in motion. Thank 
you all. A special thank you must be said to two officers in 
particular - Mrs Carole Oliphant as our Clerk for keeping us 
[especially me] in order and to the support Clare  
Robathan gives to us and again me in preparing this report. 

Resource and waste management strategy for Devon – (January)
The Group reviewed the Resource and Waste Management 
Strategy for Devon. The Group discussed: that the super aligned 
collection service is something the Council aspires to; where the 
dry waste is sent to; how East Devon District Council increased 
recycling rates; and how to increase communications to residents 
around recycling. The PDG then recommended that the Council 
approve the draft Resource and Waste Management Strategy and 
proceed to public consultation. 

P
age 162



Homes Policy Development Group 

 

Chairman’s Annual Report 2020/2021 

 

The aims and progress of the Homes Policy Development Group, like all other 
theatres of life have been stymied by the Covid Epidemic and its 
consequences; but where possible the Committee has tried to assist and 
improve. Progress on the future of the Council’s garages has been initiated 
with better use of assets a priority. 
 
The cutting and husbandry of grass verges and other verdant areas has also 
lead to much discussion and disparity of ideas; the working group for this 
thorny issue has striven hard for a solution to appease all views.  
The desire of our Committee plus and, many citizens of Mid Devon to assist 
with the Syrian Refugee Scheme were constrained by procedural and practical 
complications, good intentions being thwarted. 
 
Homelessness during the pandemic seemed to have abated somewhat, but a 
long with an undersupply of social accommodation is a long term cause of 
concern. 
 
Input from the General Public during the year was welcome; comment on 
finance and use Council’s funds demonstrating the ideals of open and fair 
governance. 
 
The efforts of every member on the Homes Committee have been appreciated, 
likewise the diligence and toil of all our officers; with special thanks to Sarah 
for her excellent guidance. 
 
The events of the last 12 months could not have been foreseen but the effects 
may endure for many years.  I fear more hard decisions lie ahead. 
 
Ron Dolley 
Chairman 
 

 

 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy Policy Development Group – 2020/2021 
Chairman’s Annual Report 

 
 
Overview 
 
Firstly, I would like to give my thanks and admiration for the work of Adrian Welsh 
and his Growth Economy & Delivery and Community Development Teams.   
 
They have been at the front line of the Covid pandemic for nearly a year now, 
administering over £40million in Business Grants Assistance helping the most needy 
in our District and much more.   
 
They along with all of our staff deserve our recognition, praise and gratitude. 
 
This last year has been catastrophic with regards to the impact of the pandemic and 
the implications of lockdown restrictions on the economy.  As Chair I felt that it was 
appropriate for the Policy Development Group to focus its attention on the 
emergency economic response to the COVID 19 pandemic.  This has taken priority 
over activities; however during 2020 the Group also received updates on a range of 
other strategic initiatives which will contribute towards economic recovery.  In 
summary during the course of the last year the Policy Development Group has 
considered a number of issues including: 
 

 regular reports providing updates on the emergency response measures and 

the distribution of businesses and community grants 

 regular updates on the ‘Team Devon’ economic recovery work 

 updates on the Heart of the South West Industrial Strategy  

 various updates on Brexit  

 information regarding the National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates)  

 'Shaping the Future - Petroc 2020 - 2025' consultation  

 an informative presentation from the ‘Crediton Heart Project’ trustees; and 

 updates regarding the proposed hydroelectric scheme at Tiverton Town Weir 

including a presentation from Phil Mayer from Hydromatch 

As referred to above the Policy Development Group has received regular updates 
throughout the year with regard to COVID 19 economic response and recovery work. 
Some key milestones and achievements relating to this work are summarised below: 
 
Business Grant Assistance 
 
At the time of writing nearly £40 million of business assistance have been issued 
including small business rate relief.  This work has been exceptionally well received 
by many Mid Devon Businesses and Government Ministers. 
  
 
 
 

Page 165



Community Response Work 
 
During the pandemic the Economic Development Team has facilitated the Mid 
Devon Shielding Hub for the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable and has been managing 
the Covid Financial Hardship Fund.  With support from staff from Leisure, Housing 
and Customer First the Community Support Hub has provided essential food 
supplies, practical support and advice to 585 vulnerable residents in need of help 
and delivered 236 food parcels. The Council has also been administering a financial 
hardship fund, in partnership with CHAT and Navigate charity, with funding from 
DCC and Government. The scheme continues to receive a large number of 
applications, with a total of 554 applications to the fund so far and has distributed 
over £48k in emergency relief, as well as providing signposting to other emergency 
support and money and debt advice. 
 
Team Devon Recovery Work 
 
In response to the need for economic recovery following the impacts of the pandemic 
organisations have been working together under the umbrella of ‘Team Devon’ to 
plan for recovery and lobby for greater investment into the County.  This public and 
private sector partnership has drawn in expertise from business, education, skills 
and public sector organisations.  Mid Devon Officers have been active partners in 
the process.   
In July 2020 the ‘Team Devon’ partnership launched its Devon COVID 19 Economy 
and Business Recovery Prospectus.  This document set out Devon’s shared vision 
for economic recovery over the next two years.  The plan provides a single economic 
programme for the County to respond to the crisis and build the Devon economy 
back stronger and more resilient. Work has continued during the year in refining 
projects for recovery focusing upon four core areas: Our Businesses, Our Places, 
Our People and Our Opportunities.  
  
Exeter and the Heart of Devon Partnership 
 
Officers from the District Council have continued to work with East Devon, Exeter 
and Teignbridge Councils.  Much of this work is increasingly coming under the wider 
‘Team Devon’ recovery work referred to above. Further updates will be given by 
Officers throughout the coming months. 
 
Reopening our High Streets Safely 
 
Work has been undertaken during the last year to minimise and mitigate the risk of 
the spread of COVID 19 in our High Streets.  This has involved putting in place 
measures to establish a safe trading environment for businesses and customers, 
particularly in high streets.  Interventions have included development of an action 
plan, communications/public information, business facing awareness raising 
activities and temporary public realm changes to ensure that reopening of local 
economies can be managed successfully and safely.  Liaison has taken place with 
the Town Councils, local businesses, schools, Devon County Council and other 
partners to review the risk assessments and modify proposals throughout the year.  
Business facing activities have included informal liaison, business survey work, 
webinars run in conjunction with Tiverton Town Council regarding the safe reopening 

Page 166



of the hospitality industry and provision of useful information on our website (e.g. risk 
assessment advice, posters etc).  There have also been a number of press, social 
media and radio campaigns launched throughout the year promoting our towns and 
reminding visitors of important safety messages.   
  
‘Love Your Town Centre’ Scheme 
 
During the last year the District Council has launched two rounds of its pilot Love 
Your Town Centre initiative.  This project is a funding initiative to support ideas from 
local businesses, town councils or organisations with projects that will help revive 
high streets and help them to flourish in the future.  The first round was focussed on 
proposals generated by the Town Councils.  The second was drawn from wider bids 
from the community.  This scheme has been warmly received and it is hoped that, 
subject to the availability of funding, that a similar scheme will run next year.  
 
Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan 
 
A six week Stage 1 public consultation took place during February – April 2020 to 
receive comments on the baseline analysis findings and the emerging vision and 
objectives for the masterplan.  The draft Masterplan is scheduled to be considered 
by Cabinet at its April 2021 meeting to seek approval for Stage 2 public consultation. 
 
Tiverton Town Centre Masterplan 
 
Over the last year the emerging masterplan work has been revisited to take account 
of the Covid-19 pandemic and to seek the opportunity to embed tackling climate 
change into town centre regeneration.  This work is also being reviewed to consider 
national changes in planning policy and planning use classes.  During the last few 
months key areas for intervention have been the subject of presentations and 
informal discussions with Cabinet, Ward Members, the Tiverton Town Council and 
the Tiverton Town Centre Partnership.   
 
Re-opening of Cullompton Railway Station 
 
During the last year the project to re-open railway stations at Cullompton and 
Wellington has made substantial progress.  Mid Devon District and Somerset West 
and Taunton Councils were successful in securing government funding through the 
‘Restoring Your Railways - Idea’s Fund’ for development of a Strategic Outline 
Business Case to reopen stations at Cullompton and Wellington.  An important 
milestone was recently achieved as the Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) 
was submitted to the Department for Transport.  This is a crucial step forward in the 
process of implementing improvements to the rail network.  This milestone is 
underpinned by months of hard work, research and partnership building to develop 
the case for the proposed new train stations.  Officers understand that our project is 
one of the furthest advanced of these ‘ideas fund’ schemes nationally and consider 
that the prospects of the schemes early delivery is looking increasingly likely, subject 
to the availability of future funding opportunities.   
 
 
 

Page 167



 
Cullompton Relief Road 
 
The Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road is an important element to the 
infrastructure package of measures to unlock growth and improve economic 
prosperity of the town; in additional to providing air quality and amenity benefits to 
the town centre.  This year saw the scheme gain planning permission and move 
closer towards its implementation. 
 
Visit Mid Devon Website 
 
When the Visit Mid Devon Website was launched a year ago we could not have 
envisaged that a year later the industry would be in the position it is in now. Despite 
these very difficult times and previously never experienced decline in the hospitality 
and visitor economy the website has proved a success and a platform for future 
economic recovery.  It provides an excellent vehicle to promote the district and offers 
a great resource for local businesses to promote themselves.  The Website was 
developed in partnership with Tiverton Museum, the Tourist Information Service, 
Petroc and Reach Plc.  The initiative was one of the last projects in the County to 
receive European funding.  The Website can be found via the following link: 
 
https://www.visitmiddevon.co.uk/ 
 
Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone  
 
The Cullompton High Street Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) Project Officer was 
appointed in September 2020.  Since his appointment progress has been achieved 
in the following areas: 
 

 Fore Street Grants Scheme is currently in the process of being launched.    

 Higher Bullring Public Realm Enhancement scheme development work is 

progressing well in partnership with Devon County Council and Historic 

England. 

 Establishment of a cultural consortium representing the current Cullompton 

cultural offer. 

 Cultural programme bid submitted to Historic England in December 2020.  

 Cullompton Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan (CAMP) and 

Shopfront Design Guide drafted. 

 A dedicated webpage on the Mid Devon website has been set up, to act as 

the main repository for all information related to the HAZ project. 

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning/cullompton-high-street-

heritage-action-zone/  

 A Community Engagement Plan has been prepared. 

The Tiverton Pannier Market 
 
The Tiverton Pannier Market has remained open Tuesday, Thursday, Friday and 
Saturday; but at times of national restrictions has been limited to essential food items 

Page 168

https://www.visitmiddevon.co.uk/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning/cullompton-high-street-heritage-action-zone/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning/cullompton-high-street-heritage-action-zone/


only.  The Pannier Market has played a significant part in reacting to the pandemic at 
a time when many markets outside of the district have not managed to stay open.  
Throughout the various lockdowns the market has provided a useful base for fruit 
and vegetable deliveries.   
 
 
Cllr John Downes 
Chairman of the Economy Policy Development Group 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Annual Report 2020-21 
 
The first meeting of the year took place on 28 July, at which Cllr Colin Slade was 
elected Chairman. Shortly after, Cllr Slade was appointed Cabinet Member for the 
Environment, and as such I was duly elected Chairman of the Community Policy 
Development Group (PDG) in the September meeting.  
 
Throughout the year the Group has heard regular updates from the Leisure 
Manager, outlining the health and wellbeing activities in the three leisure facilities at 
Exe Valley, Culm Valley and Lords Meadow. This year we discussed the impact that 
Covid 19 was having on the Leisure Centres, and discussed processes for re-
opening when they could. We also received a detailed presentation on the electronic 
booking system used and a demonstration of the mobile app. Members discussed 
whether the current system was user friendly, and that there are funds held in the 
capital programme for 2022/2023 for an improvement to the system. Members 
agreed they would support a case to increase funding for an enhanced IT offering, 
and at our January meeting we discussed the possibility of setting up a Working 
Group to help establish a procurement exercise when the time is right. 
 
In October I chaired a joint special meeting of the Community, Environment and 
Homes PDG’s to review the Operations Directive Enforcement Policy. The policy is a 
key enforcement policy which covers all the enforcement functions of the Council, 
except planning enforcement. The policy was brought back to the Groups for 
adoption due to a number of legislative changes and a change to the reporting 
framework of the Council. Discussion in the special PDG took place on how 
legislation changes were reviewed; how recycling enforcement impacted on 
recycling rates; and other issues, including stray dogs. The joint meeting then 
recommend that the Cabinet adopt the revised Enforcement Policy subject to some 
minor amendments.   
  
We had two Working Groups during this year. The first reviewed the processes and 
level of funding to individual grant recipients for 2021-2024. Throughout discussions, 
members recognised the effect of the pandemic on the stability and finances of our 
strategic partners in the voluntary and community sector. In recognition that this has 
been an extraordinary year, the group recommended that the current funding 
settlement should run for a 12 month period from 2021-2022, after which a further 
review would commence, and that the scheme should be closed to new applicants 
for 2021-2022. The Group presented its final recommendations to the Community 
PDG in January 2021, at which we heard a representation from the Museum of Mid 
Devon Life. Consideration was given to the saving from Age UK Mid Devon which 
the Group agreed should be offered as a saving to protect grants for other partners. 
We therefore recommended that: a one year grant award be made for 2021-2022, 
with a review in the autumn of 2021; grants be made on a one year settlement basis, 
to be reviewed annually each autumn; that the £9,650 previously offered to Age UK 
Mid Devon be identified as a saving; and that the grant payments for 2021–2022 to 
the Council’s other strategic partners should remain at the same levels as 2020-
2021. The Cabinet subsequently approved our recommendations. 
 
The second Working Group reviewed the MDDC Communications and Engagement 
Strategy, before it was brought back to the Committee for approval. The Group 

Page 171



discussed issues including: how the strategy was helping to reach hard to reach 
people; the use of local media; and the proposal for Councillor Champions. The 
Community Engagement Strategy and Action Plan was reviewed by the Working 
Group and recommended approval subject to a reference being added to the 
Strategy of the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations. The Group agreed that the 
issue of Communications and Engagement would be revisited towards the end of 
2020. 
 
An important part of the yearly activity is to review routine reports and receive regular 
financial updates, including performance and risk and the revenue and capital 
outturn figures. As ever, the Group received a number of regular standing items, 
including the annual review of the Corporate Health and Safety Policy, and the 
Single Equalities Policy and Equality Objectives. We also considered: the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) priorities and the planned activities of the 
partnership for the coming year; the Devon County Council Joint Safeguarding policy 
and MDDC Guidance and Procedures; and the revised Contaminated Land Cost 
Recovery Policy.  
 
The PDG also received the annual CCTV update, and reviewed the use of CCTV 
policy. During the annual update the Group heard how the CCTV system will be 
upgraded in the refurbished multi storey car park, and the group requested that 
consideration be given to installing CCTV cameras in the stairwells. In November the 
group reviewed the CCTV Code of Practice, the CCTV Policy and the Action Plan 
and discussed the ongoing financial pressures, and the ongoing capital bid. The 
PDG then recommended to the Cabinet that the CCTV Code of Practice, Policy and 
Action Plan be adopted. 
 

This has been my first year as Chair of the Community PDG and I have found it both 
challenging and rewarding. As we look forward, I hope the Group will consider an 
ambitious programme for the following year that continues to promote the health, 
safety and wellbeing of people within Mid Devon. I am keen that the Group now 
considers reviewing issues including community engagement, air quality and 
community public health. I would like to thank the Members and Officers for their 
contributions, as well as our Clerk, Carole Oliphant, for keeping us on track. 
 
Cllr Christina Daw 
 
 
  
  
 

Page 172


	Agenda
	3 Protocol for Remote Meetings
	6 Minutes
	Minutes , 17/03/2021 Council

	10 Reports
	Minutes , 08/04/2021 Cabinet
	REVISED (March 21 -  Schedule of meetings 2021-22 - SG
	Minutes , 01/03/2021 Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes , 15/03/2021 Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes , 23/03/2021 Audit Committee
	Minutes , 09/03/2021 Environment Policy Development Group
	Minutes , 13/04/2021 Environment Policy Development Group
	Minutes , 16/03/2021 Homes Policy Development Group
	Minutes , 11/03/2021 Economy Policy Development Group
	Minutes , 23/03/2021 Community Policy Development Group
	Minutes , 10/03/2021 Planning Committee
	Minutes , 31/03/2021 Planning Committee
	Minutes , 14/04/2021 Planning Committee

	13 Annual Reports of Audit Committee, Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Development Groups
	Scrutiny - Annual Report
	Environment PDG Annual Report 2020-21 final, 09/03/2021 Environment Policy Development Group
	Homes Policy Development Group - Chairs report, 16/03/2021 Homes Policy Development Group
	Chairman's Annual Report 2020-2021, 11/03/2021 Economy Policy Development Group
	Community Annual Report 2020, 23/03/2021 Community Policy Development Group


